#### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Monica D. Reece

Date

#### Janus: A New Use of Jak Inhibitors for the Decay of HIV Reservoir

By

Monica D. Reece

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

> Christina Gavegnano, PhD Advisor

Baek Kim, PhD Committee Member Vincent C. Marconi, MD Committee Member

Cassandra L. Quave, PhD Committee Member William M. Shafer, PhD Committee Member

William Tyor, MD Committee Member

Accepted:

Kimberly Jacob Arriola, Ph.D., MPH

Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

#### Janus: A New Use of Jak Inhibitors for the Decay of HIV Reservoir

By

## Monica D. Reece

Molecular Biology B.S., Western Carolina University, 2019

Biomedical Chemistry B.S., Western Carolina University, 2019

Advisor:

Christina Gavegnano, PhD

## An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science

Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

2024

#### Abstract

#### Janus: A New Use of Jak Inhibitors for the Decay of HIV Reservoir

By Monica D. Reece

Antiretrovirals do not target the HIV-1 reservoir in people with HIV (PWH), a major barrier to cure. Infected myeloid and CD4+ T cells exacerbate inflammation despite suppressed viremia. Chronic inflammation drives reservoir maintenance and reactivation in T cells and myeloid derived viral sanctuaries and contributes to non-AIDS comorbidities. We first evaluated the HIV-1 DNA reservoir in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), as a surrogate for the central nervous system (CNS) reservoir, in PWH and associations to cognitive dysfunction. We observed CNS HIV correlated with worse executive function. Next, we evaluated ruxolitinib's impact on the peripheral HIV-1 reservoir and immunomodulatory events driving persistence in PWH enrolled in ACTG A5336, an openlabel randomized Phase 2a multi-site clinical trial. Participants (18-75 years old, on antiretroviral therapy (ART)  $\geq 2$  years, virologically suppressed, CD4<sup>+</sup> count >350 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>, and without significant comorbidities except HIV or hypertension) were randomized to Jak inhibitor ruxolitinib plus ART (n=40) or ART alone (n=20) from week 0-5 and observed through week 12. Cellular markers, integrated DNA, and IPDA were measured peripherally at weeks 0, 5, and 12. Reservoir markers decayed in high baseline reservoir (HBR) participants on ruxolitinib by week 12 versus controls (p=0.0471). Cellular markers altered by ruxolitinib and associated with decay included pSTAT5+, pSTAT3+, BCL-2+KI67+, CD127+, and CD25+. We predict 99.99% decay in 2.83 years among HBR. These data are foundational for future human trials with Jak 1/2 inhibitors towards HIV-1 elimination. Clinical Trials Registration NCT02475655. Finally, we evaluated baricitinib, an FDA approved, 2<sup>nd</sup> generation Jak 1/2 inhibitor with a favorable safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetic profile and once daily dosing. Preliminary in vitro data revealed that baricitinib did not impact HIV-GFP DNA or mRNA levels, significantly reduced IL-15-mediated pSTAT5 production, reduced active infection (p24+gp120+) in CD4+ T cells, and significantly reduced BCL-2 expression in both actively and latently (p24+gp120-) infected CD4+ T cells. These findings indicated that anti-viral effects of baricitinib are due to immunomodulation and that baricitinib would likely mirror the reservoir decay effect of ruxolitinib given a therapeutic duration > 5 weeks as evidenced by reduction of reservoir maintenance, reactivation, and reseeding factors.

#### Janus: A New Use of Jak Inhibitors for the Decay of HIV Reservoir

By

## Monica D. Reece

Molecular Biology B.S., Western Carolina University, 2019

Biomedical Chemistry B.S., Western Carolina University, 2019

Advisor:

Christina Gavegnano, PhD

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the

James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science

Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

2024

#### Acknowledgements

This work was possible with the support of many wonderful people. I'd first like to say thank you to my adviser, Dr. Christina Gavegnano, for her unwavering support and encouragement. When I couldn't see the forest for the trees, she was always the positive beacon that changed my perspective. Christina is a very openminded and refreshing person who you can talk about anything with. She gave me the space and encouragement to grow into an independent scientist and I will forever be grateful for her mentorship. Thank you for allowing me to help you build a strong lab that is making a real impact in people's lives.

Thank you to Dr. Cassandra Quave for always keeping me on track in my career planning and for networking advice, to Dr. William Tyor for sitting down with me and giving advice on neurology and medicine, to Dr. Baek Kim for introducing me to Christina and always encouraging me with a smile, to Dr. Vince Marconi for his careful thoughts on my work and willingness to help me understand medical and scientific concepts, and to Dr. Bill Shafer for giving me the ARTDTP fellowship opportunity and his advice on communicating the clinical translation of my work. I would also like to thank the MMG DGS, Dr. Shon McBride, who invested time and care to make sure I felt seen and supported as a student. These amazing faculty shaped my scientific outlook and ethic, and made me a stronger person and scientist.

I am thankful for the lighthearted and dedicated support of my lab mates. Emily Edwards and Sebastian Roa helped me shake off many experimental failures and gave me support when things were overwhelming. I am so proud of the many undergraduates I have mentored in the Gavegnano Lab and am thankful that we have all built an inclusive and welcoming environment together.

Thank you to my undergraduate advisors for giving me the opportunity to do science, to make mistakes, to ask my own questions, and for encouraging me to do my best. Dr. Channa De Silva gave me the space to critically think about my project and pursue collaborations to really make it my own. That was a world-changing opportunity for me that prepared me to take on a PhD. Dr. Maria Gainey opened up the world of virology to me and I've never looked back. I'd also like to thank Dr. Bill Kwochka, who accepted me into the summer research program that began this entire journey and who excitedly celebrated every success with me. Through their support, I was able to learn what kind of scientist I wanted to be.

Friends are imperative to surviving graduate school. I was especially lucky that my friends also happened to understand the specific stresses of graduate school, especially during a global pandemic. I am so thankful to have met Cheyenne Lee, Julianna Marotta, Natalie Alvarez, Meher Sethi, and Tzipi Freeman. These ladies saw me through the highs and lows and unconditionally supported me the entire time, with many tears and laughter. Cheyenne was the catalyst to my growth into a stronger and freer person. When my thesis work felt like the only thing in the world, she was the one to reminded me of the bigger picture and help me see things in context. I am a better person for knowing her. With such close bonds, I consider these ladies my family and I am forever grateful for their support.

Lastly, I'd like to thank my family for always fostering my curiosity and encouraging me to dream big and work hard. Coming from rural southern Appalachia, I did not meet anyone with a PhD or that had a research career until I attended college. I was the first woman in my lineage to graduate from high school and am the first and only one in my family to pursue a PhD or a career in science. They were always excited to learn along with me and keep me going. I have the highest gratitude to my mother Angela, my father Danny, my grandparents, and my grandmothers who have passed on. I would not have met this achievement if it weren't for your unconditional love and support, and I am blessed to have you. This is for you.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter I: Introduction	1
Overview	1
Targeting Macrophage Dysregulation for Viral Infections: Novel Targets for Immunomodulator	s3
Repurposing BCL-2 and Jak 1/2 Inhibitors: Cure and Treatment of HIV-1 and Other Viral Infe	c <b>tions</b> 35
Chapter II: The Identification of Intact HIV Proviral DNA from Human Cerebrospinal Fluid	67
Chapter III: Ruxolitinib-Mediated HIV-1 Reservoir Decay in A5336 Phase 2a Trial	92
Chapter IV: Effect of Baricitinib on HIV-1 Reservoir Maintenance In Vitro	141
Chapter V: Discussion	160
Appendices	178
Appendix I: <i>Ex Vivo</i> Differentiation of Resting CD4+ T Lymphocytes Enhances Detection of R Competent HIV-1 in Viral Outgrowth Assays	<b>eplication</b>
Appendix II: A Rationale and Approach to the Development of Specific Treatments for HIV A Neurocognitive Impairment	Associated
Appendix III: Honokiol Hexafluoro Confers Reversal of Neuropathological Markers of HIV I a Murine SCID Model	n <b>fection in</b> 180

# **Table of Figures**

Chapter I: Introduction

# Targeting Macrophage Dysregulation for Viral Infections: Novel Targets for Immunomodulators

FIGURE 1   Viral Activation of Jak Stat Pathway and Downstream Effects	6
FIGURE 2   Role of Neutrophils in Inflammatory Cascade	8
TABLE 1   Summary of pathogenic features of viral species, associated cytokine profile, and du	rug
targets discussed herein	11
TABLE 2   Current investigated and approved therapies for COVID-19	16

# Repurposing BCL-2 and Jak 1/2 Inhibitors: Cure and Treatment of HIV-1 and Other Viral Infections

FIGURE 1   Jak STAT Pathway Activation and Anti-Apoptotic Activity	. 39
FIGURE 2   Jak STAT-Mediated Cell Survival, Induction of Senescence, and Impaired T Cell	
Function	.44
FIGURE 3   Role of p16 in Retinoblastoma-Mediated Senescence	.49
TABLE 1   Report of drug class, cellular target, clinical trial status (phase I, II, III, approved,	
terminated), approval in children, oral bioavailability, route of clearance, compound half-life and	d
dosing for Jak and BCL-2 inhibitors	.54

# Chapter II: The Identification of Intact HIV Proviral DNA from Human Cerebrospinal Fluid

Figure 1   Schematic Overview of Intact Proviral DNA Assay (IPDA)	73
Table S1   Primer and Probe Sequences for Intact Proviral DNA (IPDA) Assay	74
Table S2   Thermal Cycling Program for Droplet Digital Polymerase Chain Reaction (ddPCR)	
Reactions	74
Table S3   Primer and Probe Sequences for Human Ribonuclear P Protein Subunit p30 (RPP30)	)
Gene	75
Table 1   Demographic/Disease Characteristics of Participants	77
Table 2   Reservoir (HIV DNA) Measurements in Copies/ 10 <sup>6</sup> Cells	78
Figure 2   Detection and Proportion of Intact Provirus	79
Figure 3   Frequencies of Total, Defective, and Intact Provirus in the CSF and PBMC	81
Figure 4   Provirus in the CSF Correlates with Worse Executive Function	82
Figure 5   Trending Correlations Between Provirus and Worse Learning and Memory	86
Figure 6   Potential Route of CNS Reservoir Establishment	87

# Chapter III: Ruxolitinib-Mediated HIV-1 Reservoir Decay in A5336 Phase 2a Trial

Supplemental Figure 1   Changes in HIV-1 Reservoir Over Time	96
Figure 1   HIV-1 Reservoir Observed and Predicted Decay	98
Supplemental Figure 2   Alu PCR and IPDA Correlation	100
Supplemental Table 1   Calculated Absolute Change from Baseline (Week 0) in Reservoir and	
Cellular Markers	101
Supplemental Table 2   Cellular Markers Significantly Altered by Ruxolitinib from Baseline	103
Supplemental Table 3   Pairwise Comparisons of Markers Between Arms	107
Table 1   Ruxolitinib-Altered Markers over Control	109
Supplemental Figure 3   Ruxolitinib Reverses the Expression Phenotype of Cellular Biomarkers	
Compared to Control	111

Supplemental Table 4   Cellular Markers Associated with Reservoir Decay	111
Supplemental Figure 4   Cellular Marker Expression of Reservoir Decay is Opposite of Gro	<b>wth</b> .114
Table 2   Niche Ruxolitinib-Altered Markers Associated with Reservoir Decay	115
Supplemental Figure 5   Niche Cellular Marker Expression is Reversed with Ruxolitinib Co	mpared
to Control	117
Figure 3   Niche Marker Longitudinal Expression and Predictive Association with Decay	119
Supplemental Figure 6   Random Change by Control Group Stratification	
Figure 4   Trial Design Schematic	127
Supplemental Table 5   Patient Baseline Characteristics by Study Arm	128
Supplemental Table 6   Flow Cytometry Cellular Marker Panels	129
Supplemental Figure 7   Gating Scheme for Flow Cytometry	
Supplemental Table 7   Raw HIV-1 Reservoir and Cellular Biomarker Longitudinal Data	
Supplemental Figure 8   Range of Raw Reservoir Data	

# Chapter IV: Effect of Baricitinib on HIV-1 Reservoir Maintenance In Vitro

Figure 1   Jak-Mediated Inflammatory Cytokine Secretion Products	143
Figure 2   HIV-GFP Reporter Strain	146
Figure 3   HIV-GFP Indication of Antiviral Activity in Primary Human Cells	147
Figure 4   Baricitinib Effect on HIV-GFP DNA and mRNA	
Figure 5   Baricitinib Reduced IL-15 Mediated pSTAT5 Production	149
Figure 6   Baricitinib Reduced Active Viral Replication in CD4+ T Cells	
Figure 7   Baricitinib Reduced BCL-2 in Active and Latently Infected CD4+ T Cells	
Figure 8   Baricitinib Reduced IL-6 and TNF-α in CD4+ T Cells	154

# Chapter V: Discussion

Figure 1   Potential Route of HIV-Driven Neuroinflammation and Map of Cognitive Func	tion 162
Table 1   Current Relevant Clinical Trials for Advancement of HIV Reservoir Reduction	and Other
Applications for Jak Inhibitors in Viral Infections	170

#### **Chapter I: Introduction**

#### **Overview**

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) pandemic has been ongoing since 1981. UNAIDs estimated that 39 million people were living with HIV (PWH) as of 2022. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates a cumulative 40.4 million deaths since the beginning of the pandemic. Many advancements have been made in therapeutics for HIV, including antiretroviral therapy (ART) which can suppress active viral replication and reduce the disease burden of PWH while also limiting transmission potential. HIV is a retrovirus that encodes machinery such as integrase to insert viral DNA into the host cell genome, creating a provirus. HIV provirus, also referred to as the HIV reservoir, is a major barrier to cure efforts. Despite the success of ART, it does not target the HIV reservoir. To date, there are no approved therapies that reduce the HIV reservoir.

The Gavegnano Lab's main focus is drug repurposement. Utilizing Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved compounds for new indications reduces the timeline from discovery to therapeutic use because approved compouds have already been veted for safety and dosage. In terms of therapeutic discovery, repurposement is much more cost and labor efficient. The primary focus of this dissertation is to study the HIV-1 reservoir, which persists despite viral suppression by ART, and potential therapeutics. The HIV-1 reservoir is maintained by systemic, chronic inflammation, which is observed even in virally suppressed PWH. A primary driver of inflammation is the Jak STAT pathway, which we can target with the Jak inhibitor drug class.

This dissertation ecompases three separate yet related projects: 1) assessment of the HIV-1 reservoir in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) versus cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), as a surrogate for the central nervous system (CNS), in humans and identification of associations with neurocognition, 2) evaluating the ability of ruxolitinib, an FDA-approved, first-generation Jak 1/2 inhibitor, to decay the HIV-

2

1 reservoir in PWH on ART in phase 2a human trial A5336 (NCT02475655), and 3) *in vitro* assessment of baricitinib efficacy, FDA-approved, 2<sup>nd</sup> generation Jak Inhibitor, in primary human CD4+ T cells and monocyte-derived macrophages.

We found that intact HIV provirus was found in 7/11 PWH assessed, and that defective and total provirus was significantly higher in the CSF compared to PBMC. We observed that higher defective provirus in the CSF was significantly correlated with worse executive function, and that higher defective and total provirus in the CSF was trending towards significantly worse learning. Higher total provirus in PBMCs was trending towards significantly worse learning and memory, potentially highlighting a link between peripheral reservoir and cognition.

In the A5336 phase 2a trial, we observed a significant decay in total provirus in a subset of participants with a high baseline reservoir (HBR) from weeks 5-12, and found that cellular markers altered by ruxolitinib and associated with reservoir decay included pSTAT5+, pSTAT3+, BCL-2+KI67+, CD127+, and CD25+. We predict 99.99% decay of the peripheral reservoir in 2.83 years among HBR using the observed decay rate. We found that biomarker expression profiles were opposite between PWH who experienced reservoir growth vs decay and that ruxolitinib was able to reverse the expression profile observed in the control.

Preliminary *in vitro* data revealed that baricitinib did not impact HIV-GFP DNA or mRNA levels, significantly reduced IL-15-mediated pSTAT5 production, reduced active infection (p24+gp120+) in CD4+ T cells, and significantly reduced BCL-2 expression in both actively and latently (p24+gp120-) infected CD4+ T cells. These findings indicated that anti-viral effects of baricitinib are due to immunomodulation and that baricitinib would likely mirror the reservoir decay effect of ruxolitinib given a therapeutic duration  $\geq 5$  weeks as evidenced by reduction of reservoir maintenance, reactivation, and reseeding factors.

These data are foundational for future human trials with Jak 1/2 inhibitors towards HIV-1 elimination, and expand our understanding of the HIV-1 reservoir and inflammation in PWH.

# Targeting Macrophage Dysregulation for Viral Infections: Novel Targets for Immunomodulators

Monica D. Reece<sup>1</sup>, Ruby R. Taylor<sup>2</sup>, Colin Song<sup>3</sup>, and Christina Gavegnano<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

<sup>2</sup> Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States

<sup>3</sup> Department of Chemistry, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

\*Corresponding Author: 615 Michael St, Whitehead Biomedical Research Building, Room 135, Atlanta,

GA 30322 USA. Email: christina.gavegnano@emory.edu.

Published in Frontiers in Immunology

Vol 12 | No 768695

Accepted: October 13, 2021 | Published: November 1, 2021

DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.768695

#### **Author Contributions**

CG and RT conceptualized the review topic. MR performed the literature review, writing, and figure design. CS contributed to figure design. All authors revised and approved the submitted manuscript.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

CG is the co-inventor of the internationally issued patent on Jak inhibitors for the treatment or prevention of HIV-1 and other viral infections; CG and Emory University receives royalties from Eli Lilly and Company for the sales of baricitinib for COVID-19. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Abstract

A major barrier to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) cure is the latent viral reservoir, which persists despite antiretroviral therapy (ART), including across the non-dividing myeloid reservoir which is found systemically in sanctuary sites across tissues and the central nervous system (CNS). Unlike activated CD4+ T cells that undergo rapid cell death during initial infection (due to rapid viral replication kinetics), viral replication kinetics are delayed in non-dividing myeloid cells, resulting in long-lived survival of infected macrophages and macrophage-like cells. Simultaneously, persistent inflammation in macrophages confers immune dysregulation that is a key driver of co-morbidities including cardiovascular disease (CVD) and neurological deficits in people living with HIV-1 (PLWH). Macrophage activation and dysregulation is also a key driver of disease progression across other viral infections including SARS-CoV-2, influenza, and chikungunya viruses, underscoring the interplay between macrophages and disease progression, pathogenesis, and comorbidity in the viral infection setting. This review discusses the role of macrophages in persistence and pathogenesis of HIV-1 and related comorbidities, SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses. A

special focus is given to novel immunomodulatory targets for key events driving myeloid cell dysregulation and reservoir maintenance across a diverse array of viral infections.

#### Introduction

In a regulated immune system, macrophages are phagocytic cells that target and break down foreign bodies and regulate lymphocyte activation and recruitment. M1 subtype macrophages are proinflammatory, differentiated through GM-CSF, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\alpha$  cytokines, while M2 subtype macrophages are antiinflammatory macrophages, differentiated through IL-4, IL-13, and IL-10 (1, 2). Macrophage dysregulation results in increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines leading to accumulation of M1 macrophages and activated immune cells and increased systemic inflammation. Macrophage dysregulation as a result of disease, communicable or otherwise, causes persistent inflammation that leads to comorbidity development. Macrophage dysregulation in viral pathogenesis is an exploitable space for drug development and should be focused on because it presents a broad target as a pathogenic feature shared by multiple viruses (Figure 1).



FIGURE 1 | Viral Activation of Jak Stat Pathway and Downstream Effects

Production of pro-inflammatory cytokines upon viral infection can activate the Jak STAT pathway resulting in the formation of a phosphorylated STAT (pSTAT) dimer that binds to the promoter region of proinflammatory and pro-survival genes. Upregulation of these genes result in macrophage activation and recruitment, and increased systemic inflammation which all contribute to the development of neurological deficits, chronic inflammation, immune exhaustion, and comorbidities such as HIV-1-associated neurocognitive disorder (HAND) and cardiovascular disease (CVD). Jak 1/2 selective inhibitors ruxolitinib and baricitinib, and Jak 3 selective inhibitor tofacitinib are FDA approved compounds that are candidates to be repurposed in the anti-viral space due to their efficacy in blocking the inflammatory Jak STAT cascade. Baricitinib has been approved (EUA) for the indication of hospitalized COVID-19 patients and tofacitinib has shown significant benefit in treatment of COVID-19 (3–5). Dimethyl fumarate and venetoclax, both FDA approved compounds, are candidates to be repurposed at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels. Dimethyl fumarate is an activator of Nrf2 which inhibits the promotor of proinflammatory genes during transcription. Venetoclax is a BCL-2 inhibitor that post-transcriptionally sequesters pro-survival protein BCL-2. Created with BioRender.com.

#### Macrophage Dysregulation in Viral Pathogenesis

Neutrophils interact with macrophages and other immune cell subsets at the beginning of the inflammatory cascade discussed here, often during the innate immune response (Figure 2). Neutrophils, myeloid leukocytes, are the first of the white blood cells to enter traumatized and diseased tissues where the pathogen is residing (6, 7). Neutrophils are constantly generated in the bone marrow and mature via granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) (6). G-CSF promotes neutrophil activation, differentiation, and migration through Jak STAT signaling involving STAT3 (8-10). Endothelium activation releases several pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-8) which results in neutrophil margination (7). Neutrophils are mediators of the acute inflammatory response (11). After microbial challenge, tissueresident macrophages produce cytokines (TNFa, CXCL1/2, IL-1a, and MCP-1) which recruit neutrophils to the site of infection. These neutrophils then produce azurocidin resulting in the upregulation of E-selectin and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression on the endothelium which promotes monocyte recruitment. Infiltrating neutrophils also secrete cytokines (IL-6, IL-12, and IFNg) that contribute to activation of pro-inflammatory macrophages and T helper cell differentiation through Jak STAT signaling (10, 12). GM-CSF production by proinflammatory macrophages elongates neutrophil lifespan and induces monocyte differentiation. Following inflammation resolution, pro-inflammatory macrophages bind to neutrophils via TNF, induce apoptosis, and clear the apoptotic neutrophils (6, 13). A study looking at neutrophils in systemic inflammation response syndrome (SIRS) in a murine model found that mild SIRS induced a pro-inflammatory phenotype (IL-12+CCL3+) while severe SIRS induced an anti-inflammatory phenotype (IL-10+CCL2+) (6, 14). G-CSF production (monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and bone marrow stromal cells) is regulated by IL-17A which is produced by T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and macrophages (6, 11, 15). Neutrophils produce CCL2 and CCL20 which are critical for recruitment of T helper cells, a major producer of IL-17A (10, 16). IL-17A production is regulated by IL-23, produced by tissue resident macrophages and dendritic cells (DC) (6). IL-17A is produced through STAT3 activation and recruits monocytes and neutrophils, as well as stimulates astrocytes to produce G-

CSF and CXCL1 in the CNS; this latter mechanism can promote astrogliosis and CNS inflammation, contributing to CNS immune dysfunction and eventual associated cognitive deficits (10, 11, 17). It is clear that neutrophil interaction with macrophages and other immune types in the beginning of the inflammatory cascade is critical and that Jak STAT signaling, and the blockade thereof, could have effects even earlier than the stage at which macrophage function becomes dysregulated.



#### FIGURE 2 | Role of Neutrophils in Inflammatory Cascade

Dendritic cells (DC) and tissue-resident macrophages secrete TNF- $\alpha$ , CXCL1/2, IL-1 $\alpha$ , and MCP-1 which recruit neutrophils. In turn, the neutrophils secrete CCL2 which recruits DC and macrophages, effecting a positive feedback loop. DC and macrophages also secrete IL-23 which stimulates T cells like Th17, natural killer (NK) cells, and macrophages to produce IL-17A via STAT3 signaling in the Jak STAT pathway. IL-17A both recruits monocytes and neutrophils and induces G-CSF production in multiple cells types (monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, bone marrow, stromal cells, and astrocytes). G-CSF promotes neutrophil migration to the site of injury or infection via STAT3-mediated expression of CXCR2. Infiltrating neutrophils secrete IL-6, IL-12, and IFN- $\gamma$ , which activate pro-inflammatory (M1) macrophages through Jak STAT signaling. Created with BioRender.com.

#### Human Immunodeficiency Virus

Human Immunodeficiency Virus 1 (HIV-1) is a persistent public health problem with an estimated 37.6 million people with HIV-1 (PWH) globally as of 2020 (18). The main barrier to HIV-1 cure is the viral reservoir which is comprised of transcriptionally limited/silent infected cells that are poorly affected by current antiretroviral therapy (ART) due to incomplete penetration across the blood-brain barrier (BBB)

and other tissues as well as differences in effective doses between cell types. ART has been shown to be ineffective in eradicating latently infected cells and blocking reservoir establishment, and there is no approved therapy that directly targets the reservoir (19, 20).

In recent years, the HIV-1 myeloid reservoir has become accepted as a principal reservoir that contributes to viral persistence at the hands of several studies that have shown that macrophages are directly infected, are long-lived, and are a productive source of replication competent virus. An early view of macrophage ontogeny was that macrophages are terminally differentiated and replenished via bone marrow derived monocytes, but this view was expanded by new evidence of long-lived tissue resident macrophages that were derived from yolk sac progenitors and fetal liver derived monocytes (21–24). This long-lived selfrenewing phenotype placed macrophages in a new light due to their potential as reservoir cells beyond their known contribution to potentially detrimental bystander effects that can indiscriminately damage tissues. When CD4+ T cells are depleted in vivo, viral replication is sustained by infected tissue resident macrophages, underscoring their importance as a viral reservoir (25, 26). Sterile alpha motif and HD domain containing protein 1 (SAMHD1) is a host factor dNTPase that exists in high levels in non-dividing cells such as macrophages and reduce dNTP availability. In HIV-1 infected macrophages, reduced dNTP availability during reverse transcription results in restricted viral replication leading to infected survivor cells that produce low levels of virus. In mitotically active cells, SAMHD1 exists at lower levels resulting in more available dNTPs and thus unrestricted viral replication leading to cell death (27-30). SAMHD1 is a major factor in maintenance of the myeloid reservoir and contributes to the long-lived phenotype of infected cells.

The myeloid HIV-1 reservoir exists in the periphery, tissues, and central nervous system (CNS). Macrophage migration into tissues facilitates spread of infection to the brain, gut, lung, lymph nodes, liver, semen, and urethra (25). HIV-1 can traverse the BBB and establish infection in the CNS which is a sanctuary site because of poor penetration of ART (25). Replication competent virus has been isolated from human urethral macrophages and lymphoid tissues in macaques (22, 25, 31–33). Tissue resident

macrophages were found to be a highly productive source of HIV-1 during opportunistic coinfection in lymph nodes (34).

HIV-1 infection and subsequent viremia and gut microbial translocation triggers acute inflammation. Resulting proinflammatory cytokines recruit macrophages and other innate immune cells, compounding macrophage activation and infection, crossing the line into macrophage dysregulation, and leading to immune exhaustion and persistent inflammation in the host (25).

#### Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2

Excessive myeloid cell and cytokine storm activation is associated with disease severity in coronavirus disease (COVID-19). Monocytes from infected individuals express angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), the receptor for SARS-CoV-2, which suggests that monocytes are infected. Monocyte infection results in immune activation, inflammatory response, and altered gene expression related to immune signaling. M1 macrophages accumulate in the lungs and secrete high levels of IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  (summarized in Table 1). Increased IL-6 expression is a hallmark of COVID-19 in association with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and respiratory failure (35).

Virus	Macrophage Pathogenesis		Cytokine Upregulation						Drug Targets and Investigated Therapies			
HIV	HAND, CVD	-	TNF-a, IL-1b, IL-6									
SARS-CoV-2	ARDS, ASCVD, DIC, lymphopenia, encephalopathy, stroke, CNS infection/demyelination, Guillain- Barre syndrome, acute fulminant cerebral edema	IL CX	IL-6, IL-1β, TNF-a, CCL2, CCL5, IL-8, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCCL1, TGF-β, ISG, ITAM, TRAM									
CHIKV	Joint pain		IL-12, IFN-a/β, IL-6, IFN-g, CCL2									
DENV	Hemorrhagic fever, shock syndrome	ΤN	TNF-a, IFN-a, IL-1β, IL-8, IL-12, MIP-1a, RANTES						Jak-STAT Pathway – Baricitinib, Purolitinih			
CMV	Microcephaly, mental/motor retardation, epilepsy, progressive vision and auditory deficits			Т	NF-a	, IL-	1β, II	2-6			Tofacitinib	
HSV	Encephalitis, meningitis, cerebral palsy, cognitive retardation	CXCL10, TNF-a, CCL5, IL-1β, IL-6						-6	BCL-2 Expression -Venetoclax			
ZIKV	Microcephalus, cerebral atrophy, intracranial calcifications, hydrocephalus, encephalitis		IL-6, TNF-a, MCP-1, IP-10, IL-8									
IAV	ARDS, pneumonia		CXCL10	RANTES	TNF-a	MIP-1a	CCL2	IL-6	IL-8	TGF-β3		
		H5N1	√	√	√	×	√	√	√	$\checkmark$		
		$\mathbf{N}_{2}$									Nrf2 Pathway –	
		[6H	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	×	×	×	Dimeinyi Fumufale	
		H7N9	×	×	$\checkmark$	×	×	√	√	×		
		HINI	√	√	√	√	×	×	√	√		

# TABLE 1 | Summary of pathogenic features of viral species, associated cytokine profile, and drug targets discussed herein

TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 are common pro-pathogenic, pro-inflammatory cytokines upregulated during infection. Upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines contribute heavily to viral pathogenesis and leads to development of co-morbidities in chronic infections.

There is a higher risk of severe COVID-19 in patients with CVD, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus (35). Macrophages from diabetics were found to hyperpolarize to a proinflammatory phenotype in *vitro* when exposed to LPS and IFN- $\gamma$  or TNF (36). M1 macrophage expression of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  drive to renin angiotensin system (RAS)-dependent hypertension through type 1 receptor engagement on macrophages. Angiotensin II (AngII) contributes to hemodynamic injury and monocyte recruitment to the heart, vasculature, and kidneys where differentiation into M1 macrophages occurs (37). In COVID-19, ACE2 receptor engagement by viral spike protein reduces AngII degradation by ACE2, compounding AngII effects on hypertension (38). Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) is driven by chronic inflammation and is highly associated M1 macrophage expression of IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ . This inflammation is aggravated by risk factors such as smoking, obesity, and chronic viral infection. Macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue releases TNF- $\alpha$  resulting in serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) which causes insulin resistance through impaired insulin signaling (39). M1 macrophages, the dominant macrophage subtype in ASCVD, stimulated with LPS demonstrate decreased ATP due to impaired oxidative phosphorylation, increased uptake of glucose, ROS production, inflammatory cytokine production, and lipid accumulation which accelerate disease progression in ASCVD. However, M2 macrophages are associated with atherosclerosis regression due to increased fatty acid oxidation and oxidative phosphorylation resulting in increased ATP (40).

Presence of FABP4+ alveolar macrophages and Ficolin1+ monocyte-derived macrophages (MDM)s in lungs of ARDS patients is associated with inflammation (35). FABP4+ macrophages are more dominant in milder disease whereas FCN1+ MDMs become the most dominant in ARDS patients. Lung macrophage populations are dysregulated as COVID-19 progresses in severity, leading to higher levels of macrophages and lower levels of T and natural killer cells in the lungs. This evidence combined with increased macrophage infiltration to lung in autopsy and a murine model indicates that monocyte recruitment to the lung fuels inflammation in severe COVID-19. FCN1+ macrophages have elevated expression of CCL2, CCL5, IL-8, CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCCL11 which are products of IFN stimulated genes and suggest that FCN1+ macrophages contribute to hyper-inflammation (41). These cytokines are

13

found to be upregulated in COVID-19 patients along with TGF- $\beta$  and ISG, ITAM, and TRAM involved in cytokine storm (42). Near abolishment of FABP4+ macrophages in sever COVID-19 also contributes to dysregulated lung function (41).

Autopsy samples revealed macrophages enriched in tissue repair genes which is associated with fibrosis and suggests that macrophages contribute to fibrotic complications observed in COVID-19 patients on mechanical ventilation. It was posited that presence of viral protein in macrophages may be due to uptake of infected cells, and ACE-2 expression was not identified on most macrophages examined. It was suggested that inflammation may be responsible for triggering ACE-2 expression on macrophages. Macrophages containing virus were found to express IL-6 which is associated with lymphopenia. CD68+ macrophages containing viral nucleoprotein were found in kidneys of infected patients and are associated with kidney tubular damage. Macrophage accumulation is linked to damage in the kidneys, lungs, heart, liver, and muscles (42).

In a study of 54 COVID-19 patients, 28 of which had severe infection, all severe patients displayed macrophage activation syndrome (MAS) or low human leukocyte antigen (HLA-DR) expression along with lymphopenia (43). Lymphopenia is a common symptom in COVID-19 leading to reduced regulatory T cells (Treg) which is associated with dysregulated innate and inflammatory immune responses (35).

Interestingly, more than 1 in 10 patients who have cleared SARS-CoV-2 infection still suffer from persistent complications. This phenomenon has been termed long COVID. Up to 87.4% of acute COVID-19 patients reported at least one symptom persisting after several months. Females (23%) are more likely to develop long COVID than males (19%), and the condition is most common in middle aged individuals between 35 and 49 years of age. In children aged 2 to 11 years, it has been reported that 9.8% develop long COVID. Speculation on the source of long COVID suggests a multisystem disorder, prolonged effects of viral fragments, or autoimmune disease, but the actual cause has not yet been determined (44).

Of the current approved and investigated therapies for COVID-19, there are a mix of virus-specific and immune dysregulation targets (Table 2). Therapies such as baricitinib and dimethyl fumarate have direct acting effects on inflammation through the Jak STAT pathway (Figure 1), while inflammation mediated through the Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway is targeted through downstream effects of therapies Tocilizumab (an IL-6 receptor inhibitor) and Dexamethasone (a MAPK phosphatase) (45, 46). Antibody-based therapy is a well utilized tool in the treatment of COVID-19. Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) infusion therapy via convalescent plasma has shown efficacy in reducing mortality and disease severity in COVID-19 patients (47–53). The IgG in this therapy is isolated from the sera of convalescent patients with COVID-19 and is composed mostly of IgG1 and IgG2 (54, 55). IVIG therapy has been reported to prevent condition deterioration, recover lymphocyte counts, and prevent the need for mechanical ventilation and supportive care (56). IVIG therapy was first used as a therapeutic tool by Francesco Cenci for measles and was reported as a widely used treatment for the Spanish Influenza A (H1N1) pandemic of 1918 (57). IVIG has been reported as a safe treatment for other diseases including: Guillain-Barre syndrome, thrombotic thrombocytopenia, Goodpasture syndrome, and myeloma (56). There have been no associated adverse events for IVIG therapy and a randomized controlled trial has been initiated to evaluate high-dose IVIG in the management of severe COVID-19 (NCT04261426) (47, 58). IVIG is an immunomodulator of inflammation dysregulation which works to suppress the hyperactive immune response (cytokine storm) elicited by COVID-19, and as such timing of treatment initiation is key (56, 59). One study found that early administration of IVIG (within 3 days of hospital admission) resulted in a significantly shorter hospital stay (median 7 days) while late administration (greater than 7 days post admission) resulted in a significantly longer hospital stay (median 33 days) (60). Administering IVIG within 48 hours of ICU admission reduced the need for mechanical ventilation and boosted the immune response in newly infected patients (58, 61, 62). Another study of 26 patients admitted 10 days post disease onset found that administration of IVIG (5-day course) at an average of 13.2 days post disease onset increased lymphocytes and decreased inflammatory cytokines while reducing the 28-day mortality (IVIG treatment 4%; control 28%) (63). IVIG therapy has a limited EUA for high-titer dosing only and is recommended for early disease course treatment (64). Nonetheless, use of convalescent plasma has not conferred widespread use, as variable results and data demonstrating ineffective results have been reported in additional trials (65). Further, use of commercially produced monoclonal antibodies (summarized in Table 1) provides an

efficacious modality to neutralize early infection in COVID-19 patients, and has become the standardized immunotherapy for first line treatment for mild COVID-19 therapies. Anti-spike protein monoclonal antibodies (Casirivimab, Imdevimab, Sotrovimab, Bamlanivimab, and Etesevimab) aim to block engagement of the ACE2 receptor and thus viral entry, while Remdesivir is a nucleoside analogue that targets viral production as a direct acting antiviral agent. The space for immunomodulatory therapies that target immune dysregulation and inflammation is clearly vital and should be further investigated in the context of viral infections.

COVID-19 Therapy	Original Indication	Mechanism of Action	Route of Administration	Disease State Approved For	Approval Status
Baricitinib	Rheumatoid arthritis	Jak 1/2 selective inhibitor	Oral*	Severe	EUA
Dexamethasone Sodium Phosphate	Endocrine, rheumatic, collagen, dermatologic, allergic, ophthalmic, gastrointestinal, respiratory, hematologic, neoplastic, edematous disorders/diseases	Adrenocortical steroid, immune modulator	IV, IM	Severe	FDA Temporary Policy for Compounding of Certain Drugs for Hospitalized Patients by Pharmacy Compounders not Registered as Outsourcing Facilities During the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency
Remdesivir	SARS-CoV-2	Nucleoside analogue, delayed chain termination of viral RNA	IV	Severe	FDA Approved
Tocilizumab	Rheumatoid arthritis, giant cell arteritis, systemic sclerosis-associated interstitial lung disease, polyarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis, cytokine release syndrome	Anti-IL-6 receptor mAb	IV	Severe	EUA
Dimethyl Fumurate	Multiple sclerosis	Nrf2 pathway activator	Oral	N/A	RECOVERY trial candidate
Casirivimab & Imdevimab	COVID-19	Anti-human IgG1 mAb, bind to non-overlapping epitopes of SARS-CoV-2 spike RBD, blocks binding to ACE2	IV, SI	Mild/Moderate	EUA
Sotrovimab	COVID-19	Anti-human IgG1 mAb, binds to conservative epitope of SARS-CoV-2 spike RBD, non-competitive with ACE2 binding	IV	Mild/Moderate	EUA
Bamlanivimab & Etesevimab	COVID-19	Anti-human IgG1 mAb, binds to different but overlapping epitopes of SARS-CoV-2 spike RBD, blocks attachment to ACE2	IV	Mild/Moderate	EUA
Convalescent Plasma	Measles	Confers passive immunity by infusing naturally produced antibodies against a pathogen	IV	Mild/Moderate	Limited EUA

 TABLE 2 | Current investigated and approved therapies for COVID-19

Therapies are currently under investigation, approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), or have an emergency use authorization (EUA) from the FDA. Administration routes include oral, intravenous (IV), intramuscular (IM), and subcutaneous injection (SI). \*Therapy can be alternatively administered when oral is not an option. N/A, not available.

#### Influenza Virus

Disease severity in influenza (IAV) is associated with increased proinflammatory cytokine production (66, 67). Strains differ in cytokine profiles (Table 1). Infection of MDMs and alteration of cytokine production is a driver of pathogenesis in IAV. H5N1 and H9N2 are highly pathogenic. H9N2 induces CXCL10, RANTES, TNF- $\alpha$ , MIP-1 $\alpha$ , and CCL2 expression (68). H5N1 induces TNF- $\alpha$ , CCL2, RANTES, CXCL10, IL-6, IL-8, and TGFb3 (68, 69). H7N9 induces heightened IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-8 expression (69). H1N1 induces elevated TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-8, TGF- $\beta$ 3, CXCL10, RANTES, and MIP-1 $\alpha$  expression (68, 69).

In *in vivo* IAV infection, an early increase in IFN- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 was observed in murine lungs. Nasal lavage samples from infected patients revealed heightened IFN- $\alpha$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-8, IL-6, MIP-1 $\alpha/\beta$ , and MCP-1 expression. Infected human monocytes and rat and murine macrophages produce IFN- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-6, MIP-1 $\alpha/\beta$ , and RANTES. Pro-inflammatory cytokine production during IAV infection peaks 2-3 days post-infection Massive bronchial infiltration of inflammatory cells, dominated by neutrophils, was observed in infected swine 24 hours post-infection. A decrease in viral titer is correlated with a decrease in neutrophil counts (70). Neutrophils cause tissue injury and have been targeted by anti-MIP-2 IgG therapy which decreased neutrophil counts to 37% of control in a murine model (71). Increased IFN- $\alpha$ , CCL7, and CD16-CD14+ monocytes are associated with disease severity in children while monocyte dysregulation also occurs in the elderly with decreased IFN type 1 signaling. Fatal pneumonia is triggered by increased IL-6 and ROS through stimulation of TLR-4 dependent alveolar macrophages by oxidized phospholipids (67). Curcumin has been investigated as a therapy because it inhibits the NF- $\kappa\beta$ pathway and has been shown to decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine production in IAV infection (66). Autopsy samples revealed increased TNF- $\alpha$  and COX2. In a murine model, combined antiviral and COX inhibitor therapy has been shown to decrease lung pathology, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and lymphopenia (72). COX2 expression is induced by IL-1 $\beta$  which opens up a broader upstream target. However, COX inhibitors have been shown to over-suppress the inflammatory response to the host's detriment (73).

#### Chikungunya Virus

Both Chikungunya Virus (CHIKV) and Ross River Virus (RRV), alphaviruses, infect macrophages and their viral RNA and proteins have been observed in macrophages 18months post-infection (74). Macrophages have been identified as the main reservoir in late stage CHIKV infection (75). Residual viral RNA and proteins may contribute to apoptosis, fibrosis, tissue injury, and inflammation. IL-12 is upregulated in CHIKV infection at time of infection and remains elevated in chronic infection. IL-12 promotes natural killer cell and macrophage activation. Inflammation results in joint pain and arthritis-like pathology (74). In a cynomolgus macaque model, CHIKV was found to target lymphoid tissues, muscles, joints, the liver, and the CNS during acute infection and persist in lymphoid tissues, joints, muscles, and the liver in late-stage infection. In nonhuman primates, major macrophage infiltration was observed in the spleen, liver, and lymph nodes while minor infiltration occurred in joints and muscles. Flow cytometry analysis revealed that 2/3 of CSF macrophages were activated in CHIKV infection. Within 12 days of infection, cytokine expression (Table 1) progressed from continuous macrophage activation (IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ , CCL2, IFN- $\gamma$ ), to pro-inflammatory (IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ , IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ ), and finally to infiltration (CCL2). Peak viremia and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression were found to correlate with reduction in CD14+ cells (75). Dengue Virus (DENV) primary targets Kupffer cells and pulmonary macrophages while infected blood monocytes may disseminate DENV to tissues (76, 77). Macrophages and monocytes infected *in vitro* secreted TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, IL-12, MIP-1 $\alpha$ , and RANTES (Table 1) (77). In post-mortem samples from 2 infants with primary DENV infection, it was found that DENV antigen was localized to Kupffer cells and splenic, thymic, and pulmonary macrophages. Another autopsy sourced study revealed DENV to be consistently associated with mononuclear phagocytes. Production of monokines or lymphokines resulting from T cell and infected macrophage interactions has been proposed as a source for rash, shock, and hemorrhage in DENV infection. Dengue hemorrhagic fever (DHF)/Dengue shock syndrome (DSS) is associated with DENV antibody being acquired pre-infection (76).

#### Infantile Effects of Cytomegalovirus, Herpes Simplex Virus, and Zika Virus

*In vivo* murine microglia with a pro-inflammatory phenotype had elevated IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  expression that correlated with increased toxicity to fetal neuronal progenitor cells (NPCs) (Table 1) (78). Hofbauer cells, a target of Zika Virus (ZIKV) have access to fetal blood vessels which has been proposed as a route of viral dissemination to the brain. The main target of ZIKV are NPCs in the brain. Decreased cortical neurons and ultimately a smaller cerebral cortex (microcephaly) result from NPC reduction (79). Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived microglia-like cells have the ability to propagate ZIKV *in vitro* which supports their role as a microglial reservoir in ZIKV. Several cytokines are upregulated during ZIKV infection (IFN- $\alpha$ , IL-6, MCP-1, IP-10, and IL-8) (Table 1), but flaviviruses have been shown to evade the innate immune response by blocking Jak STAT pathway mediated IFN production. Treatment with known Jak inhibitor ruxolitinib elucidated the role of Jak STAT in cell permissiveness to ZIKV infection and as a regulator of mature virion production (80–82). It is important to understand these data in the context of time of addition and that these are *in vitro* studies that cannot model the impact of Jak 1/2 inhibition on disease pathogenesis and spreading. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) can cross the placenta and infect the fetal brain. CMV

infection in the first two trimesters is severe due to interference with placental development. CMV targets microglia, brain macrophages (CAM), and NPCs. An increase in microglia and macrophages due to recruitment within the brain and migration from the meninges was observed in murine CMV infected brains. CMV infected microglia secrete TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 while infected fetal astrocytes secrete CCL2 to recruit microglia. Fetal astrocytes and neurons are infected by Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) but microglia do not support viral replication. Myeloid dysregulation is actually protective in HSV because infected microglia secrete CXCL10, TNF- $\alpha$ , CCL5, or IL-1 $\beta$ . CXCL10 reduces viral replication in neurons and elevated IL-6 protects against neuronal loss (78).

#### **Neurological Complications of Macrophage-Driven Pro-Viral Events**

#### Myeloid Driven Comorbidity in HIV-1

HIV-1-associated neurocognitive disorders (HAND) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) are two comorbidities that result from persistent basal inflammation associated with the HIV-1 reservoir and chronic immune activation despite ART (83). In cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) from virologically suppressed individuals, gene expression in the myeloid subset was found to overlap that of neurodegenerative disease-associated microglia (84). In another study of 69 virologically suppressed individuals where ART was started during chronic infection, 33 had detectable HIV-1 DNA in the CSF. This supports that the CNS is a site of viral persistence despite ART suppression. The same study also found a significant association between neurocognitive dysfunction and detectable CSF associated HIV-1 DNA (85). In infants, HIV-1 disease progression is significantly faster compared to adults. Before ART was common practice, half of infantile infections resulted in progressive HIV-1 encephalopathy, targeting microglia, leading to microcephaly and developmental delays. Chronic neurological impairment is still observed under ART. Infected microglia release proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species (ROS) that contribute to neurotoxicity and neural injury (78).

Presence of infected and activated mononuclear phagocytes has been consistently linked to neuronal injury. Mononuclear phagocytes produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and neurotoxic products such as TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, nitric oxide (NO), and glutamate among others (Table 1). Cathepsin B secretion from MDMs is elevated in response to HIV-1 infection. HIV-1 infected macrophage secreted Cathepsin B is associated with neuronal apoptosis (86). Microglia are the main target of HIV-1 infection in the brain. Infected microglia upregulate glutaminase C, an enzyme responsible for generating glutamate in the CNS, which has been confirmed in post-mortem tissues. HIV-1 infected macrophages have also been suggested to increase glutamate levels through upregulation of glutaminase (87, 88). Glutamate is neurotoxic in high concentration. Glutamate levels in the CSF have been directly correlated with severity of dementia and degree of brain atrophy (89). Glutaminase localizes to the inner mitochondrial membrane and catalyzes deamination of glutamine, thus producing glutamate. HIV-1 infected microglia mediate neurotoxicity through the N-methyl- D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, for which glutamate engagement has been identified as a critical component of HAND excitotoxicity (89).

#### Myeloid Driven Complications in COVID-19

About 36% of acute COVID-19 patients develop neurological symptoms regardless of pre-existing neurological disorders. Inflammation-induced dissemination intravascular coagulation (DIC) is a potential outcome of COVID-19 and can cause cerebrovascular ischemia leading to ischemic stroke. At time of discharge, one third of COVID-19 patients were found to have evidence of cognitive and motor impairment. Systemic inflammation is associated with cognitive decline and neurodegenerative disease leading to speculation in the literature that COVID-19 survivors may experience future neurodegeneration. ARDs, a common development in severe COVID-19, is also associated with cognitive decline and executive dysfunction (90). IL-6 is upregulated in patients with neurological symptoms in acute phase of inflammation (91). In a study of previously healthy children with multisystem inflammatory syndrome, 12% developed life-threatening conditions clinically associated with COVID-19 including severe

encephalopathy, stroke, CNS infection/demyelination, Guillain-Barre syndrome, and acute fulminant cerebral edema. Of 43 patients who developed severe COVID-19 neurologic involvement, 40% had accrued new neurological deficits at time of discharge while 26% died (92). In COVID-19 patients with neurologic involvement, 50% were found to be hospitalized compared to 19% of non-neurologic COVID-19 (91).

ApoE4 is associated with heightened risk for development of severe COVID-19. ApoE4 is a genetic risk factor for Alzheimer's disease and neuroinflammation. Neuronal extracellular vesicles (nEVs) have been found to increase inflammation and neurodegenerative proteins in COVID-19 patients. It is unknown if these proteins are transient. It has been suggested that transient neurodegenerative proteins would reflect ongoing neuroinflammation and elimination of toxic proteins for neurons, whereas long-term may indicate chronic neuroinflammation or developing neurodegeneration. nEVs promote neurogenesis, normal signaling in the CNS, and can remove damaged proteins but also spread toxic amyloid beta peptide (Ab) and tau, a microtubule associated protein, between cells (91). Ab accumulation in the brain has been proposed to be an early event in Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis (93). Tau is a main component in intracellular filamentous inclusions in tauopathies like Alzheimer's disease (94).

#### Effects of Pre- and Post-Natal Infections

Microcephalus cerebral atrophy, intracranial calcifications, hydrocephalus, and encephalitis are potential outcomes of ZIKV and CMV fetal infection while HSV and HIV-1 fetal infection can lead to encephalitis, meningitis, cerebral palsy, and cognitive retardation. CNS macrophages develop early on and activation of these macrophages and inflammation can negatively affect the developing fetal brain. CMV fetal infection has been linked to microcephaly, mental and motor retardation, epilepsy, and progressive vision and auditory deficits (78). Several cases of autism resulting from CMV infection have been documented (95, 96). Elevated pro-inflammatory cytokine levels from pre-natal infection in the mother can compromise placenta barrier integrity and induce heightened cytokine production in the fetus. IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  can interfere with neuronal network development. Elevated IL-8 or TNF- $\alpha$  in the mother has been correlated with schizophrenia in the fetus. HSV infection in the CNS can result in herpes simplex encephalitis (HSE) and aseptic meningitis and can lead to neurological abnormalities in more than 50% of patients despite treatment. Macrophage dysregulation in HSV infection mitigates neurological deficits and is therefore protective (78).

#### **Targeting Macrophage-Driven Pro-Viral Events**

#### **Pro-Viral Events**

GM-CSF drives macrophage differentiation via activation of the Jak STAT pathway via JAK2 autophosphorylation (97). MDMs are activated and recruited by activated natural killer and T cells via GM-CSF, TNF, and IFN- $\gamma$ . In COVID-19, accumulation of oxidized phospholipids in the lung activates MDMs through the TLR4-TRAF6-NF- $\kappa\beta$  pathway (42). Jak 1 (IL-2, IL-7, IL-15, IL-6, IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ ) and Jak 2 (IL-6, GM-CSF, IFN- $\gamma$ ) are activated by proinflammatory cytokines and in turn phosphorylate STAT 1, 3, and 5 which are then translocated into the nucleus where they bind to the promoter region of pro-inflammatory genes and promote transcription (98–101). Jak STAT activation in HIV-1 results in reduction of CD4+ cell counts, decreased IL-7R expression indicating elevated receptor engagement and ultimately increased homeostatic proliferation, and increased PD1 and CD38 expression indicating immune activation (99).

A downstream effect of Jak STAT activation is BCL-2 expression. BCL-2 is a pro-survival marker that contributes to the longevity of the HIV-1 reservoir. The reservoir is a major source of low-level inflammation despite ART. BCL-2 is upregulated in HIV-1 infection due to an increase in phosphorylated STAT5 that promotes transcription of the BCL-2 gene. Within the BCL-2 protein family, there are prosurvival (BCL-2, Mcl-1, BCL-XL) and pro-apoptotic (BAK, BIM, BAD, BAX) proteins. Pro-survival proteins sequester host BH3 which binds to pro-apoptotic proteins under normal conditions, oligomerize in the mitochondrial outer membrane resulting in permeabilization and release of cell death factors including cytochrome C. Cytochrome C activates caspase-9 to initiate a caspase cascade resulting in apoptosis (102, 103). The nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2) pathway is involved in cellular response to oxidative stress [Tecfidera package insert] (104). Nrf2 has anti-inflammatory function that works through inhibition of RNA polymerase II recruitment onto pro-inflammatory genes during transcription. This has been directly demonstrated with IL-6 in a murine model (104, 105).

Macrophage dysregulation in the context of heightened inflammation and factors contributing to reservoir establishment and maintenance should be further explored in HIV-1 and other viral infections.

#### Immunomodulators

Immunomodulators discussed here particularly target points within the inflammatory cascade leading to macrophage dysregulation, key to pathogenicity of viral diseases discussed herein.

Jak inhibitors have been previously explored in the space of inflammatory disease and have been applied to viral infections in the cases of HIV-1 and COVID-19 in recent years (3, 106). BCL-2 inhibitors were originally developed as an anti-cancer therapy and have recently been evaluated in the context of HIV-1 (107). Using Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved compounds can potentially reduce the time of clinical translation due to a wealth of preliminary safety and efficacy profiling.

Tofacitinib is a Jak 3 selective inhibitor that is FDA approved for the indication of rheumatoid arthritis, however its utility in the space of HIV-1 in humans is diminished due to potential for Jak 3 mediated lymphopenia [Xeljanz package insert]. Ruxolitinib, a first-generation Jak 1/2 selective inhibitor, has been evaluated *in vitro*, *ex vivo* and in humans for the indication of HIV-1 and has demonstrated a novel mechanism to block reservoir reseeding and maintenance (99, 108–110). The A5336 ACTG sponsored Phase 2a study demonstrated that ruxolitinib is safe and well tolerated in virally suppressed people living with HIV-1 and conferred a significant reduction in key markers of HIV-1 persistence including HLA-DR/CD38, sCD14, and reservoir lifespan marker Bcl-2. Baricitinib is a second generation Jak 1/2 inhibitor (FDA approved for rheumatoid arthritis and EUA for COVID-19) with an improved safety and efficacy profile versus ruxolitinib, including once per day (qd) dosing, renal clearance that mitigates many drug-drug interactions with hepatically cleared agents, and a markedly improved safety profile including FDA

approval for chronic long-term use and approval in children as young as two years of age [Olumiant package insert]. Baricitinib was first evaluated in the viral infection space for HIV-1 and demonstrated a reversal in HIV-1 associated cognitive deficits along with a reversal of macrophage and microglial activation and key markers of CNS persistence in a murine model of HIV-1 in the CNS (111). Baricitinib was also recently evaluated under compassionate use for the indication of COVID-19 (106), and later found to reduce macrophage activation in a non-human primate model of SARS CoV-2 infection (112). Baricitinib later demonstrated a significant mortality benefit in humans in the NIH sponsored ACTT-2 trial (3), and the Lilly sponsored COVBARRIER trial (Lancet RM, in press), which collectively conferred EUA approvals for baricitinib, and most recently as a monotherapy designation. To date, the class of Jak inhibitors, first crossed over to viral infections in the space of HIV-1, and now COVID-19, demonstrate a promising new class of agents; baricitinib in particular due to its safety and efficacy in humans in the COVID-19 space, coupled with its anti-HIV-1 properties, provides a unique opportunity for additional evaluation for HIV-1 cure studies, and possibly other viral infections with myeloid immune dysregulation.

Other agents have been explored within the repurposed space, which may impact myeloid immune dysregulation or, in the case of HIV-1, confer anti-HIV-1 effects that may down-regulate HIV-1 induced proliferation and expression (77). Venetoclax is currently the only FDA-approved BCL-2 inhibitor and is indicated for acute myeloid leukemia, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and small lymphocytic leukemia [Venclexta package insert] (113–115). Additional studies are needed with this class of agents to better understand if antiviral properties observed *in vitro* can crosstalk to relevant, safe, human studies for HIV-1 and other viral infections. Dimethyl fumarate is FDA-approved for relapsing multiple sclerosis and has been shown to activate the Nrf2 pathway *in vitro* and *in vivo* [Tecfidera package insert]. Nrf2 inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, disrupting the inflammatory cascade that exacerbates macrophage dysregulation (105). Dimethyl fumarate induces an antioxidant response and has been shown to suppress HIV-1 replication and macrophage-mediated neurotoxicity through attenuation of NF- $\kappa\beta$  and monocyte recruitment to the CNS (116). Dimethyl fumarate has no black box warning and bid oral dosing of 120 mg for 7 days followed by 240 mg thereafter. The half-life of dimethyl fumarate is 1 hours and drug elimination

is primarily through exhalation of carbon dioxide (CO2) with low level renal (16%) and fecal (1%) excretion. Dimethyl fumarate has not been approved in children as the safety and efficacy in this group is unknown [Tecfidera package insert].

Collectively, the field of immunomodulation for viral infections is a relatively new horizon, only recently explored through repurposed efforts, most notably through the Jak 1/2 inhibitor baricitinib, which has been applied for both HIV-1 and COVID-19 successfully. Recent insights across this potential application will provide additional data and understanding about the sentinel interplay between the immune system, macrophages, and treatment or prevention of viral infections.

#### Conclusions

Macrophage dysregulation, particularly in the M1 subtype, leads to increased immune activation and inflammation that contributes to viral pathogenesis and development of comorbidities. Macrophage dysregulation is a pathogenic feature shared by multiple viruses and presents a broad target for antiviral treatments. In HIV-1, macrophages constitute a principal reservoir that is rarely affected by ART and which exists in tissues and the brain. Constant basal inflammation and immune activation lead to immune exhaustion and development of comorbidities such as CVD and HAND and can compound with other inflammatory diseases like diabetes. Macrophage contribution to viral pathogenesis extends beyond HIV-1 to SARS-CoV-2, Dengue, ZIKV, CMV, HSV, IAV, etc. A common feature of macrophage dysregulation is upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\alpha$ . Because this dysregulation transcends the BBB to reach the CNS, neurological symptoms are sometimes associated with macrophage dysregulation such as HAD and HAND in PWH and brain fog in people with long COVID. We must also consider this problem in the pre and postnatal scope. Macrophage dysregulation can cause physical and intellectual disabilities in infants. Downregulation of inflammation in viral infection should be further explored. Some immunomodulators such as ruxolitinib, baricitinib, venetoclax, and dimethyl fumarate have shown efficacy in this area. Furthermore, repurposing FDA approved compounds for this use represent an accelerated route from bench to clinic implementation. Inflammation in viral infections presents a broad target shared between multiple viruses. Focusing on this as a drug target, especially with repurposed immunomodulators, is an efficient and effective strategy in terms of cost, resources, availability, applicability, and impact on public health.

# Funding

Sources of funding for this work include the Dean's Startup Package from Emory University's School of Medicine and grant NIAID UM1AI164562-01 from the National Institutes of Health.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Emory University's Departments of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, and School of Medicine for funding and support of this work.
#### References

- 1. Italiani P, Boraschi D. From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation. Front Immunol (2014) 5:514. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00514
- Chuang Y, Hung ME, Cangelose BK, Leonard JN. Regulation of the IL-10-Driven Macrophage Phenotype Under Incoherent Stimuli. Innate Immun (2016) 22(8):647–57. doi: 10.1177/1753425916668243
- Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, Tomashek KM, Wolfe CR, Ghazaryan V, et al. Baricitinib Plus Remdesivir for Hospitalized Adults With Covid-19. N Engl J Med (2020) 384:795–807. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2031994
- Marconi VC, Ramanan AV, de Bono S, Kartman CE, Krishnan V, Liao R, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Baricitinib for the Treatment of Hospitalised Adults With COVID-19 (COV-BARRIER): A Randomised, Double-Blind, Parallel-Group, Placebo-Controlled Phase 3 Trial. Lancet Respir Med (2021). doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00331-3
- Guimaraes PO, Quirk D, Furtado RH, Maia LN, Saraiva JF, Antunes MO, et al. Tofacitinib in Patients Hospitalized With Covid-19 Pneumonia. N Engl J Med (2021) 385(5):406–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2101643
- 6. Liew PX, Kubes P. The Neutrophil's Role During Health and Disease. Physiol Rev (2019) 99(2):1223–48. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00012.2018
- Butterfield TA, Best TM, Merrick MA. The Dual Roles of Neutrophils and Macrophages in Inflammation: A Critical Balance Between Tissue Damage and Repair. J Athl Train (2006) 41(4):457–65.
- Nguyen-Jackson H, Panopoulos AD, Zhang H, Li HS, Watowich SS. STAT3 Controls the Neutrophil Migratory Response to CXCR2 Ligands by Direct Activation of G-CSF-Induced CXCR2 Expression and via Modulation of CXCR2 Signal Transduction. Blood (2010) 115(16):3354–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-240317
- Tian SS, Tapley P, Sincich C, Stein RB, Rosen J, Lamb P. Multiple Signaling Pathways Induced by Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor Involving Activation of JAKs, STAT5, and/or STAT3 are Required for Regulation of Three Distinct Classes of Immediate Early Genes. Blood (1996) 88 (12):4435–44. doi: 10.1182/blood.V88.12.4435.bloodjournal88124435
- Yan Z, Gibson SA, Buckley JA, Qin H, Benveniste EN. Role of the JAK/STAT Signaling Pathway in Regulation of Innate Immunity in Neuroinflammatory Diseases. Clin Immunol (2018) 189:4– 13. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.09.014
- Germolec DR, Shipkowski KA, Frawley RP, Evans E. Markers of Inflammation. Methods Mol Biol (2018) 1803:57–79. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8549-4\_5
- Liu Y, Holdbrooks AT, Meares GP, Buckley JA, Benveniste EN, Qin H. Preferential Recruitment of Neutrophils Into the Cerebellum and Brainstem Contributes to the Atypical Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis Phenotype. J Immunol (2015) 195(3):841–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403063
- Prame Kumar K, Nicholls AJ, Wong CHY. Partners in Crime: Neutrophils and Monocytes/Macrophages in Inflammation and Disease. Cell Tissue Res (2018) 371(3):551–65. doi: 10.1007/s00441-017-2753-2
- Tsuda Y, Takahashi H, Kobayashi M, Hanafusa T, Herndon DN, Suzuki F. Three Different Neutrophil Subsets Exhibited in Mice With Different Susceptibilities to Infection by Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus. Immunity (2004) 21(2):215–26. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2004.07.006
- Katakura F, Nishiya K, Wentzel AS, Hino E, Miyamae J, Okano M, et al. Paralogs of Common Carp Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor (G-CSF) Have Different Functions Regarding Development, Trafficking and Activation of Neutrophils. Front Immunol (2019) 10:255. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00255

- Pelletier M, Maggi L, Micheletti A, Lazzeri E, Tamassia N, Costantini C, et al. Evidence for a Cross-Talk Between Human Neutrophils and Th17 Cells. Blood (2010) 115(2):335–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-04-216085
- Kang Z, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Liu C, Giltiay N, Qin H, et al. Astrocyte-Restricted Ablation of Interleukin-17-Induced Act1-Mediated Signaling Ameliorates Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. Immunity (2010) 32(3):414–25. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.004
- 18. UNAIDS. Global HIV & AIDS Statistics Fact Sheet: UNAIDS (2021). Available at: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet.
- Ananworanich J, Dube K, ChomontN.How Does the Timing of Antiretroviral Therapy Initiation in Acute Infection Affect HIV Reservoirs? Curr Opin HIV AIDS (2015) 10(1):18–28. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000122
- 20. Brooks K, Jones BR, Dilernia DA, Wilkins DJ, Claiborne DT, McInally S, et al. HIV-1 Variants are Archived Throughout Infection and Persist in the Reservoir. PLoS Pathog (2020) 16(6):e1008378. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008378
- Wong ME, Jaworowski A, Hearps AC. The HIV Reservoir in Monocytes and Macrophages. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1435. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01435
- 22. Veenhuis RT, Abreu CM, Shirk EN, Gama L, Clements JE. HIV Replication and Latency in Monocytes and Macrophages. Semin Immunol (2021) 101472. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2021.101472
- Perdiguero EG, Geissmann F. The Development and Maintenance of Resident Macrophages. Nat Immunol (2016) 17(1):2–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.3341
- 24. Roszer T. Understanding the Biology of Self-Renewing Macrophages. Cells (2018) 7(8):103. doi: 10.3390/cells7080103
- Kruize Z, Kootstra NA. The Role of Macrophages in HIV-1 Persistence and Pathogenesis. Front Microbiol (2019) 10:2828. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2019.02828
- 26. Igarashi T, Brown CR, Endo Y, Buckler-White A, Plishka R, Bischofberger N, et al. Macrophage are the Principal Reservoir and Sustain High Virus Loads in Rhesus Macaques After the Depletion of CD4+ T Cells by a Highly Pathogenic Simian Immunodeficiency Virus/HIV Type 1 Chimera (SHIV): Implications for HIV-1 Infections of Humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2001) 98(2):658–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.021551798
- Coggins SA, Mahboubi B, Schinazi RF, Kim B. SAMHD1 Functions and Human Diseases. Viruses (2020) 12(4):382. doi: 10.3390/v12040382
- Gramberg T, Kahle T, Bloch N, Wittmann S, Mullers E, Daddacha W, et al. Restriction of Diverse Retroviruses by SAMHD1. Retrovirology (2013) 10:26. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-26
- 29. Lahouassa H, Daddacha W, Hofmann H, Ayinde D, Logue EC, Dragin L, et al. SAMHD1 Restricts the Replication of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 by Depleting the Intracellular Pool of Deoxynucleoside Triphosphates. Nat Immunol (2012) 13(3):223–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2236
- 30. Ryoo J, Choi J, Oh C, Kim S, Seo M, Kim SY, et al. The Ribonuclease Activity of SAMHD1 is Required for HIV-1 Restriction. Nat Med (2014) 20(8):936–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.3626
- 31. Ganor Y, Real F, Sennepin A, Dutertre CA, Prevedel L, Xu L, et al. HIV-1 Reservoirs in Urethral Macrophages of Patients Under Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. Nat Microbiol (2019) 4(4):633–44. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0335-z
- 32. Abreu CM, Veenhuis RT, Avalos CR, Graham S, Parrilla DR, Ferreira EA, et al. Myeloid and CD4 T Cells Comprise the Latent Reservoir inAntiretroviral Therapy-Suppressed SIVmac251-Infected Macaques. mBio (2019) 10(4):e01659-19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01659-19
- 33. Abreu CM, Veenhuis RT, Avalos CR, Graham S, Queen SE, Shirk EN, et al. Infectious Virus Persists in CD4(+) T Cells andMacrophages in Antiretroviral Therapy-Suppressed Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Macaques. J Virol (2019) 93(15):e00065-19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00065-19
- 34. Orenstein JM, Fox C, Wahl SM. Macrophages as a Source of HIV During Opportunistic Infections. Science (1997) 276(5320):1857–61. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5320.1857

- Mohamed Khosroshahi L, Rezaei N. Dysregulation of the Immune Response in Coronavirus Disease 2019. Cell Biol Int (2021) 45(4):702–7. doi: 10.1002/cbin.11517
- 36. Alrdahe S, Al Sadoun H, Torbica T, McKenzie EA, Bowling FL, Boulton AJM, et al. Dysregulation of Macrophage Development and Phenotype in Diabetic Human Macrophages can be Rescued by Hoxa3 Protein Transduction. PLoS One (2019) 14(10):e0223980. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0223980
- 37. Justin Rucker A, Crowley SD. The Role of Macrophages in Hypertension and its Complications. Pflugers Arch (2017) 469(3-4):419–30. doi: 10.1007/s00424-017-1950-x
- Kai H, Kai M. Interactions of Coronaviruses With ACE2, Angiotensin II, and RAS Inhibitors-Lessons From Available Evidence and Insights Into COVID-19. Hypertens Res (2020) 43(7):648– 54. doi: 10.1038/s41440-020-0455-8
- Alfaddagh A, Martin SS, Leucker TM, Michos ED, Blaha MJ, Lowenstein CJ, et al. Inflammation and Cardiovascular Disease: From Mechanisms to Therapeutics. Am J Prev Cardiol (2020) 4:100130. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpc.2020.100130
- 40. Bi Y, Chen J, Hu F, Liu J, Li M, Zhao L. M2 Macrophages as a Potential Target for Antiatherosclerosis Treatment. Neural Plast (2019) 2019:6724903. doi: 10.1155/2019/6724903
- Liao M, Liu Y, Yuan J, Wen Y, Xu G, Zhao J, et al. Single-Cell Landscape of Bronchoalveolar Immune Cells in Patients With COVID-19. Nat Med (2020) 26(6):842–4. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0901-9
- 42. Merad M, Martin JC. Author Correction: Pathological Inflammation in Patients With COVID-19: A Key Role for Monocytes and Macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(7):448. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0353-y
- Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Netea MG, Rovina N, Akinosoglou K, Antoniadou A, Antonakos N, et al. Complex Immune Dysregulation in COVID-19 Patients With Severe Respiratory Failure. Cell Host Microbe (2020) 27(6):992–1000.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.04.009
- 44. Marshall M. The Four Most Urgent Questions About Long COVID. Nature (2021) 594:168–70. doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-01511-z
- Scheller J, Chalaris A, Schmidt-Arras D, Rose-John S. The Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Properties of the Cytokine Interleukin-6. Biochim Biophys Acta (2011) 1813(5):878–88. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.034
- 46. Abraham SM, Lawrence T, Kleiman A, Warden P, Medghalchi M, Tuckermann J, et al. Antiinflammatory Effects of Dexamethasone are Partly Dependent on Induction of Dual Specificity Phosphatase 1. J Exp Med (2006) 203(8):1883–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20060336
- 47. Cao W, Liu X, Bai T, Fan H, Hong K, Song H, et al. High-Dose Intravenous Immunoglobulin as a Therapeutic Option for Deteriorating Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019. Open Forum Infect Dis (2020) 7(3):ofaa102. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofaa102
- Bobek I, Gopcsa L, Reti M, Beko G, Hancz L, Lakatos B, et al. Successful Administration of Convalescent Plasma in Critically Ill COVID-19 Patients in Hungary: The First Two Cases. Orv Hetil (2020) 161(27):1111–21. doi: 10.1556/650.2020.31901
- Shen C, Wang Z, Zhao F, Yang Y, Li J, Yuan J, et al. Treatment of 5 Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19 With Convalescent Plasma. JAMA (2020) 323 (16):1582–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.4783
- 50. Keith P, Day M, Choe C, Perkins L, Moyer L, Hays E, et al. The Successful Use of Therapeutic Plasma Exchange for Severe COVID-19 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome With Multiple Organ Failure. SAGE Open Med Case Rep (2020) 8:2050313X20933473. doi: 10.1177/2050313X20933473
- 51. Zhao Y, Wang C, Qiu B, Li C, Wang H, Jin H, et al. Passive Immunotherapy for Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Infection With Equine Immunoglobulin or Immunoglobulin Fragments in a Mouse Model. Antiviral Res (2017) 137:125–30. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.11.016

- 52. Koch B, Schult-Dietrich P, Buttner S, Dilmaghani B, Lohmann D, Baer PC, et al. Lectin Affinity Plasmapheresis for Middle East Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus and Marburg Virus Glycoprotein Elimination. Blood Purif (2018) 46(2):126–33. doi: 10.1159/000487224
- 53. Cheng Y, Wong R, Soo YO, Wong WS, Lee CK, Ng MH, et al. Use of Convalescent Plasma Therapy in SARS Patients in Hong Kong. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis (2005) 24(1):44–6. doi: 10.1007/s10096-004-1271-9
- 54. Schwab I, Nimmerjahn F. Intravenous Immunoglobulin Therapy: How Does IgG Modulate the Immune System? Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(3):176–89. doi: 10.1038/nri3401
- Sarwar Z, Ahmad T, Kakar S. Potential Approaches to Combat COVID-19: A Mini-Review. Mol Biol Rep (2020) 47(12):9939–49. doi: 10.1007/s11033-020-05988-1
- 56. Pourahmad R, Moazzami B, Rezaei N. Efficacy of Plasmapheresis and Immunoglobulin Replacement Therapy (IVIG) on Patients With COVID-19. SN Compr Clin Med (2020), 1–5. doi: 10.1007/s42399-020-00438-2
- 57. Marson P, Cozza A, De Silvestro G. The True Historical Origin of Convalescent Plasma Therapy. Transfus Apher Sci (2020) 59(5):102847. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2020.102847
- Sharun K, Tiwari R, Iqbal Yatoo M, Patel SK, Natesan S, Dhama J, et al. Antibody-Based Immunotherapeutics and Use of Convalescent Plasma to Counter COVID-19: Advances and Prospects. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2020) 20(9):1033–46. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2020.1796963
- Buszko M, Park JH, Verthelyi D, Sen R, Young HA, Rosenberg AS. The Dynamic Changes in Cytokine Responses in COVID-19: A Snapshot of the Current State of Knowledge. Nat Immunol (2020) 21(10):1146–51. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0779-1
- 60. Tzilas V, Manali E, Papiris S, Bouros D. Intravenous Immunoglobulin for the Treatment of COVID-19: A Promising Tool. Respiration (2020) 99 (12):1087–9. doi: 10.1159/000512727
- 61. Xie Y, Cao S, Dong H, Li Q, Chen E, Zhang W, et al. Effect of Regular Intravenous Immunoglobulin Therapy on Prognosis of Severe Pneumonia in Patients Wit COVID-19. J Infect (2020) 81(2):318–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.044
- Keam S, Megawati D, Patel SK, Tiwari R, Dhama K, Harapan H. Immunopathology and Immunotherapeutic Strategies in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Infection. Rev Med Virol (2020) 30(5):e2123. doi: 10.1002/rmv.2123
- 63. Cao W, Liu X, Hong K, Ma Z, Zhang Y, Lin L, et al. High-Dose Intravenous Immunoglobulin in Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019: A Multicenter Retrospective Study in China. Front Immunol (2021) 12:627844. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.627844
- 64. Administration FaD. FDA In Brief: FDA Updates Emergency Use Authorization for COVID-19 Convalescent Plasma to Reflect New Data: U.S. Food & Drug Administration (2021). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/fda-brief/fda-brief-fda-updates-emergency-useauthorizationcovid-19-convalescent-plasma-reflect-new-data.
- 65. Pathak EB. Convalescent Plasma is Ineffective for Covid-19. BMJ 371:m4072. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m4072
- 66. Xu Y, Liu L. Curcumin Alleviates Macrophage Activation and Lung Inflammation Induced by Influenza Virus Infection Through Inhibiting the NF-kappaB Signaling Pathway. Influenza Other Respir Viruses (2017) 11(5):457–63. doi: 10.1111/irv.12459
- 67. Duan M, Hibbs ML, Chen W. The Contributions of Lung Macrophage and Monocyte Heterogeneity to Influenza Pathogenesis. Immunol Cell Biol (2017) 95(3):225–35. doi: 10.1038/icb.2016.97
- Yim HCH, Leon TYY, Li JCB. MXD1 Regulates the H9N2 and H1N1 Influenza A Virus-Induced Chemokine Expression and Their Replications in Human Macrophage. J Leukocyte Biol (2020) 108(5):1631–40. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4MA0620-703RR
- Zhao C, Qi X, Ding M, Sun X, Zhou Z, Zhang S, et al. Pro-Inflammatory Cytokine Dysregulation is Associated With Novel Avian Influenza A (H7N9) Virus in Primary Human Macrophages. J Gen Virol (2016) 97 (2):299–305. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000357
- 70. Van Reeth K. Cytokines in the Pathogenesis of Influenza. Vet Microbiol (2000) 74(1-2):109–16. doi: 10.1016/s0378-1135(00)00171-1

- 71. Sakai S, Kawamata H, Mantani N, Kogure T, Shimada Y, Terasawa K, et al. Therapeutic Effect of Anti-Macrophage Inflammatory Protein 2 Antibody on Influenza Virus-Induced Pneumonia in Mice. J Virol (2000) 74(5):2472–6. doi: 10.1128/jvi.74.5.2472-2476.2000
- 72. Simmons C, Farrar J. Insights Into Inflammation and Influenza. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(15):1621–3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcibr0805865
- 73. Neve BP, Fruchart JC, Staels B. Role of the Peroxisome Proliferator- Activated Receptors (PPAR) in Atherosclerosis. Biochem Pharmacol (2000) 60(8):1245–50. doi: 10.1016/s0006-2952(00)00430-5
- 74. Hoarau JJ, JaffarBandjeeMC,KrejbichTrotot P,Das T, Li-Pat-YuenG,Dassa B, et al. Persistent Chronic Inflammation and Infection by Chikungunya Arthritogenic Alphavirus in Spite of a Robust Host Immune Response. J Immunol (2010) 184(10):5914–27. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900255
- Labadie K, Larcher T, Joubert C, Mannioui A, Delache B, Brochard P, et al. Chikungunya Disease in Nonhuman Primates Involves Long-Term Viral Persistence in Macrophages. J Clin Invest (2010) 120(3):894–906. doi: 10.1172/JCI40104
- 76. Halstead SB. Antibody, Macrophages, Dengue Virus Infection, Shock, and Hemorrhage: A Pathogenetic Cascade. Rev Infect Dis (1989) 11(Suppl 4):S830–9. doi: 10.1093/clinids/11.supplement\_4.s830
- 77. Chen YC, Wang SY. Activation of Terminally Differentiated Human Monocytes/Macrophages by Dengue Virus: Productive Infection, Hierarchical Production of Innate Cytokines and Chemokines, and the Synergistic Effect of Lipopolysaccharide. J Virol (2002) 76(19):9877–87. doi: 10.1128/jvi.76.19.9877-9887.2002
- Oschwald A, Petry P, Kierdorf K, Erny D. CNS Macrophages and Infant Infections. Front Immunol (2020) 11:2123. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.02123
- 79. Rombi F, Bayliss R, Tuplin A, Yeoh S. The Journey of Zika to the Developing Brain. Mol Biol Rep (2020) 47(4):3097–115. doi: 10.1007/s11033-020-05349-y
- Colavita F, Bordoni V, Caglioti C, Biava M, Castilletti C, Bordi L, et al. ZIKV Infection Induces an Inflammatory Response But Fails to Activate Types I, II, and III IFN Response in Human PBMC. Mediators Inflamm (2018) 2018:2450540. doi: 10.1155/2018/2450540
- 81. Quicke KM, Bowen JR, Johnson EL, McDonald CE, Ma H, O'Neal JT, et al. Zika Virus Infects Human Placental Macrophages. Cell Host Microbe (2016) 20(1):83–90. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.05.015
- Gavegnano C, Bassit LC, Cox BD, Hsiao HM, Johnson EL, Suthar M, et al. Jak Inhibitors Modulate Production of Replication-Competent Zika Virus in Human Hofbauer, Trophoblasts, and Neuroblastoma Cells. Pathog Immun (2017) 2(2):199–218. doi: 10.20411/pai.v2i2.190
- 83. Nou E, Lo J, Grinspoon SK. Inflammation, Immune Activation, and Cardiovascular Disease in HIV. Aids (2016) 30(10):1495–509. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000001109
- 84. Farhadian SF, Mehta SS, Zografou C, Robertson K, Price RW, Pappalardo J, et al. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing Reveals Microglia-Like Cells in Cerebrospinal Fluid During Virologically Suppressed HIV. JCI Insight (2018) 3(18):e121718. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.121718
- Spudich S, Robertson KR, Bosch RJ, Gandhi RT, Cyktor JC, Mar H, et al. Persistent HIV-Infected Cells in Cerebrospinal Fluid are Associated With Poorer Neurocognitive Performance. J Clin Invest (2019) 129(8):3339–46. doi: 10.1172/JCI127413
- 86. Rodriguez-Franco EJ, Cantres-Rosario YM, Plaud-Valentin M, Romeu R, Rodriguez Y, Skolasky R, et al. Dysregulation of Macrophage-Secreted Cathepsin B Contributes to HIV-1-Linked Neuronal Apoptosis. PLoS One (2012) 7(5):e36571. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036571
- Jiang ZG, Piggee C, Heyes MP, Murphy C, Quearry B, Bauer M, et al. Glutamate is a Mediator of Neurotoxicity in Secretions of Activated HIV-1-Infected Macrophages. J Neuroimmunol (2001) 117(1-2):97–107. doi: 10.1016/s0165-5728(01)00315-0
- Zhao J, Lopez AL, Erichsen D, Herek S, Cotter RL, Curthoys NP, et al. Mitochondrial Glutaminase Enhances Extracellular Glutamate Production in HIV-1-Infected Macrophages: Linkage to HIV-1 Associated Dementia. J Neurochem (2004) 88(1):169–80. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.02146.x

- Huang Y, Zhao L, Jia B, Wu L, Li Y, Curthoys N, et al. Glutaminase Dysregulation in HIV-1-Infected Human Microglia Mediates Neurotoxicity: Relevant to HIV-1-Associated Neurocognitive Disorders. J Neurosci (2011) 31(42):15195–204. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2051-11.2011
- Heneka MT, Golenbock D, Latz E, Morgan D, Brown R. Immediate and Long-Term Consequences of COVID-19 Infections for the Development of Neurological Disease. Alzheimers Res Ther (2020) 12(1):69. doi: 10.1186/s13195-020-00640-3
- 91. Sun B, Tang N, Peluso MJ, Iyer NS, Torres L, Donatelli JL, et al. Characterization and Biomarker Analyses of Post-COVID-19 Complications and Neurological Manifestations. Cells (2021) 10(2):386. doi: 10.3390/cells10020386
- 92. LaRovere KL, Riggs BJ, Poussaint TY, Young CC, Newhams MM, Maamari M, et al. Neurologic Involvement in Children and Adolescents Hospitalized in the United States for COVID-19 or Multisystem Inflammatory Syndrome. JAMA Neurol (2021) 78(5):536–47. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.0504
- 93. Chen GF, Xu TH, Yan Y, Zhou YR, Jiang Y, Melcher K, et al. Amyloid Beta: Structure, Biology and Structure-Based Therapeutic Development. Acta Pharmacol Sin (2017) 38(9):1205–35. doi: 10.1038/aps.2017.28
- 94. Gao YL, Wang N, Sun FR, Cao XP, ZhangW, Yu JT. Tau in Neurodegenerative Disease. Ann Transl Med (2018) 6(10):175. doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.04.23
- 95. Stubbs EG. Autistic Symptoms in a Child With Congenital Cytomegalovirus Infection. JAutismChild Schizophr (1978) 8(1):37–43.doi: 10.1007/BF01550276
- 96. Sweeten TL, Posey DJ, McDougle CJ. Brief Report: Autistic Disorder in Three Children With Cytomegalovirus Infection. J Autism Dev Disord (2004) 34(5):583–6. doi: 10.1007/s10803-004-2552-y
- 97. Shi Y, Liu CH, Roberts AI, Das J, Xu G, Ren G, et al. Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) and T-Cell Responses: What We do and Don't Know. Cell Res (2006) 16(2):126–33. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7310017
- Chetoui N, Boisvert M, Gendron S, Aoudjit F. Interleukin-7 Promotes the Survival of Human CD4+ Effector/Memory T Cells by Up-Regulating Bcl-2 Proteins and Activating the JAK/STAT Signalling Pathway. Immunology (2010) 130(3):418–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03244.x
- Gavegnano C, Brehm JH, Dupuy FP, Talla A, Ribeiro SP, Kulpa DA, et al. Novel Mechanisms to Inhibit HIV Reservoir Seeding Using Jak Inhibitors. PLoS Pathog (2017) 13(12):e1006740. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006740
- 100. Shuai K, Liu B. Regulation of JAK-STAT Signalling in the Immune System. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(11):900–11. doi: 10.1038/nri1226
- 101. Vier J, Groth M, Sochalska M, Kirschnek S. The Anti-Apoptotic Bcl-2 Family Protein A1/Bfl-1 Regulates Neutrophil Survival and Homeostasis and is Controlled via PI3K and JAK/STAT Signaling. Cell Death Dis (2016) 7:e2103. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.23
- 102. Kang MH, Reynolds CP. Bcl-2 Inhibitors: Targeting Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathways in Cancer Therapy. Clin Cancer Res (2009) 15 (4):1126–32. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0144
- 103. Yip KW, Reed JC. Bcl-2 Family Proteins and Cancer. Oncogene (2008) 27 (50):6398–406. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.307
- 104. Zhu H, Jia Z, Li YR. Nrf2 Signaling in Macrophages. React Oxyg Species (Apex) (2016) 2(6):417–20. doi: 10.20455/ros.2016.875
- 105. Kobayashi EH, Suzuki T, Funayama R, Nagashima T, Hayashi M, Sekine H, et al. Nrf2 Suppresses Macrophage Inflammatory Response by Blocking Proinflammatory Cytokine Transcription. Nat Commun (2016) 7:11624. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11624
- 106. Titanji BK, Farley MM, Mehta A, Connor-Schuler R, Moanna A, Cribbs SK, et al. Use of Baricitinib in Patients With Moderate to Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019. Clin Infect Dis (2021) 72(7):1247–50. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa879

- 107. Cummins NW, Sainski-Nguyen AM, Natesampillai S, Aboulnasr F, Kaufmann S, Badley AD. Maintenance of the HIV Reservoir Is Antagonized by Selective BCL2 Inhibition. J Virol (2017) 91(11):e00012-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00012-17
- 108. Gavegnano C, Detorio M, Montero C, Bosque A, Planelles V, Schinazi RF. Ruxolitinib and Tofacitinib are Potent and Selective Inhibitors of HIV-1 Replication and Virus Reactivation In Vitro. Antimicrobial Agents Chemother (2014) 58(4):1977–86. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02496-13
- 109. Haile WB, Gavegnano C, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, Tyor WR. The Janus Kinase Inhibitor Ruxolitinib Reduces HIV Replication in Human Macrophages and Ameliorates HIV Encephalitis in a Murine Model. Neurobiol Dis (2016) 92(Pt B):137–43. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.02.007
- 110. Marconi VC, Moser C, Gavegnano C, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Overton ET, et al. Randomized Trial of Ruxolitinib in Antiretroviral-Treated Adults With HIV. Clin Infect Dis (2021). doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab212
- 111. Gavegnano C, Haile WB, Hurwitz S, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, et al. Baricitinib Reverses HIV-Associated Neurocognitive Disorders in a SCID Mouse Model and Reservoir Seeding *In Vitro*. J Neuroinflamm (2019) 16 (1):182. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1565-6
- 112. Hoang TN, Pino M, Boddapati AK, Viox EG, Starke CE, Upadhyay AA, et al. Baricitinib Treatment Resolves Lower-Airway Macrophage Inflammation and Neutrophil Recruitment in SARS-CoV-2-Infected Rhesus Macaques. Cell (2021) 184(2):460–75.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.11.007
- 113. Administration FaD. FDA Approves Venetoclax for CLL and SLL (2019). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approveddrugs/fda-approves-venetoclax-cll-and-sll.
- 114. Administration FaD. FDA Grants Regular Approval to Venetoclax in Combination for Untreated Acute Myeloid Leukemia: Food and Drug Administration (2020). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resourcesinformation-approved-drugs/fda-grants-regular-approval-venetoclaxcombination-untreated-acute-myeloid-leukemia.
- 115. Adminstration FaD. FDA Approves New Drug for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia in Patients With a Specific Chromosomal Abnormality: Food and Drug Administration (2016). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-new-drug-chronic-lymphocyticleukemia-patients-specific-chromosomal-abnormality.
- 116. Cross SA, Cook DR, Chi AW, Vance PJ, Kolson LL, Wong BJ, et al. Dimethyl Fumarate, an Immune Modulator and Inducer of the Antioxidant Response, Suppresses HIV Replication and Macrophage-Mediated Neurotoxicity: A Novel Candidate for HIV Neuroprotection. J Immunol (2011) 187(10):5015–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101868

# Repurposing BCL-2 and Jak 1/2 Inhibitors: Cure and Treatment of HIV-1 and Other Viral

#### Infections

Monica D. Reece<sup>1</sup>, Colin Song<sup>2</sup>, Sarah C. Hancock<sup>3</sup>, Susan Pereira Ribeiro<sup>1</sup>, Deanna A. Kulpa<sup>1</sup>, and

Christina Gavegnano<sup>1,4,5,6,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, School of Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
<sup>2</sup>Department of Chemistry, College of Arts and Sciences, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
<sup>3</sup>Department of Biology, College of Arts and Sciences, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
<sup>4</sup>Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, School of Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
<sup>5</sup>Center for the Study of Human Health, College of Arts and Sciences, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
<sup>6</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Atlanta Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Decatur, GA, USA
<sup>7</sup>Center for Bioethics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA
\*Corresponding Author: 615 Michael St, Whitehead Biomedical Research Building, Room 135, Atlanta,

\*Corresponding Author: 615 Michael St, Whitehead Biomedical Research Building, Room 135, Atlant GA 30322 USA. Email: christina.gavegnano@emory.edu.

#### Published in Frontiers in Immunology

#### Vol 13 | No 1033672

Accepted: November 14, 2022 | Published: December 9, 2022

DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1033672

#### **Author Contributions**

MDR (majority) and CS performed literature research, writing, and figure preparation. SH contributed to literature search and writing. MDR prepared the manuscript. SPR, DK, and CG contributed topic conception and evolution as well as provided critical revision. All authors have reviewed the final version of materials and approved for submission.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

Author CG and Emory University receive royalties from Eli Lilly and Company for the sales of Baricitinib for the indication of COVID-19. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Abstract

B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family proteins are involved in the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway and are key modulators of cellular lifespan, which is dysregulated during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) and other viral infections, thereby increasing the lifespan of cells harboring virus, including the latent HIV-1 reservoir. Long-lived cells harboring integrated HIV-1 DNA is a major barrier to eradication. Strategies reducing the lifespan of reservoir cells could significantly impact the field of cure research, while also providing insight into immunomodulatory strategies that can crosstalk to other viral infections. Venetoclax is a first-in-class orally bioavailable BCL-2 homology 3 (BH3) mimetic that recently received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for treatment in myeloid and lymphocytic leukemia. Venetoclax has been recently investigated in HIV-1 and demonstrated anti-HIV-1 effects including a reduction in reservoir size. Another immunomodulatory strategy towards reduction in the lifespan of the reservoir is Jak 1/2 inhibition. The Jak STAT pathway has been implicated in BCL-2 and interleukin 10 (IL-10) expression, leading to a downstream effect of cellular senescence. Ruxolitinib and baricitinib are FDA approved, orally bioavailable Jak 1/2 inhibitors that have been shown to indirectly decay the HIV-1 latent reservoir, and down-regulate markers of HIV-1 persistence, immune dysregulation and reservoir lifespan *in vitro* and *ex vivo*. Ruxolitinib recently demonstrated a significant decrease in BCL-2 expression in a human study of virally suppressed people living with HIV (PWH), and baricitinib recently received emergency use approval for the indication of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), underscoring their safety and efficacy in the viral infection setting. BCL-2 and Jak 1/2 inhibitors could be repurposed as immunomodulators for not only HIV-1 and COVID-19, but other viruses that upregulate BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins. This review examines potential routes for BCL-2 and Jak 1/2 inhibitors as immunomodulators for treatment and cure of HIV-1 and other viral infections.

#### Introduction

B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) family proteins fall into three categories: anti-apoptotic proteins (BCL-2, BCL-XL, BCL-W, MCL-1, BFL-1/A1), pro-apoptotic pore-formers (BAX, BAK, BOK), and proapoptotic BH3-only proteins (BAD, BID, BIK, BIM, BMF, HRK, NOXA, PUMA) (1, 2). BCL-2 proteins have a large role in regulating apoptosis, and dysregulation can lead to oncogenesis and senescence. Several intracellular pathogens and/or cancers have developed mechanisms to avoid cellular death to favor its own survival. BCL-2 is a key modulator of cellular lifespan and has been shown to be modulated by pathogen/host interactions and by certain cytokines downstream of viral infection and/or tumor microenvironment. Thus, the development of inhibitors of BCL-2 proteins has been of great interest for the virus infection and cancer fields. Several BCL-2 inhibitor trials have taken place and shown efficacy in inducing apoptosis resulting in better disease outcomes. In this review we will highlight the induction of BCL-2 by different diseases (viral and cancerous), its association with immune senescence and exhaustion, and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved drugs that interfere with survival pathways leading to better disease outcomes.

#### **BCL-2 Induction**

#### Jak STAT cascade for BCL-2 expression

The Janus kinase and signal transducer and activator of transcription (Jak STAT) pathway is an upstream regulator of BCL-2 expression. When proinflammatory cytokines engage their cytokine receptor, Janus kinases (Jak) 1, 2, and 3 phosphorylate the receptor which recruits STAT type 5 (STAT5). STAT5 is subsequently phosphorylated (pSTAT5) by Jak 1, 2, and 3 and dimerizes. Dimerized pSTAT5 undergoes nuclear translocation and binds to the promoter region of the BCL-2 gene to enhance transcription (Figure 1) (3–6). Elevated levels of BCL-2, pro-survival factor, are a marker of pathogenesis for many diseases including cancer and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). Targeting the Jak STAT pathway has thus far proven to decrease BCL-2 expression while also decaying the HIV-1 reservoir and reversing HIV-1-associated neurocognitive dysfunction caused by long-term basal inflammation (3, 7–9). Broadly, pSTAT5 expression has been linked to increased integrated HIV-1 DNA levels *in vivo*, *in vitro*, and *ex vivo*, deregulated homeostatic proliferation, immune activation, reservoir size *in vivo*, and BCL-2 expression *in vitro* and *in vivo* (3, 7). Additionally, STAT5 phosphorylation is involved in homeostatic proliferation (3) and has been reported to have binding sites in the HIV-1 long terminal repeat (LTR) (10).



#### FIGURE 1 | Jak STAT Pathway Activation and Anti-Apoptotic Activity

Activation of the Jak STAT pathway by pro-inflammatory cytokines (like those produced in viral infection) produces dimerized pSTAT5 that directly upregulates BCL-2, a pro-survival factor, resulting in long-lived cells harboring HIV-1 DNA. FDA approved Jak inhibitors (ruxolitinib, baricitinib, tofacitinib) can block the BCL-2 cascade upstream. Venetoclax, FDA approved BCL-2 selective BCL-2 homology 3 (BH3) mimetic, prevents BCL-2 sequestration of BH3. Free BH3 is then able to interact with pro-apoptotic proteins (BAK, BAX, BIM, BAD) to perform mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) thereby releasing cytochrome C. Cytochrome C interacts with pro-caspase9/apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (APAF-1) to initiate a caspase cascade that culminates in apoptotic cell death. Created with BioRender.

#### **Role of BCL-2 Expression**

Cancers

BCL-2 has been extensively studied in cancer, with the original BCL-2 inhibitor intended as a cancer treatment. Within the BCL-2 family of proteins, there are both pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins. The anti-apoptotic proteins contribute to cellular senescence and tumor survival. Senescence is a cellular response to physiological and oncogenic stress that results in the loss of a cell's ability to divide and grow (11). Anti-apoptotic BCL-2 family proteins are upregulated in senescent cells (11). Two major apoptotic pathways that BCL-2 proteins play a critical role in are the intrinsic cell-death pathway, also called the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway, and the extrinsic cell-death pathway involving the FAS and TRAIL receptors that initiate a caspase-8-mediated cascade (12). Within the intrinsic cell-death pathway, antiapoptotic proteins such as BCL-2, BCL-XL, and MCL-1 possess a C-terminal transmembrane domain anchored in the mitochondrial outer membrane. High expression of BCL-2 or BCL-XL is associated with aggressive malignancies and resistance to chemotherapy (12). BAK and BAX are pro-apoptotic proteins that are blocked by BCL-2, BCL-XL, and MCL-1. The BH3 peptide activates BAK and BAX but is sequestered by BCL-2, BCL-XL, and MCL-1 through binding to a hydrophobic pocket in the protein. When BAK and BAX are successfully activated, they oligomerize in the mitochondrial outer membrane causing mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP). This membrane damage not only causes cellular necrosis but also allows for release of proteins from the mitochondria that contribute to apoptosis. The proteins include caspase activating proteins like cytochrome C, caspase inhibitor neutralizers like SMAC and OMI/Htra2, and intranuclear genome degradation proteins like apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) (13). Cytochrome C combines with both apoptosis protease-activating factor 1 (APAF-1) and inactive procaspase-9 to form an apoptosome. This formation activates caspase-9 which initiates a caspase cascade involving caspase-3, caspase-6, and caspase-7 (Figure 1) (12). BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins' ability to subvert apoptosis can result in a senescent cellular phenotype where the cell is not actively proliferating but in stasis. Cytokines from the tumor microenvironment such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ )

and interleukin 10 (IL-10) are known cytokines to promote tumor survival but also to induce immunosenescence by upregulating BCL-2 expression in tumor and immune cells as well as the expression of co-inhibitory receptors (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2020.12.15.422949, 10.1101/2021.02.26.432955). While immunosenescence primarily refers to the changes in the immune system associated with age and impacts mainly T lymphocytes; chronic diseases such as cancers and certain infectious diseases (cytomegalovirus (CMV), HIV-1) are also associated with immune dysfunction.

#### BCL-2 and HIV-1 reservoir persistence

In 2020 in the United States, around 30,69200 people were newly diagnosed with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), joining a total population of 1.07 million people with HIV (PWH) [CDC 2020 HIV surveillance report] (14). Globally, the UNAIDS report estimates 38.4 million PWH with 1.5 million new infections in 2021 [UNAIDS 2022] (15). Antiretroviral therapy (ART) is the common treatment regimen prescribed to PWH, but several social, geographic, and monetary blockades impact access and adherence to treatment resulting in 66-85% of PWH accessing treatment globally in 2021 [UNAIDS 2022] (15). In 2018, the cost of initial ART in the United States ranged from \$36-48,000 annually, reducing accessibility and adherence to ART (16). ART can suppress HIV-1 replication to undetectable levels but is not able to eliminate it entirely due to the virus's ability to form a population of HIV-1-infected cells with a transcriptionally silent LTR, commonly referred to as the HIV-1 latent reservoir. Despite the effectiveness of ART, lifelong adherence to treatment with sustained viral suppression is complicated by the development of drug resistance, intolerance, and interactions, the earlier and more severe onset of diseases associated with aging, and social and psychological stigmas. If ART is interrupted, the HIV-1 reservoir contributes to the rapid rebound of plasma viremia in all but rare HIV-1 controllers (16, 17). Viral rebound not only increases viral load, thus increasing probability of spreading the virus to others, but also contributes to further immune system degradation and eventual progression into acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). Eliminating or completely repressing the HIV-1 reservoir is critical for a true or functional cure, respectively. One approach to cure is the shock and kill method,

which involves "shocking" the latent cells out of latency to become transcriptionally active which not only results in viral cytopathic effects but also allows infected cells to be killed by CD8+ T cells. Although this strategy continues to be investigated, there has been no efficacy demonstrated in humans to date. A functional cure refers to viral remission, a similar concept to cancer treatment, in which the viral reservoir is suppressed permanently and monitored for rebound. Jak inhibitors and BH3 mimetics reveal an alternate route in which we may be able to target the HIV reservoir while maintaining viral suppression and targeting downstream effects on the system (chronic inflammation, senescence, etc.), neither reactivating virus nor enforcing remission, but targeting dormant reservoir for decay.

Several mechanisms are in place leading to long term HIV-1 reservoir persistence. We have reported that IL-10 signaling leads to the upregulation of pro-survival pathways resulting in higher HIV-1 reservoir (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2021.02.26.432955). *In vitro* blockade of IL-10 signaling led to BCL-2 downregulation and HIV-1 reservoir decay. Importantly, IL-10 also led to the upregulation of coinhibitory receptors such as PD-1, supporting HIV-1 latency, but also CD8 T cells senescence and exhaustion.

STAT type 3 (STAT3) produced via the Jak STAT pathway translocates to the nucleus and binds to the IL-10 promoter to induce expression. IL-10 causes a senescent phenotype by impeding cytokine production, prevention of MHC upregulation, and inhibiting tyrosine phosphorylation in T cells which leads to a decrease in proliferation, differentiation, and IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2 production (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2021.02.26.432955). Senescent cells in HIV-1 infection are characterized by expression of biomarkers like latency associated peptide (LAP) and glycoprotein A repetitions predominant (GARP) (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2020.12.15.422949), the inactive form of TGF- b in the cell surface. TGF- $\beta$  is a known latency inducer in HIV-1 (18). GARP/LAP cleavage increases active plasma levels of TFG-b which initiates a signal transduction cascade that leads to upregulation of promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML). PML can either establish cellular quiescence by stabilizing forkhead box O3 (FOXO3) and O4 (FOXO4), or it can, in response to cellular stress, associate to protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A). This association inactivates AKT kinase and sequesters DNA damage inducible transcript 4 (DDIT4) which inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway which triggers effector differentiation and glycolysis. FOXO4 binds p53 tumor suppressor and downregulates proapoptotic machinery (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2020.12.15.422949). IL-10 induces activators of STAT3 and promotes STAT3 translocation, ultimately upregulating expression of downstream proteins including p53 (19). FOXO3 upregulates PD-1, a T cell response regulator and marker of disease blocking T cell differentiation (preliminary data progression, from our group DOI: 10.1101/2020.12.15.422949) (20). PD-1 interactions with ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 tolerize T cells to antigens to defuse T cell effector functions (20–22). Ultimately, downregulation of pro-apoptotic machinery would increase availability of anti-apoptotic machinery and further contribute to HIV-1 reservoir persistence (Figure 2).  $\alpha$ -PD-1 monoclonal antibodies reverse T cell exhaustion in cancer patients and restore anti-tumor potential of T cells (20) Further upstream, blocking IL-10 inhibits upregulation of PD-L1 and  $\alpha$ -IL-10 decreases frequency of PD1+ cells (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2021.02.26.432955) (23). We have shown that TFG-b signaling is associated to heightened inducible HIV-1 reservoir and also to lack of central memory T cell differentiation, associated with increased expression of PD-1 (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2020.12.15.422949), confirming the importance of this pathway in HIV-1 persistence and immune senescence. As proposed previously (preliminary data from our group DOI: 10.1101/2020.12.15.422949), combining PD-1 and TGF- $\beta$  focused therapies with senolytics will improve the therapeutic impact on senescent cells, including CD8+ T cell cytolytic functions, in HIV-1 and cancer.



# FIGURE 2 | Jak STAT-Mediated Cell Survival, Induction of Senescence, and Impaired T Cell Function

Cytokines produced subsequently from tumors and HIV-1-infected cells initiate the Jak STAT pathway leading to upregulation of pro-survival and pro-senescence factors like BCL-2 and IL-10. Jak inhibitors (ruxolitinib, baricitinib) prevent upregulation of these factors upstream while BCL-2 homology 3 (BH3) mimetics like venetoclax prevent BCL-2 function downstream, as shown in Figure 1. IL-10 promotes cellular senescence through upregulation of BCL-2 and programmed death protein 1 (PD-1). Senescent cells express latency-associated peptide (LAP) and glycoprotein A repetitions predominant (GARP) which undergo protein cleavage and release bound TGF- $\beta$ . TGF- $\beta$  upregulates promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) which associates to protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) thereby sequestering DNA damage inducible transcript 4 (DDIT4) and inhibiting Ak strain transforming (AKT) kinase, ultimately

resulting in inhibition of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway which is responsible for T cell differentiation. In parallel, PML stabilizes forkhead box O4 (FOXO4) and O3 (FOXO3). FOXO4 binds p53 to downregulate pro-apoptotic machinery. FOXO3 upregulates PD-1 expression on CD8+ T cells which blocks T cell differentiation and impairs cytotoxic ability. This creates a phenotype of long-lived senescent cells and T cells with impaired cytotoxic/killing potential further maintaining the HIV-1 reservoir. Created with BioRender.

Furthermore, in a lytic infection, HIV-1 protease cleaves host procaspase-8, generating a fragment called casp8p41. Casp8p41 can either bind to and activate mitochondrial proapoptotic protein BAK or bind to anti-apoptotic BCL-2 (in high concentrations) which sequesters Casp8p41 and prevents apoptosis (24). Venetoclax has been shown to reduce levels of HIV-1 DNA-integrated cells, reduce the reservoir size, and cause preferential killing of HIV-1 expressing cells in vitro. In HIV-1 infected cells, casp8p41 binds to BCL-2 and becomes unable to activate pro-apoptotic proteins causing cell survival (25). Venetoclax prevents casp8p41 from binding BCL-2 which allows casp8p41 to bind to BAK and induce apoptosis via the intrinsic cell-death pathway. Reactivation of the HIV-1 reservoir in the presence of high levels of BCL-2 prevented death of the reactivated cells, but the addition of venetoclax circumvented this problem. There was no significant impact on uninfected cell viability or proliferation (24, 26). The addition of venetoclax to ex vivo HIV-1 infected samples that were exposed to latency reversal agents (LRas) and co-cultured with HIV-1-specific T cells enabled CD8+ T cell killing of HIV-1 infected cells. Venetoclax did not impair viability or functionality of CD8+ T cells (27). Taken together and considering BCL-2 is necessary for survival of proliferating latently infected cells, this suggests that venetoclax might block persistence and replenishment of the latent reservoir and boost the killing activity in the shock and kill approach to HIV-1 cure (26).

#### BCL-2, SASP, and INK4a/ARF perpetuated senescence

Senescence is a cellular process that induces stable growth arrest and limits the proliferation of aged cells. Senescence is induced by drivers of damage, and in turn, senescence drives some of the key markers of aging including stem cell exhaustion and chronic inflammation (28). There exists a wide range of triggers of senescence, including oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, replicative stress,

cytokines, irradiation, and genotoxic agents. As a result of senescence, cells express a phenotype named senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). SASP is comprised of pro-inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, and cytotoxic mediators. The expression of SASP can affect nearby cells via paracrine signaling and consequently convert them to senescence as well (29). There are some benefits to senescence, as the process helps facilitate embryonic morphogenesis and acts to suppress dysfunctional/aged cells. However, this comes at a cost, as senescent cells therefore accumulate in aged tissues, indicating that senescence could itself promote aging (28).

One of the primary factors driving senescence is damage to a cell's telomeres. Telomeres are highly repetitive DNA structures located at the end of chromosomes that act to protect against chromosome degradation. However, with every successive round of cell cycle division, telomeres shorten (28). While cells have DNA repair mechanisms, the damage done to telomeres is hidden by the presence of specialized nucleoprotein complexes called shelterins. As a result of damaged telomeres, cells can no longer divide, thus driving senescence. This phenomenon is better known as telomere attrition (30).

It has been well-established that BCL-2 proteins play an integral role in the apoptotic pathway. However, it has also been revealed that BCL-2 may also play a role in cellular senescence. Specifically, BCL-2 has been seen to accelerate premature senescence in both human lung primary fibroblasts and human foreskin fibroblasts (31). The exact mechanism of how BCL-2 and senescence work in tandem is yet to be completely elucidated, but recent experiments have been able to yield results demonstrating the impact BCL-2 has on senescence.

Senescent cells upregulate BCL-2 and BCL-XL, both of which are anti-apoptotic proteins (32). When senescence in primary human fibroblasts were induced via DNA damage or replicative exhaustion and treated with tumor necrosis factor-a and cycloheximide to induce apoptotic pathway, senescent cells survived at a much higher rate compared to empty vector transduced cells. Furthermore, levels of BCL-2 and BCL-XL were detected to have increased in these senescent cells. When the cells were treated with a known small molecule inhibitor of anti-apoptotic proteins called ABT-737, high levels of cell death were seen in the senescent cells compared to the control (11). In human primary fibroblasts introduced with an

activated *ras* allele, a similar phenomenon was discovered as well. The upregulation of BCL-2 resulting from the introduced *ras* allele increased the rate of appearance of senescence-associated bgalactosidase, a known marker of senescence. Compared to control cells with no *ras* allele, there was a higher percentage of senescence-associated b-galactosidase-positive cells in the cells with the *ras* allele (31).

These discoveries lend to the evidence that BCL-2 levels may decide if cells undergo senescence versus p53-dependent apoptosis. In the presence of high levels of BCL-2, the inhibition of apoptosis may commit cells towards a path of senescence instead (33). As a result, it is plausible to conclude that the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins such as BCL-2 and BCL-XL contribute to the resistance of senescent cells towards programmed cell death.

#### Senescence in cancer

Cellular senescence plays an important role as a tumor suppressor mechanism. Senescence has antiproliferative power and thus can restrict the progression of tumors (34). Like with aging, the inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase 4 alpha/alternate reading frame (INK4 $\alpha$ /ARF) locus plays a significant role in cancer. Oncogenic mutations in cells activate the expression of the locus, thereby encoding tumor suppressing proteins such as p15INK4 $\beta$  and p16INK4 $\alpha$ . These proteins inhibit and inactivate cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) 4/6, thus inducing cell cycle arrest and preventing continued division of cancer cells. The ARF protein inhibits mouse double minute homolog 2 (MDM2), a protein that usually inhibits the transcriptional activity of p53. As a result of the inhibition of MDM2, p53 is stabilized and leads to cell-cycle arrest, thus preventing further division of cancer cells as well (35).

Of note is that senescence in tumors is closely tied only to the premalignant states of tumorigenesis. In fact, senescent markers appear absent in tumors once they are in their malignant stages. These findings suggest that senescence acts as a barrier to tumor progression (36). Because of the interconnectedness between cancer pathways and senescence, potential cancer treatments have been targeted towards inducing senescence or blocking the cellular pathways that lead to the proliferation of cancer cells. For example, multiple chemotherapeutic drugs under investigation act to inflict severe DNA damage to cancerous cells, thus triggering cellular senescence. Further, some small molecule inhibitors are being developed to restore p53 signaling, as p53 function is lost in tumor cells; this could help control the rapid division of tumor cells.

#### Relationship between senescence and aging

The question of whether senescence and aging are related through causation is still under investigation, but there are components of senescence that do correlate with the process of aging. One of these components is the INK4 $\alpha$ /ARF locus where three tumor suppressors reside: p16INK4 $\alpha$ , ARF, and p15INK4 $\beta$  (28). At a young age, the INK4 $\alpha$ /ARF locus is expressed at low levels in most tissues but slowly becomes derepressed with continued aging (34). Specifically, the p16 protein is of particular interest as it is an important marker of senescence that has been observed to accumulate in aged tissues of mammals (37). P16-mediated senescence works via the retinoblastoma (Rb) pathway. p16 binds to CDK4/6 which thus inactivates the kinases and prevents the phosphorylation of the Rb protein. The lack of phosphorylation in Rb proteins causes them to remain associated with transcription factor E2F1 as an Rb-E2F1 complex. The restriction of the E2F1 transcription factor prevents transcription of E2F1 target genes which are otherwise crucial for the transition from the G1 to S phase in the cell cycle (Figure 3). Consequently, the increase in p16 concentration leads to cellular senescence by inhibiting the CDK pathway (38).



#### FIGURE 3 | Role of p16 in Retinoblastoma-Mediated Senescence

p16 is a protein that, when in increased concentrations, can induce senescence via the retinoblastoma (RB)pathway. Rb is a tumor suppressor protein that plays a critical role in regulating the cell cycle. Cyclin D1 activates cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 (CDK 4/6), allowing the kinase to phosphorylate the Rb-E2F1 complex. This complex consists of the Rb protein and E2F1 transcription factor. When phosphorylated, Rb is inactivated, allowing for the detachment of E2F1; consequently, E2F1 target genes are transcribed. These play a crucial role in the transition of a cell from the G1 to S phase. However, in the presence of p16, CDK 4/6's ability to deactivate Rb through phosphorylation is inhibited. As a result, E2F1 remains bound to Rb, and therefore transcription of E2F1 target genes is prevented. This blocks cell cycle progression, thus causing a cell to move towards senescence. Created with BioRender.

The aforementioned importance of p16 in senescence has been observed in progeroid mice. Usually, these mice show early onset of a few age-associated disorders such as cerebral gliosis and cataracts. In one experiment, the progeroid mice were engineered so cells expressing p16 would be induced to undergo apoptosis. In cont*ras*t to the unaltered mice, these mice displayed delayed onset in the ageassociated disorders. In naturally aging INK-apoptosis through targeted activation of caspase (ATTAC) mice, the same alterations were made; delayed onset of the age-associated disorders was once again observed alongside an increase in lifespan. Altogether, this suggests that senescence plays a role in age-associated pathologies and that senescent cells may limit longevity (37).

SASP as a product of senescence can also contribute to the aging process. The paracrine transmission of the senescence response can contribute to chronic inflammation, or inflammaging. Elimination of senescent cells in aged organs has been seen to reduce levels of IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$ , both of which are markers of chronic inflammation. Another process called immunosenescence is correlated with aging. The immune system in healthy individuals can usually clear senescent cells (28). However, with age, there is a decline in the production of adaptive immune cells (29). As a result, the clearance of senescent cells becomes compromised, leading to greater inflammation (28).

#### BCL-2 interactions in SARS-CoV-2

A global pandemic has presented unique challenges in the scientific community. With the technology and means to quickly share data, facilitating collaborative problem-solving, we also see a lag in the peer-review process due to increased submission and importance of information at this time. This has led to some contention on severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) interactions with BCL-2 in the field. Ongoing research seeks to characterize SARS-CoV-2 but many predictions and comparisons are drawn based on existing knowledge of Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS-CoV) and severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS-CoV) and comparisons with related positive sense single stranded RNA viruses ((+)ssRNA).

It has been posited that because the mitochondria is targeted by related (+)ssRNA viruses, it may also be a target of SARSCoV-2 (39). In observing the human interactome with MERS and SARS-CoV, it was predicted that BCL-2, MCL-1, and BCL-2A1 would be upregulated in SARS-CoV-2 infection (40). Rad9 is a human protein that has a BH3-like region and interacts with BCL-2 and BCL-XL to induce apoptosis (41). Rad9A can purportedly be targeted by SARS-CoV-2 encoded miRNA that suppress the gene (preliminary data from Xingyin Liu's group at Nanjing Medical University, China, doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2004.04874). This suggests that SARS-CoV-2 relies on BCL-2 for a productive infection. However, there is more evidence to support that SARS-CoV-2 likely downregulates BCL-2 instead.

SARS-CoV induces apoptosis via the intrinsic cell-death pathway and nasopharynx samples from SARS-CoV-2 patients have shown increased apoptosis and expression of caspase-3 (42–48). SARS-CoV infection induces caspase-dependent apoptosis which can be prevented by overexpression of BCL-2 or by caspase inhibitor (42, 48). SARS-CoV produces a 7a protein that induces apoptosis that can be blocked by overexpression of BCL-XL. 7a has been found to interact with BCL-XL, BCL-2, MCL-1, and BCL-A1 (46). SARS-CoV-2 shares the ORF7a gene with SARS-CoV, which makes it likely that SARS-CoV-2 7a protein has a similar interaction with these BCL-2 proteins (48). The SARS-CoV E protein causes apoptosis that can be prevented by BCL-XL (44, 49). SARS-CoV-2 E protein has sequence similarity and highly conserved N-terminal regions with SARS-CoV, and so may share a similar function (50). SARS-CoV-2 infection in the lung increases expression of Noxa, an MCL-1 inhibitor, which increases apoptosis. Younger lung tissue has been found to be more primed for apoptosis because more cytochrome C is released during MOMP than in older lung tissue (51). In Vero cells, BCL-2 expression prevents apoptosis but does not affect viral infection, replication, or release which indicates that although SARS-CoV causes apoptosis, it is not necessary for viral dissemination (42). SARS-CoV-2 induces apoptosis via the extrinsic cell-death pathway through caspase-8 and caspase-9. Caspase-8 cleaves pro-apoptotic BID to tBID (truncated BID) which induces release of cytochrome C. This ultimately results in formation of the apoptosome and activation of caspase-9 which begins the caspase cascade leading to apoptosis (27).

Of note, Jak 1/2 inhibitor baricitinib was granted an emergency use authorization in 2020 for the treatment of severe COVID-19. Combination therapy of baricitinib and remdesivir was shown to reduce recovery time in patients receiving high-flow oxygen or ventilation compared to remdesivir alone. Serious adverse events were reduced from 21% with only remdesivir to 16% with baricitinib (52). The anti-inflammatory effect of baricitinib is especially useful in treating severe COVID-19 and COVID-19 pneumonia which progress due to severe inflammation in the lungs. As the Jak STAT pathway is an

upstream regulator of BCL-2 expression, a potential connection between BCL-2 and severe COVID-19 may exist but needs further investigation.

#### BCL-2 conservation among other viral species

With BCL-2 inhibitors proving effective against cancer and HIV-1, they could potentially be used as an "antiviral" against other viral species. Its potential efficiency would depend on how the pathogen(s) could lead to BCL-2 upregulation making the infected host-cell a long-lived reservoir.

#### Upregulation of BCL-2

The following viruses upregulate BCL-2, which make them viable targets for a BCL-2 inhibitor. All gamma herpes viruses and adenoviruses encode viral BCL-2 protein homologs. Adenoviruses encode an anti-apoptotic BCL-2 protein homolog, E1B 19K, that does not have homology with BCL-2 proteins. E1B 19K interacts with BAX and BAK, so BH3 mimetics may also inhibit the homolog (53). Zaire ebolavirus induces lymphocyte apoptosis. Although lymphocytes are not infected, macrophages are and do not undergo apoptosis. BCL-2 upregulation has been documented by day 4 of infection. Because the lymphocyte apoptosis happens at later stages of infection, it is suspected to contribute to suppression of adaptive immunity, which is proposed to play a role in septic shock (54, 55). In human papillomavirusinduced squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix, BCL-2 is overexpressed (56). In picornavirus infection, IFN-b promoter stimulator 1 (IPS-1)-dependent IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF-3) activation upregulates expression of BCL-2 (57). During infection, mitochondrion-anchored death signaling proteins can activate caspase-8 (1). BCL-2 proteins on the outside of the mitochondrial membrane oligomerize which forms pores that pro-apoptotic factors can access the cytoplasm through (1). Poxviruses encode an N1 antiapoptotic protein that binds BH3 and prevents apoptosis (58). The crystallographic structure of N1 has revealed similarity to human BCL-2 (58). N1 binds to BH3 with high affinity (58). Similarly, to adenovirus E1B 19K, BH3 mimetics may be effective in inhibiting N1.

#### Downregulation of BCL-2

The following viruses downregulate BCL-2 and so should not be treated with a BCL-2 inhibitor. Treatment plans should consider this aspect if co-infections are observed. Herpes simplex virus 2 (HSV-2) and Hantaan virus both downregulate BCL-2 for a productive infection as they induce apoptosis in late-stage infection (59). Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) is associated with deregulated expression of BCL-2 (60). BCL-2 in Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) patients indicates an earlier clinical stage and longer survival in patients. Downregulation of BCL-2 negative tumors results in local and systemic metastasis (61). Within the Rhabdoviridae family, BCL-2 controls release of cytochrome C and inhibits AIF translocation to the nucleus, preventing DNA damage (62). Within Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells, BCL-2 expression has been shown to block orthomyxovirus-induced apoptosis and reduce production of infectious progeny (63). Adherence to seasonal flu vaccine may prevent this from being a problem in treatment plans.

#### **Immunomodulators Affecting BCL-2 Expression**

There are both direct and indirect routes to target BCL-2. BH3 mimetics and BCL-2 antitranslational compounds are direct acting whereas compounds like Jak STAT inhibitors have downstream effects on BCL-2 expression. A comprehensive overview of all immunomodulators discussed in this section is provided in Table 1, including indirect and direct acting compounds.

TABLE 1 | Report of drug class, cellular target, clinical trial status (phase I, II, III, approved, terminated), approval in children, oral bioavailability, route of clearance, compound half-life and dosing for Jak and BCL-2 inhibitors

Compound	Class	Target	Clinical Status	Approved in Children	Orally Bioavailable	Clearance	Half- Life	Dosing
Tofacitinib	Jak STAT Inhibitor	Jak 3	FDA approved	No	Yes	Predominantly hepatic	3 Hours	5-10 mg
Ruxolitinib	Jak STAT Inhibitor	Jak 1/2	FDA approved	No	Yes	Predominantly renal	3 Hours	5-25 mg
Baricitinib	Jak STAT Inhibitor	Jak 1/2	FDA approved	Yes (2-17)	Yes	Renal	12 Hours	2-4 mg
Venetoclax	BH3 Mimetic	BCL-2 Specific	FDA approved	No	Yes	Hepatic	26 Hours	10-100 mg
Oblimersen	Phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotide	BCL-2 mRNA translation	Multiple phase III/ ceased manufacture	No	No	Minimally renal / Predominant not reported	2.5 Hours	3 mg/kg/day
ABT-737	BH3 Mimetic	Pan-BCL- 2 inhibitor (BCL-2, BCL-XL, BCL-W)	Pre-clinical	No	No	N/A	N/A	1 μM (sub- cytotoxic)
Navitoclax	BH3 Mimetic/ Senolytic	Pan-BCL- 2 inhibitor (BCL-2, BCL-XL, BCL-W)	Multiple phase II/ recruiting multiple phase III	Yes (Birth- 17)	No	Not renal/ Predominant not reported	17 Hours	150 mg
Obatoclax	BH3 Mimetic	MCL-1	Multiple phase II/ ceased manufacture	No	No	N/A	7-14 Hours	MTD (28 mg/m2 over 3 hours every 3 weeks)
AT-101	BH3 Mimetic	BCL-2, BCL-XL	Multiple phase II/ ceased manufacture	No	Yes	N/A	N/A	N/A

Some data are undefined for these compounds and are marked as not available (N/A).

#### **BCL-2** inhibitors

The first BCL-2 inhibitor that progressed to clinical trials was an antisense oligodeoxynucleotide that targeted BCL-2 mRNA. This inhibitor was used with chemotherapy to treat chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (64). BH3 mimetics are a largely researched class of BCL-2 inhibitor. Within the BCL-2 protein family, some proteins have a BH1, BH2, and BH3 domain while some only have the BH3 domain, called BH3-only proteins (65). This homology makes the BH3 domain an ideal target. The BH3 domain on the BCL-2 proteins is where the BH3 peptide binds and thus becomes unable to activate proapoptotic

proteins. The BH3 mimetics can sequester the BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins in high concentrations which allows for pro-apoptotic protein activation and subsequent cell death.

#### Oblimersen

Oblimersen was the first developed BCL-2 inhibitor. Oblimersen is a phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotide that inhibits BCL-2 mRNA translation. In pre-clinical studies, the dosage was described as 3 mg/kg/day with a half-life of 2.5 hours and with minimal renal clearance (66). There are several completed phase III clinical trials for oblimersen for melanoma, adult myeloid leukemia, multiple myeloma and plasma cell neoplasm and leukemia. However, oblimersen did not show efficacy in increasing patient survival in phase III trials studying lymphoma, which lead to the FDA rejecting the drug twice and subsequent withdraw of the new drug application (NDA) for oblimersen by the pharmaceutical company Genta in 2004 (67, 68).

#### ABT-737

ABT-737 is a BH3 mimetic pan-BCL-2 inhibitor, targeting BCL-2, BCL-XL, and BCL-W (69). However, if MCL-1 is overexpressed in target cells, ABT-737 will not induce apoptosis (70). MCL-1 can also sequester BAK, and so this drug may be useful in combination with others (71, 72). Preclinical data defines a sub-cytotoxic dosage of 1  $\mu$ M (73). ABT-737 was found to eliminate senescent cells in mice (11). A preclinical *ex vivo* study of ABT-737 with ovarian cancer (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01440504) is the only clinical trial data available for this compound. Studies with this drug lead to the development of navitoclax (74).

#### Navitoclax

Navitoclax, previously ABT-263, is an orally bioavailable pan-BCL-2 inhibitor that binds to BCL-2, BCL-XL, and BCL-W. Navitoclax is a BH3 mimetic. Pre-clinical data describes the dosage as 150 mg with a half-life of 17 hours and clearance not occurring renally (75, 76). The European Medicines Agency

(EMA) granted a waiver for use of this drug in pediatrics, ages birth to 17 years, to treat myelofibrosis in 2018 (77). Navitoclax is also considered a senolytic. Other senolytics include dasatinib, quercetin, and fisetin although these are not BCL-2 inhibitors. Interestingly, fisetin is a senolytic flavonoid which has BCL-2 inhibiting activity and was found to reduce mortality in booronavirus infected mice (78). This finding has led to an imminent FDA-approved clinical trial (79). There are several clinical trials with Navitoclax currently recruiting: phase II with ruxolitinib for both myelofibrosis and relapsed/refractory myelofibrosis, phase I for myeloproliferative neoplasm, phase III for a tolerability and efficacy combination study with ruxolitinib for myelofibrosis, phase I/II with vistusertib for relapsed small cell lung cancer, phase I/II with trametinib for metastatic, refractory, and unresectable malignant solid neoplasms, and a phase I/II with dabrafenib and trametinib for malignant solid neoplasm, metastatic melanoma, state II (A,B,C) and IV cutaneous melanoma AJCC v7, and unresectable melanoma.

#### Obatoclax

Obatoclax mesylate, a mesylate salt of obatoclax, is a BH3 mimetic that binds to MCL-1 and has been studied in combination with other drugs against cancer in clinical trials. Pre-clinical data describes the maximum tolerated dose as 28 mg/m (2) over 3 hours every 3 weeks and a half-life of 7-14 hours (80). Several phase II clinical trials have been completed for acute myeloid lymphoma, in combination with rituximab for follicular lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma, myelodysplastic syndromes, myelofibrosis, in combination with caroplatin/etoposide for extensive stage small cell lung cancer, in combination with bortezomib for mantle cell lymphoma, in combination with docetaxel for lung cancer, and in combination with topotecan hydrochloride for recurrent small cell lung cancer. Developers terminated clinical trials in 2012 and discontinued the drug with no updates since (67).

#### AT-101

AT-101, also referred to as gossypol acetic acid, is an orally bioavailable BH3 mimetic. AT-101 binds to BCL-2 and BCL-XL. It has undergone phase II clinical trials and is currently being investigated

for efficacy against solid tumors (67). AT-101 has been investigated in multiple completed phase II clinical trials for chronic lymphocytic leukemia, in combination with prednisone and docetaxel for hormone refractory prostate cancer, in combination with docetaxel for non-small cell lung cancer, for recurrent and stage III/IV adrenocortical carcinoma, for relapsed/refractory B-cell malignancies, in combination with rituximab for follicular lymphoma, for progressive or recurrent glioblastoma multiforme, for extensive stage and recurrent small cell lung cancer, in combination with bicalutamide for adenocarcinoma of the prostate and stage IV prostate cancer, for prostate cancer, in combination with topotecan for small cell lung cancer, and for hormone refractory prostate cancer. Manufacturing of AT-101 was ceased in 2009.

#### Venetoclax

Venetoclax, previously ABT-199, is a BH3 mimetic that is BCL-2-specific. Venetoclax was the first BCL-2 inhibitor to be FDA-approved (81). Venetoclax is an approved treatment for acute myeloid lymphoma (MCL), CLL, and small lymphocytic leukemia (SLL) (82, 83). Venetoclax has a dosage of 10-100 mg with a half-life of 26 hours and is orally bioavailable. Venetoclax is contraindicated for strong inhibitors of CYP3A (84). Recently, venetoclax has been experimentally shown to decrease the size of the HIV-1 reservoir (26). Venetoclax has demonstrated ability to penetrate into the CNS compartment, however Venetoclax is highly bound to plasma proteins (> 99%), which may limit its tissue penetration and subsequent free active drug concentrations across two-compartment pharmacokinetic models (84, 85). To date, these data are not defined, however studies are warranted across one and two compartment pharmacokinetic modeling efforts to better define potential for Venetoclax to decay the reservoir systemically. While tissue penetrability would be a desirable trait considering myeloid viral reservoirs and tissular tumor environments, tissue distribution of Venetoclax has not been formally documented but likely has limited tissue distribution to secondary lymphoid organs as it is highly bound to plasma protein (84).

#### **Jak STAT Inhibitors**

#### Tofacitinib

Tofacitinib is a Jak 1/2/3 inhibitor that is FDA approved for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and is approved for chronic long-term use. The dosage for tofacitinib is 5-10 mg with a half-life of 3 hours and oral bioavailability of 74%. 70% of clearance occurs hepatically with the remaining 30% being renal. Tofacitinib can cause lymphocytosis, neutropenia, and anemia which diminishes its desirability as a therapy for infection of immune cells. There is a black box warning for observed infections leading to hospitalization or death, lymphoma and other malignancies, and an increased rate of Epstein-Barr virusassociated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in renal transplant patients treated concomitantly with immunosuppressive medication [Venetoclax package insert].

## Ruxolitinib

Ruxolitinib is a Jak 1/2 inhibitor that is FDA approved for treatment of myelofibrosis and is approved for chronic long-term use. At a dosage of 5-25 mg, ruxolitinib has a half-life of 3 hours and is 95% orally bioavailable. Renal clearance is the predominant route of excretion at 74% with hepatic clearance at 22% [Jakafi package insert]. A recent human clinical trial with PWH treated for 5 weeks with ruxolitinib demonstrated reduced biomarkers of inflammation, immune dysregulation, T-cell activation, cellular lifespan, and gut microbial translocation while increasing IL-7R expression which is inversely related to homeostatic proliferation (7). In studies with HIV-1, ruxolitinib and tofacitinib inhibit IL-2, IL-7, and IL-15-induced STAT5 phosphorylation and BCL-2 expression. IL-2, IL-7, and IL-15 which all signal through Jak STAT, have integral roles in HIV-1 pathogenesis. IL-2 increases viral reactivation. IL-7 and IL-15 drive homeostatic proliferation and promote survival and proliferation of latently infected cells. pSTAT5 strongly correlates with increased integrated viral DNA levels, directly contributing to HIV-1 persistence (3). Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib have been shown to inhibit virus replication in lymphocytes stimulated (phytohemagglutinin (PHA) + IL-2) for reactivation and inhibit reactivation in central memory lymphocytes (9). These studies highlight the link between the Jak STAT pathway and HIV-1 reservoir expansion and maintenance.

#### Baricitinib

Baricitinib is also a Jak 1/2 inhibitor with FDA approval for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and an emergency use authorization for COVID-19 (86). Of the three Jak STAT inhibitors discussed herein, baricitinib possess the most favorable safety profile. Baricitinib is administered quaque die orally at 2-4 mg and is blood-brain-barrier penetrant. Baricitinib is 80% orally bioavailable, reaching peak plasma concentrations within an hour of administration, and with an elimination half-life of 12 hours. Baricitinib is approved for chronic long-term use, including in children aged 2-17. Baricitinib is cleared renally, lowering chances of hepatic drug-drug interactions. There is a black box warning for observed infections leading to hospitalization and death, lymphoma and other malignancies, and thrombosis [Olumiant package insert]. More than 50 human trials of baricitinib for inflammatory disorders are currently underway. In the context of HIV-1 infection, basal level inflammation associated with the HIV-1 reservoir leads to long-term complications such as HIV-associated neurocognitive dysfunction (HAND), HIV-associated dementia (HAD), and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (87–89). To date, the tissue penetration profile of Jak 1/2 or BCL-2 inhibitors is not fully elucidated in humans across all tissues and organs. Baricitinib is not fully plasma protein-bound, highlighting its potential to penetrate tissues as an unbound, free agent. We previously proposed baricitinib as a potential therapy to target immune dysregulation resulting from HIV infection in both the lymphocytic and myeloid compartments (90). A recently NIH funded Phase 2a trial with baricitinib to evaluate the ability of this agent to reduce the HIV-1 reservoir in the CNS compartment is now underway (NCT05452564), underscoring potential for baricitinib to not only penetrate across compartments such as, but not limited to the CNS. Further, the data from this forthcoming trial will provide additional pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of baricitinib towards reduction of the reservoir not only peripherally but across compartments; these data will be sentinel towards understanding how baricitinib can potentially be utilized in cure-based regimens for PWH.

Overall, baricitinib presents ideal qualities for concomitant use with ART including: a long halflife, no contraindications with ART or other antiretroviral therapies, renal clearance to avoid potential drugdrug interactions with hepatically cleared ART, orally bioavailable for ease of administration, and bloodbrain barrier penetrant to target infected cells in the central nervous system (CNS), a notorious sanctuary site in HIV-1 infection.

### Conclusion

Several viruses and cancers have evolved to overcome the efficient immunity to promote its own survival. BCL-2 inhibitors have the potential to hinder viremia in viral infections where BCL-2 antiapoptotic proteins are upregulated, but when these anti-apoptotic proteins are downregulated a BCL-2 inhibitor could aid infection and have d*ras*tic effects on a patient's health. A BCL-2 inhibitor alone may not be effective as an anti-viral, but in combination therapy could be beneficial. Venetoclax, an existing FDA-approved BCL-2 inhibitor, could be repurposed as an antiviral against viruses that upregulate BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins in infection. Combination therapy of multiple BCL-2 inhibitors or development of more broadly inhibiting BH3 mimetics would likely be more effective in targeting senescent cells and potentially infected cells and tumors. SARS-CoV-2 is projected to downregulate BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins, so a BCL-2 inhibitor could exacerbate cellular damage during infection. Treatment plans should consider co-infections and viral infections in individuals with cancer before incorporating BCL-2 inhibitors so as not to further impair a patient's health. Overall, BCL-2 proteins present a target that could be exploited in some viral infections and BCL-2 inhibitors could further expand to be used as antivirals.

#### Funding

5T32AI106699-08 (NIAID) support of graduate training for MR 5UM1AI164562-02 (NIAID, NHLBI, NIDA, NIDDK, NINDS) support of DK 1R01MH128158-01A1 (NIMH) and 1R01HL166004-01 (NHLBI) support of CG 1UM1AI164561-01 (NIAID) support of MR and CG.

# Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Emory University's Microbiology and Molecular Genetics doctoral program, Pathology and Laboratory Medicine department, as well as the Emory Vaccine Center at Yerkes National Primate Research Center for support of this work. We would also like to thank William Shafer for guidance through the writing process and commitment to teaching.

#### References

- 1. Croft SN, Walker EJ, Ghildyal R. Picornaviruses and apoptosis: Subversion of cell death. mBio (2017) 8(5):e01009–17. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01009-17
- 2. Kale J, Osterlund EJ, Andrews DW. BCL-2 family proteins: changing partners in the dance towards death. Cell Death Differ (2018) 25(1):65–80. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2017.186
- Gavegnano C, Brehm JH, Dupuy FP, Talla A, Ribeiro SP, Kulpa DA, et al. Novel mechanisms to inhibit HIV reservoir seeding using jak inhibitors. PloS Pathog (2017) 13(12):e1006740. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006740
- 4. Chetoui N, Boisvert M, Gendron S, Aoudjit F. Interleukin-7 promotes the survival of human CD4+ effector/memory T cells by up-regulating bcl-2 proteins and activating the JAK/STAT signalling pathway. Immunology (2010) 130(3):418–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03244.x
- Vier J, Groth M, Sochalska M, Kirschnek S. The anti-apoptotic bcl-2 family protein A1/Bfl-1 regulates neutrophil survival and homeostasis and is controlled via PI3K and JAK/STAT signaling. Cell Death Dis (2016) 7:e2103. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.23
- 6. Shuai K, Liu B. Regulation of JAK-STAT signalling in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(11):900–11. doi: 10.1038/nri1226
- Marconi VC, Moser C, Gavegnano C, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Overton ET, et al. Randomized trial of ruxolitinib in antiretroviral-treated adults with human immunodeficiency virus. Clin Infect Dis (2021) 74(1):95–104. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab212
- Gavegnano C, Haile WB, Hurwitz S, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, et al. Baricitinib reverses HIVassociated neurocognitive disorders in a SCID mouse model and reservoir seeding in vitro. J Neuroinflamm (2019) 16(1):182. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1565-6
- Gavegnano C, Detorio M, Montero C, Bosque A, Planelles V, Schinazi RF. Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib are potent and selective inhibitors of HIV-1 replication and virus reactivation in vitro. Antimicrob Agents Chemother (2014) 58(4):1977–86. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02496-13
- Crotti A, Lusic M, Lupo R, Lievens PM, Liboi E, Della Chiara G, et al. Naturally occurring cterminally truncated STAT5 is a negative regulator of HIV-1 expression. Blood (2007) 109(12):5380–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-042556
- Yosef R, Pilpel N, Tokarsky-Amiel R, Biran A, Ovadya Y, Cohen S, et al. Directed elimination of senescent cells by inhibition of BCL-W and BCL-XL. Nat Commun (2016) 7:11190. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11190
- 12. Kang MH, Reynolds CP. Bcl-2 inhibitors: targeting mitochondrial apoptotic pathways in cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res (2009) 15(4):1126–32. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0144
- 13. Yip KW, Reed JC. Bcl-2 family proteins and cancer. Oncogene (2008) 27 (50):6398–406. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.307
- 14. CDC. HIV Surveillance report, 2020. Atlanta, GA, USA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2022).
- 15. UNAIDS. In danger: UNAIDS global AIDS update 2022. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2022).
- McCann NC, Horn TH, Hyle EP, Walensky RP. HIV Antiretroviral therapy costs in the united states, 2012-2018. JAMA Intern Med (2020) 180(4):601–3. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.7108
- 17. Colby DJ, Trautmann L, Pinyakorn S, Leyre L, Pagliuzza A, Kroon E, et al. Rapid HIV RNA rebound after antiretroviral treatment interruption in persons durably suppressed in fiebig I acute HIV infection. Nat Med (2018) 24(7):923–6. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0026-6
- Kulpa DA, Talla A, Brehm JH, Ribeiro SP, Yuan S, Bebin-Blackwell AG, et al. Differentiation into an effector memory phenotype potentiates HIV-1 latency reversal in CD4(+) T cells. J Virol (2019) 93(24):e00969–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00969-19

- Huang YH, ChenMH, GuoQL, Chen ZX, ChenQD, Wang XZ. Interleukin-10 induces senescence of activated hepatic stellate cells via STAT3-p53 pathway to attenuate liver fibrosis. Cell Signal (2020) 66:109445. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2019.109445
- Rao M, Valentini D, Dodoo E, Zumla A, Maeurer M. Anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy for infectious diseases: learning from the cancer paradigm. Int J Infect Dis (2017) 56:221–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2017.01.028
- 21. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature (2014) 515(7528):568–71. doi: 10.1038/nature13954
- 22. Jiao S, Subudhi SK, Aparicio A, Ge Z, Guan B, Miura Y, et al. Differences in tumor microenvironment dictate T helper lineage polarization and response to immune checkpoint therapy. Cell (2019) 179(5):1177–90 e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.029
- Kuang DM, Zhao Q, Peng C, Xu J, Zhang JP, Wu C, et al. Activated monocytes in peritumoral stroma of hepatocellular carcinoma foster immune privilege and disease progression through PD-L1. J Exp Med (2009) 206(6):1327–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082173
- 24. Cummins NW, Sainski AM, Dai H, Natesampillai S, Pang YP, Bren GD, et al. Prime, shock, and kill: Priming CD4 T cells from HIV patients with a BCL-2 antagonist before HIV reactivation reduces HIV reservoir size. J Virol (2016) 90(8):4032–48. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03179-15
- 25. Natesampillai S, Cummins NW, Nie Z, Sampath R, Baker JV, Henry K, et al. HIV Proteasegenerated Casp8p41, when bound and inactivated by Bcl2, is degraded by the proteasome. J Virol (2018) 92(13):e00037–18. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00037-18
- 26. Cummins NW, Sainski-Nguyen AM, Natesampillai S, Aboulnasr F, Kaufmann S, Badley AD. Maintenance of the HIV reservoir is antagonized by selective BCL2 inhibition. J Virol (2017) 91(11):e00012–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00012-17
- 27. Ren Y, Huang SH, Patel S, Alberto WDC, Magat D, Ahimovic D, et al. BCL-2 antagonism sensitizes cytotoxic T cell-resistant HIV reservoirs to elimination ex vivo. J Clin Invest (2020) 130(5):2542–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI132374
- McHugh D, Gil J. Senescence and aging: Causes, consequences, and therapeutic avenues. J Cell Biol (2018) 217(1):65–77. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201708092
- 29. Papadopoulos D, Magliozzi R, Mitsikostas DD, Gorgoulis VG, Nicholas RS. Aging, cellular senescence, and progressive multiple sclerosis. Front Cell Neurosci (2020) 14:178. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2020.00178
- Lopez-Otin C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. Cell (2013) 153(6):1194–217. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039
- 31. Tombor B, Rundell K, Oltvai ZN. Bcl-2 promotes premature senescence induced by oncogenic ras. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2003) 303(3):800–7. doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x(03)00402-9
- 32. Fan Y, Cheng J, Zeng H, Shao L. Senescent cell depletion through targeting BCL-family proteins and mitochondria. Front Physiol (2020) 11:593630. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.593630
- 33. Basu A. The interplay between apoptosis and cellular senescence: Bcl-2 family proteins as targets for cancer therapy. Pharmacol Ther (2022) 230:107943. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2021.107943
- Collado M, Blasco MA, Serrano M. Cellular senescence in cancer and aging. Cell (2007) 130(2):223–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.003
- Kim WY, Sharpless NE. The regulation of INK4/ARF in cancer and aging. Cell (2006) 127(2):265– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.003
- Collado M, Serrano M. Senescence in tumours: evidence from mice and humans. Nat Rev Cancer (2010) 10(1):51–7. doi: 10.1038/nrc2772
- Calcinotto A, Kohli J, Zagato E, Pellegrini L, Demaria M, Alimonti A. Cellular senescence: Aging, cancer, and injury. Physiol Rev (2019) 99(2):1047–78. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00020.2018
- Rayess H, Wang MB, Srivatsan ES. Cellular senescence and tumor suppressor gene p16. Int J Cancer (2012) 130(8):1715–25. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27316
- Gatti P, Ilamathi HS, Todkar K, Germain M. Mitochondria targeted viral replication and survival strategies-prospective on SARS-CoV-2. Front Pharmacol (2020) 11:578599. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.578599
- 40. Guzzi PH, Mercatelli D, Ceraolo C, Giorgi FM. Master regulator analysis of the SARS-CoV-2/Human interactome. J Clin Med (2020) 9(4):982. doi: 10.3390/jcm9040982
- 41. Komatsu K, Miyashita T, Hang H, Hopkins KM, Zheng W, Cuddeback S, et al. Human homologue of s. pombe Rad9 interacts with BCL-2/BCL-xL and promotes apoptosis. Nat Cell Biol (2000) 2(1):1–6. doi: 10.1038/71316
- 42. Bordi L, Castilletti C, Falasca L, Ciccosanti F, Calcaterra S, Rozera G, et al. Bcl-2 inhibits the caspase-dependent apoptosis induced by SARS-CoV without affecting virus replication kinetics. Arch Virol (2006) 151(2):369–77. doi: 10.1007/s00705-005-0632-8
- 43. Ren L, Yang R, Guo L, Qu J, Wang J, Hung T. Apoptosis induced by the SARS-associated coronavirus in vero cells is replication-dependent and involves caspase. DNA Cell Biol (2005) 24(8):496–502. doi: 10.1089/dna.2005.24.496
- 44. Yang Y, Xiong Z, Zhang S, Yan Y, Nguyen J, Ng B, et al. Bcl-xL inhibits Tcell apoptosis induced by expression of SARS coronavirus e protein in the absence of growth factors. Biochem J (2005) 392(Pt 1):135–43. doi: 10.1042/BJ20050698
- Tsoi H, Li L, Chen ZS, Lau KF, Tsui SK, Chan HY. The SARS-coronavirus membrane protein induces apoptosis via interfering with PDK1-PKB/Akt signalling. Biochem J (2014) 464(3):439– 47. doi: 10.1042/BJ20131461
- 46. Tan YX, Tan TH, Lee MJ, Tham PY, Gunalan V, Druce J, et al. Induction of apoptosis by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 7a protein is dependent on its interaction with the bcl-XL protein. J Virol (2007) 81(12):6346–55. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00090-07
- Nuovo GJ, Magro C, Mikhail A. Cytologic and molecular correlates of SARS-CoV-2 infection of the nasopharynx. Ann Diagn Pathol (2020) 48:151565. doi: 10.1016/j.anndiagpath.2020.151565
- Aslam M, Ladilov Y. Targeting the sAC-dependent cAMP pool to prevent SARS-Cov-2 infection. Cells (2020) 9(9):1962. doi: 10.3390/cells9091962
- Randhawa PK, Scanlon K, Rappaport J, Gupta MK. Modulation of autophagy by SARS-CoV-2: A potential threat for cardiovascular system. Front Physiol (2020) 11:611275. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.611275
- Sarkar M, Saha S. Structural insight into the role of novel SARS-CoV-2 eprotein: A potential target for vaccine development and other therapeutic strategies. PloS One (2020) 15(8):e0237300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237300
- 51. Inde Z, Croker BA, Yapp C, Joshi GN, Spetz J, Fraser C, et al. Age dependent regulation of SARS-CoV-2 cell entry genes and cell death programs correlates with COVID-19 severity. Sci Adv (2021) 7(34):eabf8609. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abf8609
- 52. Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, Tomashek KM, Wolfe CR, Ghazaryan V, et al. Baricitinib plus remdesivir for hospitalized adults with covid-19. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(9):795–807. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2031994
- 53. Polster BM, Pevsner J, Hardwick JM. Viral bcl-2 homologs and their role in virus replication and associated diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta (2004) 1644(2-3):211–27. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2003.11.001
- 54. Mahanty S, Bray M. Pathogenesis of filoviral haemorrhagic fevers. Lancet Infect Dis (2004) 4(8):487–98. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(04)01103-X
- 55. Cohen J. The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature (2002) 420(6917):885–91. doi: 10.1038/nature01326
- 56. Grace VM, Shalini JV, lekha TT, Devaraj SN, Devaraj H. Co-Overexpression of p53 and bcl-2 proteins in HPV-induced squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Gynecol Oncol (2003) 91(1):51–8. doi: 10.1016/s0090-8258(03)00439-6

- 57. Yanai H, Chiba S, Hangai S, Kometani K, Inoue A, Kimura Y, et al. Revisiting the role of IRF3 in inflammation and immunity by conditional and specifically targeted gene ablation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci United States America (2018) 115(20):5253–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1803936115
- Gonzalez JM, Esteban M. A poxvirus bcl-2-like gene family involved in regulation of host immune response: sequence similarity and evolutionary history. Virol J (2010) 7:59. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-7-59
- Sciortino MT, Perri D, Medici MA, Grelli S, Serafino A, Borner C, et al. Role of bcl-2 expression for productive herpes simplex virus 2 replication. Virology (2006) 356(1-2):136–46. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2006.08.001
- 60. Lasithiotaki I, Antoniou KM, Derdas SP, Sarchianaki E, Symvoulakis EK, Psaraki A, et al. The presence of merkel cell polyomavirus is associated with deregulated expression of BRAF and bcl-2 genes in non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer (2013) 133(3):604–11. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28062
- 61. Sahi H, Koljonen V, Kavola H, Haglund C, Tukiainen E, Sihto H, et al. Bcl-2 expression indicates better prognosis of merkel cell carcinoma regardless of the presence of merkel cell polyomavirus. Virchows Arch (2012) 461(5):553–9. doi: 10.1007/s00428-012-1310-3
- 62. Thoulouze MI, Lafage M, Yuste VJ, Baloul L, Edelman L, Kroemer G, et al. High level of bcl-2 counteracts apoptosis mediated by a live rabies virus vaccine strain and induces long-term infection. Virology (2003) 314(2):549–61. doi: 10.1016/s0042-6822(03)00491-4
- 63. Olsen CW, Kehren JC, Dybdahl-Sissoko NR, Hinshaw VS. Bcl-2 alters influenza virus yield, spread, and hemagglutinin glycosylation. J Virol (1996) 70(1):663–6. doi: 10.1128/JVI.70.1.663-666.1996
- 64. Rai KR, Moore J, Wu J, Novick SC, O'Brien SM. Effect of the addition of oblimersen (Bcl-2 antisense) to fludarabine/cyclophosphamide for relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) on survival in patients who achieve CR/nPR: Five-year follow-up from a randomized phase III study. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(15). doi: 10.1200/jco.2008.26.15\_suppl.7008
- 65. Adams JM, Cory S. The bcl-2 apoptotic switch in cancer development and therapy. Oncogene (2007) 26(9):1324–37. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210220
- 66. Cheson BD. Oblimersen for the treatment of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Ther Clin Risk Manage (2007) 3(5):855–70.
- 67. Han Z, Liang J, Li Y, He J. Drugs and clinical approaches targeting the antiapoptotic protein: A review. BioMed Res Int (2019) 2019:1212369. doi: 10.1155/2019/1212369
- 68. Frantz S. Lessons learnt from genasense's failure. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2004) 3(7):542–3. doi: 10.1038/nrd1464
- 69. Chauhan D, Velankar M, Brahmandam M, Hideshima T, Podar K, Richardson P, et al. A novel bcl-2/Bcl-X(L)/Bcl-w inhibitor ABT-737 as therapy in multiple myeloma. Oncogene (2007) 26(16):2374–80. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210028
- 70. van Delft MF, Wei AH, Mason KD, Vandenberg CJ, Chen L, Czabotar PE, et al. The BH3 mimetic ABT-737 targets selective bcl-2 proteins and efficiently induces apoptosis via Bak/Bax if mcl-1 is neutralized. Cancer Cell (2006) 10(5):389–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.08.027
- 71. Thomas LW, Lam C, Edwards SW. Mcl-1; the molecular regulation of protein function. FEBS Lett (2010) 584(14):2981–9. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.05.061
- 72. Kim Y, Anderson JL, Lewin SR. Getting the "Kill" into "Shock and kill": Strategies to eliminate latent HIV. Cell Host Microbe (2018) 23(1):14–26. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.12.004
- 73. Parrondo R, de Las Pozas A, Reiner T, Perez-Stable C. ABT-737, a small molecule bcl-2/Bcl-xL antagonist, increases antimitotic-mediated apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells. PeerJ (2013) 1:e144. doi: 10.7717/peerj.144
- 74. Wertheimer AM, Bennett MS, Park B, Uhrlaub JL, Martinez C, Pulko V, et al. Aging and cytomegalovirus infection differentially and jointly affect distinct circulating T cell subsets in humans. J Immunol (2014) 192(5):2143–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301721
- 75. Wilson WH, O'Connor OA, Czuczman MS, LaCasce AS, Gerecitano JF, Leonard JP, et al. Navitoclax, a targeted high-affinity inhibitor of BCL-2, in lymphoid malignancies: a phase 1 dose-

escalation study of safety, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and antitumour activity. Lancet Oncol (2010) 11(12):1149–59. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70261-8

- 76. Tolcher AW, LoRusso P, Arzt J, Busman TA, Lian G, Rudersdorf NS, et al. Safety, efficacy, and pharmacokinetics of navitoclax (ABT-263) in combination with erlotinib in patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol (2015) 76(5):1025–32. doi: 10.1007/s00280-015-2883-8
- 77. European Medicines Agency. EMA/523594/2018: European medicines agency decision P/0255/2018 2018. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/pipdecision/p/0255/2018-ema-decision-14-august-2018-granting-product-specificwaiver-navitoclax-emea-000478-pip02-18\_en.pdf.
- Camell CD, Yousefzadeh MJ, Zhu Y, Prata L, Huggins MA, Pierson M, et al. Senolytics reduce coronavirus-related mortality in old mice. Science (2021) 373(6552):eabe4832. doi: 10.1126/science.abe4832
- 79. Kirkland JL, Tchkonia T. Senolytic drugs: from discovery to translation. J Intern Med (2020) 288(5):518–36. doi: 10.1111/joim.13141
- 80. Goard CA, Schimmer AD. An evidence-based review of obatoclax mesylate in the treatment of hematological malignancies. Core Evid (2013) 8:15–26. doi: 10.2147/CE.S42568
- 81. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Approves new drug for chronic lymphocytic leukemia in patients with a specific chromosomal abnormality (2016). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fdaapproves-new-drug-chronic-lymphocytic-leukemia-patients-specificchromosomal-abnormality.
- 82. Food and Drug Administration. FDA Grants regular approval to venetoclax in combination for untreated acute myeloid leukemia. (2020). (Atlanta, GA, USA: Food and Drug Administration).
- Food and Drug Administration. FDA Approves venetoclax for CLL and SLL (2019). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approveddrugs/fda-approves-venetoclax-clland-sll.
- 84. Venclexta. (2016).
- 85. Reda G, Cassin R, Dovrtelova G, Matteo C, Giannotta J, D'Incalci M, et al. Venetoclax penetrates in cerebrospinal fluid and may be effective in chronic lymphocytic leukemia with central nervous system involvement. Haematologica (2019) 104(5):e222–e3. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.213157
- 86. Food and Drug Administration. Fact sheet for healthcare providers emergency use authorization (EUA) of baricitinib. (Atlanta, GA, USA: Food and Drug Administration) (2020).
- Farhadian SF, Mehta SS, Zografou C, Robertson K, Price RW, Pappalardo J, et al. Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals microglia-like cells in cerebrospinal fluid during virologically suppressed HIV. JCI Insight (2018) 3(18):e121718. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.121718
- Spudich S, Robertson KR, Bosch RJ, Gandhi RT, Cyktor JC, Mar H, et al. Persistent HIV-infected cells in cerebrospinal fluid are associated with poorer neurocognitive performance. J Clin Invest (2019) 129(8):3339–46. doi: 10.1172/JCI127413
- 89. Nou E, Lo J, Grinspoon SK. Inflammation, immune activation, and cardiovascular disease in HIV. Aids (2016) 30(10):1495–509. doi: 10.1097/QAD.000000000001109
- 90. Reece MD, Taylor RR, Song C, Gavegnano C. Targeting macrophage dysregulation for viral infections: Novel targets for immunomodulators. Front Immunol (2021) 12:768695. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.768695

## Chapter II: The Identification of Intact HIV Proviral DNA from Human Cerebrospinal Fluid

Monica D. Reece,<sup>1\*</sup> Zhan Zhang,<sup>1,2\*</sup> Sebastian Roa,<sup>1</sup> William Tyor,<sup>2,3</sup> Donald R. Franklin,<sup>4</sup> Scott L.

Letendre,<sup>5</sup> Vincent C. Marconi,<sup>6,7,8</sup> Albert M. Anderson,<sup>6</sup> Christina Gavegnano<sup>1,9,10,11+</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, USA <sup>2</sup>Atlanta VA Medical Center, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, <sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of California at San Diego School of Medicine, La Jolla, California, USA, <sup>5</sup>Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of California at San Diego School of Medicine, La Jolla, California, USA, <sup>6</sup>Division of Infectious Diseases, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, <sup>7</sup>Department of Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA. <sup>8</sup>Emory Vaccine Center, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, <sup>9</sup>Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, <sup>10</sup>Center for the Study of Human Health, Emory College, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, <sup>11</sup>Harvard Medical School, Center for Bioethics, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

# \* Co-first authors contributed equally

+Corresponding Author: 615 Michael St, Whitehead Biomedical Research Building, Room 135, Atlanta, GA 30322 USA. Email: christina.gavegnano@emory.edu.

> Published in Neurotherapeutics Online Ahead of Print Accepted: May 2, 2024 | Published: May 14, 2024 DOI: 10.1016/j.neurot.2024.e00373

#### **Author Contributions**

ZZ conducted IPDA measurement and statistical analysis, MDR conducted correlative and statistical analysis, ZZ and MDR contributed equally to manuscript writing, editing, figure creation and literature investigation. SR contributed to manuscript writing, literature investigation, and figure creation. VCM and WT provided conceptual contributions. DRF and SLL conducted assessment of NP tests and computation of NP scores. AMA conducted sample (CSF and PBMC) collection and NP tests with participants, preliminary statistical analysis, manuscript writing, and provided conceptual contribution. CG performed conceptual contribution as well as manuscript writing and editing.

### **Conflict of Interest**

VCM has received investigator-initiated research grants (to the institution) and consultation fees from Eli Lilly, Bayer, Gilead Sciences, and ViiV. The other authors had nothing to declare.

#### Abstract

We evaluated the HIV-1 DNA reservoir in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in people with HIV (PWH) and associations to cognitive dysfunction. Using the intact proviral DNA assay (IPDA), an emerging technique to identify provirus that may be the source of viral rebound, we assessed HIV DNA in CSF and PBMC in PWH regardless of antiretroviral therapy (ART). CSF was used as a sampling surrogate for the central nervous system (CNS) as opposed to tissue. IDPA results (3' defective, 5' defective, and intact HIV DNA) were analyzed by compartment (Wilcoxon signed rank; matched and unmatched pairs). Cognitive performance, measured via a battery of nine neuropsychological (NP) tests, were analyzed for correlation to HIV DNA (Spearman's rho). 11 CSF and 8 PBMC samples from PWH were evaluated both unmatched and matched. Total CSF HIV DNA was detectable in all participants and was significantly higher than in matched PBMCs (p=0.0039). Intact CSF

HIV DNA was detected in 7/11 participants and correlated closely with those in PBMCs but tended to be higher in CSF than in PBMC. CSF HIV DNA did not correlate with global NP performance, but higher values did correlate with worse executive function (p=0.0440). Intact HIV DNA is frequently present in the CSF of PWH regardless of ART. This further supports the presence of an HIV CNS reservoir and provides a method to study CNS reservoirs during HIV cure studies. Larger studies are needed to evaluate relationships with CNS clinical outcomes.

#### Introduction

A better understanding of HIV persistence during suppressive combination antiretroviral therapy (ART) is needed given the goal of ending the HIV epidemic. Suppression of HIV to levels of <50 copies/milliliter is achievable in most people with HIV (PWH) using current ART regimens.[1] However, HIV is not eradicated with effective ART.[2] Viral persistence results from the latency that is established shortly after infection, which is known to occur in CD4+ T-lymphocytes.[3, 4] As a result, cure of HIV has been extremely elusive.[5, 6] Furthermore, many antiretrovirals (ARVs) have much lower ARV concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) compared to plasma.[7] Dolutegravir has been shown to achieve blood-brain-barrier (BBB) penetration with a CSF concentration comparable to plasma.[8] This trend of poor BBB penetrative ability in ARVs presents an opportunity for active viral replication and reservoir expansion in the brain.

The central nervous system (CNS) has emerged as an important HIV reservoir based on an expanding body of evidence. HIV DNA is commonly found in brain tissue from deceased PWH on suppressive ART.[9-11] Extensive research support that HIV can productively infect microglia,[12] and integrated HIV DNA can be detected in astrocytes from brains of PWH despite virologic suppression.[13] Since many CNS cells such as astrocytes and microglia are long-lived, the HIV reservoir in the CNS may be particularly resistant to decay over time.[14] Viral genetic compartmentalization occurs in the brains of PWH and provides more support for an HIV CNS reservoir.[15] Assessing the HIV CNS reservoir has been

limited to examination of autopsy brain tissues, highlighting a clinical need for a method to characterize HIV impact in the CNS for living PWH.

CSF, which traverses the BBB, provides one window into CNS HIV persistence, and is commonly sampled via lumbar puncture. HIV RNA becomes detectable in the CSF approximately eight days after the estimated date of transmission,[16] indicating early CNS entry. The transactivator of transcription (Tat) HIV protein is detectable in CSF from 36.8% of individuals on suppressive ART.[17] Given its relatively short half-life, the presence of Tat indicates active HIV protein translation in the CNS. HIV persistence in the CNS has also been demonstrated by multiple reports of CSF viral escape despite peripheral viral suppression.[18, 19] HIV DNA in the setting of virologic suppression has been found in CSF cells, and this presence of HIV DNA is associated with neurocognitive impairment, showing the clinical significance of HIV CNS persistence.[20, 21] Innovative new techniques such as HIV Long Terminal Repeat sequencing have yielded detectable HIV DNA and HIV cell-associated RNA in >80% of CSF samples from PWH on ART.[22] This type of HIV CNS persistence is associated with higher neuronal damage by terminal continuation RNA amplification and the presence of cognitive dysfunction.[23]

In a recently published study, the intact proviral DNA assay (IPDA) was successfully used to quantify latent HIV DNA from postmortem brain tissue. Specifically, intact HIV DNA by IPDA was identified from frontal lobe in six of nine individuals who were virologically suppressed on ART.[10] Ideally, the IPDA could be performed with CSF samples given the need to evaluate the CNS HIV reservoir over time as well as in cure studies. We hypothesized that HIV DNA could be detected in the CSF of PWH and would be associated with increased neurocognitive dysfunction. Therefore, we performed an evaluation of the IPDA using cryopreserved CSF cell pellet samples compared to peripheral blood IPDA and then examined associations between IPDA results and neuropsychological (NP) performance. To our knowledge, these data represent the first time that reservoir quantification in the CSF via IPDA has been linked to distinct neurocognitive deficits. These data address a major unmet clinical need towards identifying the role of the persistent HIV-1 reservoir in the CNS and its role in modulation of neurocognitive

deficits and decline. The novelty of these data underscores the importance of conducting larger studies to elucidate the important relationship between the CNS reservoir, neurocognition, and eventual therapeutic interventions that may mitigate or reverse cognitive deficits in PWH.

### Methods

PWH were recruited from the Infectious Disease Program (IDP) Ponce de Leon Center, which is a comprehensive HIV clinic within the Grady Health System in Atlanta, Georgia. All PWH were diagnosed with HIV and receiving care at the IDP. Cryopreserved samples from adult PWH, regardless of ART status, enrolled in CNS studies (Emory IRB 00103851 - Viral immunocapture and isolation of virus from CSF lymphoid and myeloid cells to better understand HIV in the central nervous system[24]; Emory IRB 00039444 – Novel tools for the assessment of patients with HIV-associated cognitive impairment: an observational study) performed at the Emory Center for AIDS Research (CFAR) were used. Exclusion criteria for these studies were: 1) a history of severe neurologic and psychiatric diseases that are known to affect memory (including stroke, malignancy involving the brain, traumatic brain injury, schizophrenia, and AIDS-related opportunistic infections of the central nervous system); 2) active addictive substance use (cocaine, heroin, methamphetamine, or other non-cannabis addictive drug use in the last 30 days; cannabis use was permitted but participants were asked to abstain for 48 hours prior to testing); and 3) heavy alcohol consumption in the last 30 days (defined as >7 drinks per week for women and >14 drinks per week for men). Clinical records were reviewed for substance abuse disorders and other psychiatric and neurological diagnoses. The 30 day abstinence period of non-cannabis addictive substance use was chosen to reduce subacute to chronic changes in the brain during chronic use and after clearance. Substance use abstinence was a historical evaluation. Given participant age range (36-68, median = 53), it is unlikely that neurodegenerative diseases like Alzheimer's would affect the study population, interfering with NP assessments.

A battery of NP tests was administered that included nine tests used commonly in studies of cognition and HIV[25]: 1) Trailmaking Part A, 2) Trailmaking Part B, 3) Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised (HVLT-R) total learning, 4) HVLT-R delayed recall, 5) Grooved Pegboard (dominant), 6) Grooved Pegboard (non-dominant), 7) Stroop Color Naming, 8) Stroop Color-Word interference, and 9) Letter Fluency (Controlled Oral Word Association Test). 7 domains were tested: executive functioning (tests 2,8), memory (test 4), motor (tests 5,6), learning (test 3), processing speed (tests 1,7), attention (test 8), and fluency (test 9).[26]

Scores were adjusted for demographic characteristics (including age, biological sex, race, and education) using published norms.[27-29] A composite global mean T score (NPT-9) was then calculated by averaging individual test T scores ( $49.76 \pm 8.51$ ). Global and domains were examined.

This study was cross-sectional. Blood and CSF samples were obtained via veni and lumbar puncture at the same morning study visit. CSF was processed as per Emory CFAR and HIV Neurobehavioral Research Program (HNRP) protocols. Briefly, 10-25 milliliters (ml) of CSF were centrifuged at 300g for 15 minutes. Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) samples were prepared as previously described.[30] After removal of supernatant, fetal bovine serum and dimethyl sulfoxide were added, and the resuspended pellets were then stored in a liquid nitrogen freezer. Cryopreserved cells from CSF and (when available) matched PBMC were thawed in a 37°C water bath. Next, cells were immediately transferred to pre-warmed sterile Roswell Park Memorial Institute media. After counting and spinning down the cells, genomic DNA was extracted using the Gentra Puregene Cell kit (Qiagen). The frequency of IPDA was determined by duplex droplet digital polymerase chain reaction (ddPCR) (**Figure 1**) as validated and published by Bruner et al.[31] The multiplex PCR was performed on the Bio-Rad QX200 Digital Droplet PCR system. Up to 100 nanograms (ng) of genomic DNA extracted from CSF cell pellets, and 700 ng of genomic DNA extracted from PBMC were added to the master mix containing 2x ddPCR supermix (no dUTP, Bio-rad), primers (final concentration 900 nM), probes (final concentration 250 nM) and nuclease free water. Primer and probe sequences (5' and 3') are listed in **Table S1**.[31, 32]



## Figure 1 | Schematic Overview of Intact Proviral DNA Assay (IPDA)

Top half: Illustration of IPDA-targeted defective regions of HIV-1  $\Psi$  and Env. Bottom half: Multiplex polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based 2-dimensional plot allows for discrimination of intact proviral DNA from defective.

Primer	/Probe Name	Sequence	Fluorophore	Quencher	
	ΨF	CAGGACTCGGCTTGCTGAAG	N/A	N/A	
IPDA Ψ	ΨR	GCACCCATCTCTCTCTCTAGC	FluorophoreQuAAGN/ACTAGCN/AAGTFAMAGGCN/AAGCN/AAGCN/AAGCN/A	N/A	
	Ψ intact probe	TTTTGGCGTACTCACCAGT	FAM	MGBNFQ	
	env F	AGTGGTGCAGAGAGAAAAAAGAGC	N/A	N/A	
	env R	GTCTGGCCTGTACCGTCAGC	N/A	N/A	
IPDA env	env intact probe	CCTTGGGTTCTTGGGA	VIC	MGBNFQ	
	env hyper probe	CCTTAGGTTCTTAGGAGC	N/A	MGBNFQ	

Table S1 | Primer and Probe Sequences for Intact Proviral DNA (IPDA) Assay

F = forward; R = reverse; N/A = not available.

To ensure consistent PCR results, each sample was quantified in up to six replicates. PCR reaction droplets were prepared with the QX200 Droplet Generator. The thermal cycling program used for ddPCR reactions is in **Table S2**.

 Table S2 | Thermal Cycling Program for Droplet Digital Polymerase Chain Reaction (ddPCR)

 Reactions

Temperature	Time	Cycle
95°C	10 minutes	X 1
94°C	30 seconds	
58°C	1 minute	X 40
98°C	10 minutes	X 1
12°C	00	

The ddPCR plate was stored for at least 4 hours at 4°C prior to transfer to the QX200 droplet reader, a step which improves the quality metrics of droplets and achieves higher accepted droplet numbers per reaction. To correct for the frequency of total intact proviruses based on the DNA shearing index (DSI) during intact proviruses quantification, two sets of primers were designed for amplification of the human RPP30 gene (primers and probes listed in **Table S3**). The two regions of RPP30 gene that are targeted during multiplex PCR are spaced at the same distance as the  $\Psi$  and *env* amplicons. A previous study verified that DSI was comparable between RPP30 (RPP30-1 and RPP30-2) and HIV ( $\Psi$  and env) at all levels of shearing.[31] The Gentra Puregene Cell kit (Qiagen) was also used to limit the sheared DNA rate, and lowest DSI was 0.08.

Table S3 | Primer and Probe Sequences for Human Ribonuclear P Protein Subunit p30 (RPP30)Gene

Prime/I	Probe Name	Sequence	Fluorophore	Quencher	
ΙΡΓΙΑ	RPP30-1 F	CCATTTGCTGCTCCTTGGG	N/A	N/A	
	RPP30-1 R	CATGCAAAGGAGGAAGCCG	N/A	N/A	
KFF 50-1	RPP30-1 probe	AAGGAGCAAGGTTCTATTGTAG	FAM	MGBNFQ	
	RPP30-2 F	GATTTGGACCTGCGAGCG	N/A	N/A	
RPP30-2	RPP30-2 R	GCGGCTGTCTCCACAAGT	N/A	N/A	
101502	RPP30-2 probe	CTGACCTGAAGGCTCT	VIC	MGBNFQ	

Used for DNA shearing index [DSI] correction of intact proviral DNA assay (IDPA) results. N/A denotes not available.

Using two amplicons and hypermutations discrimination probes, the intact ( $\Psi$ +env+) and defective proviruses ( $\Psi$ +env- or  $\Psi$ -env+) were distributed into different quadrants (Qs) of the 2-dimensional amplitude ddPCR plots (**Figure 1**). Droplets in Q1 contain proviral genomes including an APOBEC-3Gedited hypermutation or 3' deletion and gave out a fluorescence signal (FAM) arising from an intact  $\Psi$ amplicon amplification. Q4, diagonally opposite to Q1, represents an intact *env* region with a deletion towards the 5' encompassing  $\Psi$  region. Droplets that contain the intact proviral genome are located in Q2. Droplets that contain double defective regions or are not occupied with target proviral genomes are distributed in Q3.

For the statistical analyses, HIV DNA was quantified as copies per 10<sup>6</sup> PBMC. Normality was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Given that the HIV DNA results did not meet assumptions of normality, the comparison between HIV DNA levels by compartment was performed with Wilcoxon signed rank for matched pairs and Wilcoxon rank sum for non-matched pairs. Correlations between HIV DNA and NP scores were performed with Spearman's rho. Statistical analyses were performed with SAS JMP (Cary, NC) as well as GraphPad Prism v10.0.2 (San Diego, CA). The study was approved by the Emory University Institutional Review Board and all participants provided informed consent.

## Results

There were 11 PWH (median age = 53 years) with a long history of HIV (median estimated duration = 138 months), see **Table 1**. Eight were men, two were women, and one was transgender man to woman. With respect to comorbidities, five had hypertension, four had depression, and two had chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Seven participants were on stable ART for at least six months with plasma and CSF HIV RNA <40 copies/ml at the time of assessment, while four were not on ART with median 45,708.8 copies/ml at the time of assessment. Median absolute CD4+ T-cell count from blood was 260 cells/microliter while median CD4+ T-cell percentage was 24%. Mean NPT-9 was 49.5 (standard deviation = 8.1).

PID	Age (years)	Sex	Race	ARV Therapy	Nadir CD4	CD4 Count	<b>CSF WBC</b>	CSF RBC	Plasma HIV log10	CSF HIV log10	6-TAN
124	54	F	AA	BIC, TAF, FTC	82	411	2	120	<1.60	<1.60	41.89
127	47	М	AA	FTC/TDF, DRV, COBI	NA	1434	5	1	<1.60	<1.60	42.00
130	58	MtF	AA	DTG, ABC, 3TC	22	364	1	2	<1.60	<1.60	57.67
132	56	М	AA	ATV, COBI, TAF, FTC	18	194	0	0	<1.60	<1.60	55.89
138	47	М	W	BIC, TAF, 3TC	11	730	0	0	<1.60	<1.60	50.22
139	68	М	W	DTG, ABC, 3TC	NA	245	2	2	<1.60	<1.60	42.33
142	40	М	AA	TAF, BIC, FTC*	81	325	0	13	4.68	3.21	56.11
711	36	М	AA	Naïve	13	51	0	0	4.64	1.61	51.77
717	53	F	AA	Naive	89	89	0	0	5.68	4.22	36.99
733	55	М	W	Naïve	153	153	0	0	3.68	3.13	47.44
746	50	М	AA	FTC/TDF, FPV, RTV	9	260	0	0	<1.60	<1.60	62.70

 Table 1 | Demographic/Disease Characteristics of Participants

Nadir CD4, CD4 Count, WBC, and RBC are reported in cells/microliter. PID = patient identification; ARV = anti-retroviral; BIC = bictegravir 50mg once daily; TAF = tenofovir alafenamide 10-25mg once daily; FTC = emtricitabine 200mg once daily; FTC/TDF = Truvada (emtricitabine/tenofovir disoproxil fumarate) 1 200-300mg tablet once daily; DRV = darunavir 800mg once daily; COBI = cobicistat 150mg once daily; DTG = dolutegravir 50mg once daily; ABC = abacavir 600mg once daily; 3TC = lamivudine 300mg once daily; ATV = atazanavir 300mg once daily; RTV = ritonavir 100mg once-twice daily; FPV = fosamprenavir 700mg twice daily; M = male; F = female; MtF = transgender male to female; AA = African American; W = White; CSF = cerebrospinal fluid; WBC = white blood cell; RBC = red blood cell; NPT-9 = neuropsychological composite global T score. \* denotes PWH recently (<6 months) began ARV therapy and was not virally suppressed at time of draw.

Of the 11 participants, eight had matching PBMC for analysis. Total HIV DNA was detected in all CSF and PBMC specimens (**Table 2**). For the eight matched pairs, median total CSF HIV DNA was  $8.29 \times 10^4$  copies per  $10^6$  cells (Interquartile range [IQR]=  $6.75 \times 10^3 - 3.06 \times 10^5$ ). This was significantly higher (P = 0.0039) than in blood (median=  $5.06 \times 10^3$ , IQR =  $2.00 \times 10^3 - 1.15 \times 10^4$ ). This total HIV DNA difference remained significant compared to PBMC (P=0.0006) when all 11 CSF samples were included (median=  $1.11 \times 10^5$ , IQR=  $6.75 \times 10^3 - 3.47 \times 10^5$ ).

Participant ID	CSF Total HIV DNA	CSF Intact HIV DNA	CSF 3' Defective HIV DNA	CSF 5' Defective HIV DNA	CSF% Intact	Plasma Total HIV DNA	Plasma Intact HIV DNA	Plasma 3'Defective HIV DNA	Plasma 5'Defective HIV DNA	Plasma % Intact
124	1.88E+05	4.81E+03	1.04E+05	7.93E+04	2.55%	7.54E+03	1.69E+02	3.48E+03	3.90E+03	2.25%
127	6.75E+03	ND	3.64E+03	3.11E+03	0.00%	2.58E+03	9.16E+01	1.17E+03	1.32E+03	3.55%
130	5.47E+04	1.55E+03	3.08E+04	2.23E+04	2.83%	2.00E+03	1.62E+02	1.06E+03	7.85E+02	8.06%
132	1.69E+05	6.37E+03	9.12E+04	7.12E+04	3.77%	9.15E+03	1.88E+02	7.57E+03	1.39E+03	2.05%
138	1.84E+04	2.87E+02	1.15E+04	6.61E+03	1.56%	9.13E+03	2.12E+02	5.33E+03	3.59E+03	2.32%
139	1.11E+05	1.92E+03	6.59E+04	4.32E+04	1.73%	1.15E+04	5.78E+02	6.46E+03	4.47E+03	5.02%
142	7.67E+03	ND	3.89E+03	3.78E+03	0.00%	2.00E+03	8.13E+00	1.20E+03	7.90E+02	0.41%
711	3.06E+05	ND	3.05E+05	5.58E+02	0.00%	2.23E+03	1.15E+01	1.92E+03	3.02E+02	0.52%
717	3.47E+05	ND	3.45E+05	1.68E+03	0.00%					
733	1.74E+05	3.54E+03	9.74E+04	7.27E+04	2.04%					
746	9.19E+04	1.95E+03	5.32E+04	3.67E+04	2.12%					

 Table 2 | Reservoir (HIV DNA) Measurements in Copies/ 10<sup>6</sup> Cells

ND= not detected (0 copies); CSF = cerebrospinal fluid.

Intact HIV IPDA was detected in seven of 11 CSF samples (median=1950 copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells, IQR= 287 – 6370) (**Figure 2A**) and in eight of eight PBMC samples (median=165.5 copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC, IQR= 8.31 – 578) (P=0.1 for comparison of detectability). Overall, the median proportions of intact (PBMC = 2.285%, CSF = 1.73%),  $\Psi$ +env- (PBMC = 57.26%, CSF = 56.31%), and  $\Psi$ -env+ HIV DNA (PBMC = 39.21%, CSF = 40.86%) were similar between compartments (**Figure 2B**).



Figure 2 | Detection and Proportion of Intact Provirus

Intact proviral HIV DNA was detected in 7 of 11 people with HIV (PWH) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) with a median of 1950 copies/10<sup>6</sup> cells (IQR = 287 – 6370). **B**) Median percentages of intact (peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) = 2.285%, CSF = 1.73%),  $\Psi$ +env- (PBMC = 57.26%, CSF = 56.31%), and  $\Psi$ -env+ HIV DNA (PBMC = 39.21%, CSF = 40.86%) were similar between PBMC from blood (top) and CSF (bottom).

For the eight matched pairs, median CSF intact IPDA was  $9.19 \times 10^2$  per  $10^6$  cells (IQR =  $0 - 6.37 \times 10^3$ ) while median blood intact IPDA was  $1.66 \times 10^2$  per  $10^6$  cells (IQR= $8.13 \times 10^0 - 5.78 \times 10^2$ ), trending higher in CSF (P = 0.0742). However, when all CSF samples were included, the median CSF IPDA was

1.55x10<sup>3</sup> (IQR= 0 – 6.37 x10<sup>3</sup>), resulting in no significant difference from PBMC. In matched pairs, 3' defective ( $\Psi$ +env-) (median = 4.84 x10<sup>4</sup>; IQR = 3.64 x10<sup>3</sup> – 3.05 x10<sup>5</sup>) and 5' defective ( $\Psi$ -env+) (median = 4.45 x10<sup>4</sup>; IQR = 558 – 7.93 x10<sup>4</sup>) HIV DNA in the CSF was significantly higher than 3' defective (median = 2.70 x10<sup>3</sup>; IQR = 1.06 x10<sup>3</sup> – 7.57 x10<sup>3</sup>) and 5' defective (median = 1.36 x10<sup>3</sup>; IQR = 302 – 4.47 x10<sup>3</sup>) HIV DNA in PBMC (P=0.0039, 0.0039 respectively). This observation also occurred in unmatched pairs where 3' defective (median = 6.59 x10<sup>4</sup>; IQR = 3.64 x10<sup>3</sup> – 3.45 x10<sup>5</sup>) and 5' defective (median = 2.23 x10<sup>4</sup>; IQR = 558 – 7.93 x10<sup>4</sup>) HIV DNA in the CSF was significantly higher than 3' defective (median = 2.70 x10<sup>3</sup>; IQR = 1.06 x10<sup>3</sup> – 7.57 x10<sup>3</sup>) and 5' defective (median = 1.36 x10<sup>5</sup>) and 5' defective (median = 2.70 x10<sup>3</sup>; IQR = 1.06 x10<sup>3</sup> – 7.57 x10<sup>3</sup>) and 5' defective (median = 1.36 x10<sup>3</sup>; IQR = 302 – 4.47 x10<sup>3</sup>) HIV DNA in PBMC (P=0.0004, 0.0079 respectively). Frequency of 3' defective, 5' defective, and total HIV DNA were all significantly higher in CSF than PBMC in both unmatched (Wilcoxon rank sum, one-tailed,  $\alpha$ =0.05) and matched pairs (Wilcoxon signed rank for matched pairs, one-tailed,  $\alpha$ =0.05) (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3 | Frequencies of Total, Defective, and Intact Provirus in the CSF and PBMC

Frequencies of total, 3' defective ( $\Psi$ +env-), and 5' defective ( $\Psi$ -env+) proviral HIV DNA were all significantly (p<0.05) higher in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) than peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) in both **A**) unmatched pairs (CSF n=11, PBMC n=8) and **B**) matched pairs (n=8). Intact proviral DNA was trending toward higher in CSF than PBMC in matched pairs (0.05<p<0.1). Wilcoxon signed rank for unmatched pairs and Wilcoxon signed rank for matched pairs, one-tailed, comparisons performed with GraphPad Prism v10.0.2,  $\alpha$ =0.05.

Some but not all HIV DNA results correlated between blood and CSF. Specifically, intact IPDA correlated significantly between the two compartments (rho = 0.7075, P = 0.032), as did 5' defective HIV DNA (rho = 0.6905, P = 0.0347). Meanwhile, neither 3' defective HIV DNA (rho = 0.4286, P = 0.1496) nor total HIV DNA (rho = 0.2395, P = 0.2820) correlated significantly between compartments. With respect to virologic suppression, total HIV DNA tended to be higher (P = 0.0547 for CSF and P = 0.0705 for blood) in those virologically suppressed on ART versus those not receiving ART. 3' defective CSF HIV DNA levels were significantly lower in those on ART versus not receiving ART (P = 0.0284). For

neuropsychological performance, global and domains were examined. There was no significant difference in NPT-9 for those with detectable CSF IPDA versus undetectable CSF IPDA (P=0.5). There was no significant correlation between NPT-9 and levels of CSF HIV DNA (intact or defective, all P >0.2). However, higher CSF total HIV DNA tended to correlate with worse executive function. Specifically, a lower executive function T score was associated with both higher CSF 3' defective HIV DNA (rho = -0.63, P = 0.044) and higher CSF total HIV DNA (rho = -0.63, P = 0.044), (**Figure 4**).



#### Figure 4 | Provirus in the CSF Correlates with Worse Executive Function

Executive function scores with practice in virally suppressed people with HIV negatively correlate to both total and 3' defective HIV proviral DNA copies per  $10^6$  cells in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (determined via intact proviral DNA assay (IPDA)). Correlations performed via Spearman's rho using Graphpad Prism v10.0.2 ( $\alpha$ =0.05).

## Discussion

Despite the successes of ART, HIV cure remains extremely difficult to achieve. HIV persists in the CNS, and clinical complications such as HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder (HAND) continue to occur.[33] Therefore, more research is needed to better understand the HIV CNS reservoir. The CSF is the most accessible part of the CNS. Previous studies have shown that HIV DNA is frequently detected from CSF cells and is associated with deleterious consequences such as cognitive impairment and neuronal damage.[20, 22] However, previously published studies did not measure IPDA in CSF. Therefore, it was

previously unclear if HIV DNA in CSF might be intact. The advent of IPDA has advanced HIV persistence research by offering scalability and accessibility advantages over existing approaches. Quantitative Viral Outgrowth Assay (QVOA) measures viral RNA and protein expression in latently infected T cells, but this assay is labor-intensive and requires significant cell numbers.[34] QVOA also may underestimate the size of the replication-competent virus reservoir, as single round T-cell stimulation does not reactivate the majority of latent proviruses *in vitro*.

The intact HIV proviral DNA assay (IPDA) was developed due to these logistical challenges of the QVOA.[31] Briefly, IPDA uses ddPCR and targets two regions of provirus: the Packaging Signal [ $\Psi$ ] near the 5' end of the viral genome and the Rev Responsive Element (RRE) within the envelope (*env*) gene towards the 3' end. The assay defines intact proviruses by a lack of fatal defects, specifically large deletions in the 50 region of  $\Psi$  as well as APOBEC3G-mediated hypermutations or deletions in the RRE. This distinguishes genomically intact proviral sequences from defective ones.

Analysis of near full genome sequencing (nFGS) data in a previous study revealed that strategically positioned amplicons in the packaging signal ( $\Psi$ ) and env regions collectively identified over 90% of deleted proviruses as defective. Identifying hypermutated proviruses is also crucial. Among these, 73% exhibit mutations in the GG $\rightarrow$ AG context. Additionally, most show GA $\rightarrow$ AA mutations. Only 27% of hypermutated proviruses exclusively display GA $\rightarrow$ AA mutations, with many also featuring deletions. Consequently, attention shifted to GG $\rightarrow$ AG hypermutation. Researchers pinpointed a conserved region in the Rev-response element (RRE) with neighboring consensus sites (TGGG) for the enzyme APOBEC3G. Among sequences with GG $\rightarrow$ AG hypermutation, 97% showcase one or more mutations in this region, spanning 13 distinct patterns. By utilizing mutant plasmids carrying each pattern, they developed allelic discrimination probes that accurately identify 95% of hypermutated sequences as defective.[31]

A recent study by Brad Jones's group highlighted that HIV sequence polymorphism might contribute to IPDA detection failure. To overcome this challenge, the group devised a secondary set of primers/probes to accommodate the diversity in HIV sequences. However, incorporating more than two sets of primers/probes into the current QX200 Droplet Digital PCR system, which only features two fluorescence channels (FAM and HEX), poses a significant challenge due to the complexity of multiplexed digital PCR assays. [32]

The polymorphism results in oligonucleotide-template mismatches, leading to reduced fluorescent amplitude on 2D scatter plots. Nevertheless, in certain instances, specific mismatches can be tolerated. Unlike real-time PCR, which tracks the effectiveness of each amplification cycle, digital droplet PCR primarily focuses on generating quantitative data at the end-point of PCR amplification. Consequently, even lower amplitude signals can still be considered positive, provided they adequately separate from the negative cluster.

We acknowledge the necessity to conduct a comprehensive analysis covering both 5' and 3' hypermutation and deletion. Notably, analysis of nFGS data indicated a notably low frequency (<3.8%) of proviruses carrying defective DNA sequences on both IPDA-targeted amplicons ( $\Psi$ -env-).

In multiple studies, IPDA results from blood correlated significantly with QVOA results from blood.[31, 35] In the current study, our group used the IPDA to identify HIV DNA from cryopreserved CSF cell pellets and to differentiate intact versus defective virus. CSF HIV DNA was detectable in all samples. While this yield is higher than some published studies,[20, 21] newer technologies have yielded detectable CSF HIV DNA in upwards of 80% of PWH on ART,[22] meaning that this may become a more common finding with the development and refinement of technology. We acknowledge that some of the participants in the current study were either not on ART or were on ART <2 years. Multiple studies have shown that the HIV reservoir in the blood continues to decay years after ART initiation, including studies identifying slow decay in intact HIV DNA.[35-37] The same may be true for the CNS, such that our results may have been different if all participants were on suppressive ART and for a longer period of time. We found that total HIV DNA levels were higher in CSF compared to blood. This finding is consistent with other studies[20, 22] and may be due to the fact that CSF lymphocytes appear more likely to be positive for CCR5, the major co-receptor for HIV.[22] Therefore, these lymphocytes may be more susceptible to HIV

infection and the establishment of viral latency. In addition, most antiretrovirals have >10-fold less penetration into the brain, resulting in a sanctuary for HIV.[38] Though not statistically significant, we also found that IPDA was slightly less likely to be detected from CSF than from blood, but these levels tended to be higher from CSF than blood when detectable. These findings may be multifactorial. One reason for the lower detectability is the difference in sheer abundance of lymphocytes and other HIV-susceptible mononuclear cells in CSF compared to blood in PWH.[39] Also, the vast majority of lymphocytes in general do not harbor intact HIV.[40] Thus, there are fewer scenarios in which latently infected lymphocytes would be found. Notably, limiting dilution assays have validated that quantitation of HIV DNA may not be substantially distorted by the low numbers of cells analyzed.[10, 20] However, the amount of IPDA per cell might actually be higher in CSF given the enrichment of the CCR5 co-receptor among CSF lymphocytes. CSF lymphocytes in PWH are also more likely to be CXCR3+, especially in viremic individuals, again possibly increasing their susceptibility to HIV infection.[41, 42] CSF lymphocytes (and potentially monocytes and microglia-like cells that have been found in CSF) have many other differences compared to blood lymphocytes based on single cell transcriptomics.[43, 44]

We acknowledge that the current study had a small number of participants, and it is possible that the results may have differed with a larger cohort. We did not find significant associations with overall cognition (NPT-9), but the study was likely underpowered to detect significant associations in this regard. We did find a statistically significant correlation between higher 3' defective HIV DNA in the CSF and worse executive function. While not statistically significant (P=0.0562), we also observed a negative correlation between higher total and 3' defective HIV DNA in the CSF and learning scores. In comparison, we observed non-statistically significant (P=0.0595) negative correlations between learning and memory scores and total HIV DNA copies per million PBMC in the plasma (**Figure 5**), highlighting a potential link between HIV in the periphery and CNS.



Figure 5 | Trending Correlations Between Provirus and Worse Learning and Memory

Learning scores with practice in virally suppressed people with HIV (PWH) trend (p=0.0562) toward negative correlation to both total and 3' defective HIV proviral DNA copies per  $10^6$  cells in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (determined via intact proviral DNA assay (IPDA)). Learning and memory scores with practice in virally suppressed PWH trend (p=0.0595) toward negative correlation to total HIV proviral DNA copies per  $10^6$  peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). Correlations performed via Spearman's rho using GraphPad Prism v10.0.2 ( $\alpha$ =0.05).

It is possible that peripherally infected cells traffic into the CNS, infecting resident CNS cells to establish a viral reservoir that contributes to neurocognitive deficits (**Figure 6**). Given that defective HIV DNA can still be the source of viral proteins,[45] CNS HIV DNA may not need to be intact to be detrimental to cognition and other CNS functions. Lastly, the finding that intact and 5' defective CSF HIV DNA levels were higher among participants with virologic suppression is surprising. However, HIV reservoir size varies

widely among PWH.[46] Therefore, the current study may simply reflect that the participants on ART happened to have larger HIV reservoirs. Interestingly, the study of IPDA in human brain tissue showed that levels of intact HIV DNA tended to be higher in individuals on ART.[10]



#### Figure 6 | Potential Route of CNS Reservoir Establishment

Proposed trafficking of peripherally infected cells into the central nervous system (CNS), infecting resident CNS cells and establishing the CNS as a viral reservoir which may lead to the development of neurocognitive deficits. Created with BioRender.

We acknowledge that IPDA has limitations as well. Recent studies have demonstrated that HIV sequence polymorphism may cause IPDA detection failure.[32] To address the detection failure, groups have designed secondary primers/probes to rescue the HIV sequence diversity. Due to the complexity of multiplexed digital PCR assays, however, introducing more than two sets of primers/probes to the current QX200 Droplet Digital PCR system can be challenging since the instrument only contains two fluorescence channels (FAM and HEX). The polymorphism causes oligonucleotides-template mismatch, which leads to reduced fluorescent amplitude on 2D scatter plots. However, in some cases, certain mismatches can be tolerated. Instead of tracking the effectiveness of each amplification cycle from real-time PCR, digital

droplet PCR focuses on generating quantitative data at the endpoint of PCR amplification. Therefore, the lower amplitude signal can still be scored as positive, provided it sufficiently partitions from the negative cluster. Other refinements of the approach may be beneficial. One potential refinement will be the use of high-throughput CSF techniques such as fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS).[39, 47] This may allow for the identification of small cellular subsets that harbor the highest frequency of IPDA.

The current study provides further evidence that the CNS is an HIV reservoir and provides a rationale for larger studies comparing replication competent virus across compartments to fully elucidate the role of each compartment and its contribution to neurocognitive impairment in PWH.

### Acknowledgments

In respectful and loving memoriam of Dr. Albert "Bert" Anderson, who contributed heavily to intellectual conception, interpretation, and shaping of this work, which is harmonious with his long career of understanding the CNS HIV reservoir and its impact on the cognitive behaviors and health of people living with HIV.

## Funding

The authors gratefully acknowledge funding from the National Institute on Aging (R01AG062387 to AMA), the National Institute of Mental Health (R01MH128872 to AMA; R01MH128158 to AMA, CG, WT, and VCM), Antimicrobial Resistance and Therapeutic Discovery Training Program, NIH grant number 5T32AI106699, as well as the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30AI050409 to CG). Our funding sources had no involvement in study design, collection, analysis, or interpretation of data, writing of the report, or decision to submit the article for publication.

### References

- 1. Gill VS, Lima VD, Zhang W, Wynhoven B, Yip B, Hogg RS, et al. Improved virological outcomes in British Columbia concomitant with decreasing incidence of HIV type 1 drug resistance detection. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(1):98-105.
- 2. Sigal A, Baltimore D. As good as it gets? The problem of HIV persistence despite antiretroviral drugs. Cell Host Microbe. 2012;12(2):132-8.
- 3. Finzi D, Hermankova M, Pierson T, Carruth LM, Buck C, Chaisson RE, et al. Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. Science. 1997;278(5341):1295-300.
- Wong JK, Hezareh M, Gunthard HF, Havlir DV, Ignacio CC, Spina CA, et al. Recovery of replication-competent HIV despite prolonged suppression of plasma viremia. Science. 1997;278(5341):1291-5.
- Gupta RK, Abdul-Jawad S, McCoy LE, Mok HP, Peppa D, Salgado M, et al. HIV-1 remission following CCR5Delta32/Delta32 haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. Nature. 2019;568(7751):244-8.
- 6. Hutter G, Nowak D, Mossner M, Ganepola S, Mussig A, Allers K, et al. Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(7):692-8.
- 7. Osborne O, Peyravian N, Nair M, Daunert S, Toborek M. The Paradox of HIV Blood-Brain Barrier Penetrance and Antiretroviral Drug Delivery Deficiencies. Trends Neurosci. 2020;43(9):695-708.
- Letendre SL, Mills AM, Tashima KT, Thomas DA, Min SS, Chen S, et al. ING116070: a study of the pharmacokinetics and antiviral activity of dolutegravir in cerebrospinal fluid in HIV-1-infected, antiretroviral therapy-naive subjects. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(7):1032-7.
- Lamers SL, Rose R, Maidji E, Agsalda-Garcia M, Nolan DJ, Fogel GB, et al. HIV DNA Is Frequently Present within Pathologic Tissues Evaluated at Autopsy from Combined Antiretroviral Therapy-Treated Patients with Undetectable Viral Loads. Journal of virology. 2016;90(20):8968-83.
- Cochrane CR, Angelovich TA, Byrnes SJ, Waring E, Guanizo AC, Trollope GS, et al. Intact HIV Proviruses Persist in the Brain Despite Viral Suppression with ART. Ann Neurol. 2022;92(4):532-44.
- 11. Gabuzda D, Yin J, Misra V, Chettimada S, Gelman BB. Intact Proviral DNA Analysis of the Brain Viral Reservoir and Relationship to Neuroinflammation in People with HIV on Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. Viruses. 2023;15(4).
- 12. Wiley CA, Achim CL, Christopherson C, Kidane Y, Kwok S, Masliah E, et al. HIV mediates a productive infection of the brain. Aids. 1999;13(15):2055-9.
- 13. Lutgen V, Narasipura SD, Barbian HJ, Richards M, Wallace J, Razmpour R, et al. HIV infects astrocytes in vivo and egresses from the brain to the periphery. PLoS pathogens. 2020;16(6):e1008381.
- 14. Marban C, Forouzanfar F, Ait-Ammar A, Fahmi F, El Mekdad H, Daouad F, et al. Targeting the Brain Reservoirs: Toward an HIV Cure. Frontiers in immunology. 2016;7:397.
- 15. Power C, McArthur JC, Johnson RT, Griffin DE, Glass JD, Perryman S, et al. Demented and nondemented patients with AIDS differ in brain-derived human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope sequences. Journal of virology. 1994;68(7):4643-49.
- 16. Valcour V, Chalermchai T, Sailasuta N, Marovich M, Lerdlum S, Suttichom D, et al. Central nervous system viral invasion and inflammation during acute HIV infection. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2012;206(2):275-82.
- 17. Henderson LJ, Johnson TP, Smith BR, Reoma LB, Santamaria UA, Bachani M, et al. Presence of Tat and transactivation response element in spinal fluid despite antiretroviral therapy. Aids. 2019;33 Suppl 2:S145-S57.

- Canestri A, Lescure FX, Jaureguiberry S, Moulignier A, Amiel C, Marcelin AG, et al. Discordance between cerebral spinal fluid and plasma HIV replication in patients with neurological symptoms who are receiving suppressive antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(5):773-8.
- 19. Peluso MJ, Ferretti F, Peterson J, Lee E, Fuchs D, Boschini A, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid HIV escape associated with progressive neurologic dysfunction in patients on antiretroviral therapy with well controlled plasma viral load. Aids. 2012;26(14):1765-74.
- 20. Spudich S, Robertson KR, Bosch RJ, Gandhi RT, Cyktor JC, Mar H, et al. Persistent HIV-infected cells in cerebrospinal fluid are associated with poorer neurocognitive performance. J Clin Invest. 2019;129(8):3339-46.
- 21. Oliveira MF, Chaillon A, Nakazawa M, Vargas M, Letendre SL, Strain MC, et al. Early Antiretroviral Therapy Is Associated with Lower HIV DNA Molecular Diversity and Lower Inflammation in Cerebrospinal Fluid but Does Not Prevent the Establishment of Compartmentalized HIV DNA Populations. PLoS pathogens. 2017;13(1):e1006112.
- 22. Suzuki K, Zaunders J, Gates TM, Levert A, Butterly S, Liu Z, et al. Elevation of cell-associated HIV-1 transcripts in CSF CD4+ T cells, despite effective antiretroviral therapy, is linked to brain injury. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2022;119(48):e2210584119.
- Ginsberg SD, Alldred MJ, Gunnam SM, Schiroli C, Lee SH, Morgello S, et al. Expression profiling suggests microglial impairment in human immunodeficiency virus neuropathogenesis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83(2):406-17.
- 24. Anderson AM, Lennox JL, Nguyen ML, Waldrop-Valverde D, Tyor WR, Loring DW. Preliminary study of a novel cognitive assessment device for the evaluation of HIV-associated neurocognitive impairment. J Neurovirol. 2016;22(6):816-22.
- 25. Robertson K, Yosief S. Neurocognitive assessment in the diagnosis of HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders. Semin Neurol. 2014;34(1):21-6.
- Moore RC, Kuehn KS, Heaton A, Sundermann EE, Campbell LM, Torre P, et al. An Automated Virtual Reality Program Accurately Diagnoses HIV-Associated Neurocognitive Disorders in Older People With HIV. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2023;10(12):ofad592.
- 27. Heaton RK, Miller SW, Taylor MJ, Grant I. Revised Comprehensive norms for an expanded Halstead- Reitan Battery: Demographically adjusted neuropsycho- logical norms for African American and Caucasian adults scoring program (2004).2004.
- Norman MA, Moore DJ, Taylor M, Franklin D, Jr., Cysique L, Ake C, et al. Demographically corrected norms for African Americans and Caucasians on the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised, Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised, Stroop Color and Word Test, and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test 64-Card Version. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2011;33(7):793-804.
- 29. Cysique LA, Franklin D, Jr., Abramson I, Ellis RJ, Letendre S, Collier A, et al. Normative data and validation of a regression based summary score for assessing meaningful neuropsychological change. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2011;33(5):505-22.
- 30. Marconi VC, Moser C, Gavegnano C, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Overton ET, et al. Randomized trial of ruxolitinib in antiretroviral-treated adults with human immunodeficiency virus. Clin Infect Dis 2022;74(1):95-104.
- 31. Bruner KM, Wang Z, Simonetti FR, Bender AM, Kwon KJ, Sengupta S, et al. A quantitative approach for measuring the reservoir of latent HIV-1 proviruses. Nature. 2019;566(7742):120-5.
- 32. Kinloch NN, Ren Y, Conce Alberto WD, Dong W, Khadka P, Huang SH, et al. HIV-1 diversity considerations in the application of the Intact Proviral DNA Assay (IPDA). Nat Commun. 2021;12(1):165.
- Heaton RK, Clifford DB, Franklin DR, Jr., Woods SP, Ake C, Vaida F, et al. HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders persist in the era of potent antiretroviral therapy: CHARTER Study. Neurology. 2010;75(23):2087-96.
- 34. Sharaf RR, Li JZ. The Alphabet Soup of HIV Reservoir Markers. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2017;14(2):72-81.

- 35. Falcinelli SD, Kilpatrick KW, Read J, Murtagh R, Allard B, Ghofrani S, et al. Longitudinal Dynamics of Intact HIV Proviral DNA and Outgrowth Virus Frequencies in a Cohort of Individuals Receiving Antiretroviral Therapy. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2021;224(1):92-100.
- Besson GJ, Lalama CM, Bosch RJ, Gandhi RT, Bedison MA, Aga E, et al. HIV-1 DNA decay dynamics in blood during more than a decade of suppressive antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(9):1312-21.
- Henrich TJ, Hanhauser E, Marty FM, Sirignano MN, Keating S, Lee TH, et al. Antiretroviral-free HIV-1 remission and viral rebound after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: report of 2 cases. Annals of internal medicine. 2014;161(5):319-27.
- 38. Srinivas N, Rosen EP, Gilliland WM, Jr., Kovarova M, Remling-Mulder L, De La Cruz G, et al. Antiretroviral concentrations and surrogate measures of efficacy in the brain tissue and CSF of preclinical species. Xenobiotica. 2019;49(10):1192-201.
- 39. Amundson B, Lai L, Mulligan MJ, Xu Y, Zheng Z, Kundu S, et al. Distinct cellular immune properties in cerebrospinal fluid are associated with cognition in HIV-infected individuals initiating antiretroviral therapy. J Neuroimmunol. 2020;344:577246.
- 40. Ndung'u T, McCune JM, Deeks SG. Why and where an HIV cure is needed and how it might be achieved. Nature. 2019;576(7787):397-405.
- Suzuki K, Levert A, Yeung J, Starr M, Cameron J, Williams R, et al. HIV-1 viral blips are associated with repeated and increasingly high levels of cell-associated HIV-1 RNA transcriptional activity. Aids 2021;35(13):2095-103.
- 42. Banga R, Procopio FA, Ruggiero A, Noto A, Ohmiti K, Cavassini M, et al. Blood CXCR3(+) CD4 T Cells Are Enriched in Inducible Replication Competent HIV in Aviremic Antiretroviral Therapy-Treated Individuals. Frontiers in immunology. 2018;9:144.
- 43. Farhadian SF, Lindenbaum O, Zhao J, Corley MJ, Im Y, Walsh H, et al. HIV viral transcription and immune perturbations in the CNS of people with HIV despite ART. JCI Insight. 2022;7(13).
- Farhadian SF, Mehta SS, Zografou C, Robertson K, Price RW, Pappalardo J, et al. Single-cell RNA sequencing reveals microglia-like cells in cerebrospinal fluid during virologically suppressed HIV. JCI Insight. 2018;3(18).
- 45. Imamichi H, Smith M, Adelsberger JW, Izumi T, Scrimieri F, Sherman BT, et al. Defective HIV-1 proviruses produce viral proteins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2020;117(7):3704-10.
- Peluso MJ, Bacchetti P, Ritter KD, Beg S, Lai J, Martin JN, et al. Differential decay of intact and defective proviral DNA in HIV-1-infected individuals on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. JCI Insight. 2020;5(4).
- 47. Ho EL, Ronquillo R, Altmeppen H, Spudich SS, Price RW, Sinclair E. Cellular Composition of Cerebrospinal Fluid in HIV-1 Infected and Uninfected Subjects. PloS one. 2013;8(6):e66188.

#### Chapter III: Ruxolitinib-Mediated HIV-1 Reservoir Decay in A5336 Phase 2a Trial

Monica D. Reece<sup>1</sup>, Zhan Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Ruy M. Ribeiro<sup>2</sup>, Susan Pereira Ribeiro<sup>1</sup>, Deanna A. Kulpa<sup>1</sup>, Erick

White<sup>1,3</sup>, Jack Yoon<sup>4,5</sup>, Ruby R. Taylor<sup>6,7</sup>, Jeffrey J. Lennox<sup>6</sup>, Vincent C. Marconi<sup>8,9,10,11</sup>, Christina

Gavegnano 1,10,12,13,14†

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>2</sup>Theoretical Biology and Biophysics Group, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos NM, USA <sup>3</sup>Department of Integrative Biology, Oregon State University, Corvallis OR, USA <sup>4</sup>Laboratory of Biochemical Pharmacology, Department of Pediatrics, Emory University, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>5</sup>Center for ViroScience and Cure, Laboratory of Biochemical Pharmacology, Department of Pediatrics, Emory University, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>6</sup>Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>7</sup>Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, Miami FL, USA <sup>8</sup>Division of Infectious Diseases, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>9</sup>Department of Global Health, Rollins School for Public Health, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>10</sup>Atlanta Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Decatur GA, USA <sup>11</sup>Emory Vaccine Center, Emory University, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>12</sup>Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, Emory University, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>13</sup>Center for Human Health, Emory University, Atlanta GA, USA <sup>14</sup>Center for Bioethics, Harvard Medical School, Boston MA, USA

<sup>†</sup> Corresponding Author: 615 Michael St, Whitehead Biomedical Research Building, Room 135, Atlanta, GA 30322 USA. Email: <u>christina.gavegnano@emory.edu</u>.

#### **Author Contributions**

CG, VCM, JJL, and CM developed the concept and designed the study. MDR, RMR, SPR, and CM verified data and performed statistical analyses. SPR and RPS provided input on statistical analyses. DAK designed flow cytometry panels. EW and RRT executed and analyzed flow cytometry panels. MDR performed flow cytometry gating. ZZ and JY performed molecular assays including IPDA and Alu PCR. MDR and RMR performed data visualization. MDR wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. All authors provided critical comments and editing, contributed to data interpretation, reviewed analyses of this manuscript, and approved its final version.

## **Conflict of Interest**

VCM has received investigator-initiated research grants (to the institution) and consultation fees from Eli Lilly, Bayer, Gilead Sciences, Merck, and ViiV. VCM has received funding support from the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30AI050409) for work related to this manuscript. Emory University and Christina Gavegnano are co-inventors for the method of use of Jak inhibitors for retroviral and other viral infections.

## Abstract

We evaluated ruxolitinib's impact on the peripheral HIV-1 reservoir and immunomodulatory events driving persistence in people with HIV-1 (PWH) enrolled in ACTG A5336, an open-label randomized Phase 2a multi-site clinical trial. Participants (18-75 years old, on ART  $\geq$ 2 years, virologically suppressed, CD4<sup>+</sup> count >350 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>, and without significant comorbidities except HIV or hypertension) were randomized to ruxolitinib plus ART (n=40) or ART alone (n=20) from week 0 through 5, and observed through week 12. Cellular markers, integrated DNA, and IPDA were measured peripherally at weeks 0, 5, and 12. Reservoir markers decayed in high baseline reservoir (HBR) participants on

ruxolitinib by week 12 *versus* controls (p=0.0471). Cellular markers altered by ruxolitinib and associated with decay included pSTAT5+, pSTAT3+, BCL-2+KI67+, CD127+, and CD25+. We predict 99.99% decay in 2.83 years among HBR. These data are foundational for future human trials with Jak 1/2 inhibitors towards HIV-1 elimination. Clinical Trials Registration NCT02475655.

## Introduction

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) is the cornerstone of disease management for people with HIV (PWH).<sup>1</sup> ART has been instrumental in HIV treatment and prevention averting 20.8 million AIDS-related deaths as of 2023.<sup>2</sup> However, lifelong adherence to ART has incentivized the search for a cure for HIV. Previous studies found that ART initiation within 30 days of HIV infection improves the magnitude of reservoir decay by limiting reservoir establishment.<sup>3-5</sup> However, ART does not target the HIV reservoir, which is the largest barrier to curing HIV and there are no currently approved interventions that fill this gap. This leaves an unmet need for therapies capable of targeting the HIV reservoir in 39 million PWH globally.<sup>2</sup>

Several Jak inhibitors are FDA approved for various indications. Ruxolitinib is a first-generation Jak 1/2 selective inhibitor that is approved for treatment of primary myelofibrosis as well as post-polycythemia vera and post-essential thrombocythemia myelofibrosis [Jakafi package insert, Incyte]. Prior FDA approval is advantageous when examining a new indication due to the existing foundation of safety and pharmacokinetic data, saving time in advancing a therapy towards clinical use. The Jak STAT pathway is chronically activated in PWH, including those virally suppressed by ART.<sup>6-11</sup> This is due to receptor engagement (virus-host or cytokine interactions) which recruits Jaks and initiates the Jak STAT pathway, ultimately resulting in production of pro-reservoir maintenance factors.<sup>12</sup> Systemic inflammation from Jak STAT activation not only drives reservoir establishment, maintenance, and expansion as reported by our group and others<sup>13-16</sup> but also comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease and neurocognitive dysfunction.<sup>12, 17</sup>

The primary analysis of the A5336 phase 2a, multi-site, randomized clinical trial investigated the impact of ruxolitinib on immune activation and primary safety events.<sup>6</sup> It was determined that ruxolitinib significantly decreased sCD14, as well as reduced activated CD4+ T cells and BCL-2 expression.<sup>6</sup> In this analysis, we sought to examine the effect of ruxolitinib on the HIV reservoir and determine alterations in cellular biomarker expression to elucidate an immunological mechanism.

In this study, we discovered that Jak 1/2 selective inhibitor ruxolitinib causes immunomodulation resulting in reduction of systemic inflammation, immune activation, and viral persistence factors resulting ultimately in viral reservoir decay.

### Results

#### Reservoir Modulation

We calculated the absolute change in the HIV reservoir in both methods (Alu PCR and intact proviral DNA assay [IPDA]) and plotted these longitudinally by CNT and RUX groups, with subdistinctions of total group and high/low baseline reservoir (**Supplemental Fig. 1**). Within RUX, we observed a significant decrease in the absolute change from baseline of total proviral HIV DNA (IPDA) from weeks 5-12 (RUX high reservoir p=0.0344, CNT p=0.7872) and an overall decrease approaching significance from weeks 0-12 (RUX high reservoir p=0.1914, CNT p>0.9999) in participants that had a high baseline reservoir compared to overall CNT. Within the RUX high baseline reservoir subset, we observed a trending decrease in absolute change from weeks 5-12 in intact (p=0.0912) and defective HIV DNA (IPDA) (p=0.0873) (**Supplemental Fig. 1**). In examining potential decay from baseline to week 12, we found that there is not a significant decrease overall for intact HIV DNA (p>0.9999) but there was a trending decrease for defective HIV DNA (p=0.1098). We observed a significant increase in RUX low baseline integrated HIV DNA (Alu PCR) from baseline to week 12 (p=0.0342) compared to CNT which



Supplemental Figure 1 | Changes in HIV-1 Reservoir Over Time

Median absolute change (Abs D) with interquartile range (IQR) in total, intact, and 3'/5' defective proviral DNA copies per million PBMC (quantified via integrated proviral DNA assay [IPDA]) and total integrated HIV DNA (quantified via Alu PCR) between control (CNT) and ruxolitinib (RUX) study arms with subgroups of total or high/low baseline reservoir within the RUX arm longitudinally over the 12-week course of this study. Comparisons were calculated via non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test (a=0.05) using GraphPad Prism v9.5.1. RUX data: integrated HIV DNA total (n=31-36), high baseline reservoir (n=11-13), low baseline reservoir (n=20-23); IPDA total (n=22-26), high baseline reservoir (n=8-11), low baseline reservoir (n=14-16). CNT data: integrated HIV DNA (n=17-18), IPDA (n=8-9). There was no significant change in CNT. Abs D in total proviral DNA (IPDA) during weeks 5-12 significantly decreased (p=0.0344) in RUX high baseline reservoir. There was a trending decrease in PWH with a high baseline reservoir from weeks 5-12 in intact (p=0.0912) and defective (p=0.0873) proviral DNA (IPDA). In PWH with a low baseline reservoir, Abs D in integrated HIV DNA (Alu PCR) increased from

baseline to week 12 (p=0.0133), which was coupled with trending increases in defective proviral DNA (IPDA) from baseline to week 5 (p=0.0894) and weeks 5-12 (p=0.0536).

To increase rigor and confirm repeatability, we sought a second perspective and found that, through mixed-model analysis of raw total proviral HIV DNA (IPDA), the participants in RUX with a high baseline reservoir experienced decay compared to CNT from weeks 5-12 (p=0.0185) and weeks 0-12 (p=0.0260) with a non-significant increase from weeks 0-5 (p=0.7100), lending strength to our original observation (**Fig. 1A**). There was a significant difference in integrated DNA (Alu PCR) decay from week 0 to 12 between control and participants on RUX with a high baseline reservoir (p=0.0295), however, changes from weeks 0-5 (p=0.1167) and weeks 5-12 (p=0.5891) were not significant.



Figure 1 | HIV-1 Reservoir Observed and Predicted Decay

A) Left) Absolute change (Abs D) median with interquartile range (IQR) in total proviral DNA (IPDA) copies per million PBMC between control (CNT, n=17-18) and ruxolitinib (RUX) (high baseline reservoir participants, n=8-11) arms longitudinally over the 12-week course of this study. Comparisons calculated via Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test (GraphPad Prism v9.5.1, a=0.05). A significant reduction in HIV-1 reservoir in participants with high baseline reservoir in response to ruxolitinib treatment

over control was observed from weeks 5-12 (p=0.0344). **Right**) Raw total proviral DNA (IPDA) copies per million PBMC between CNT (n=) and RUX (n=) arms longitudinally. Comparisons were calculated via mixed effects model (lmerTest 3.1-3 with R version 4.2.2 in RStudio v. 2023.12.0.369, a=0.05). A significant reduction in HIV-1 reservoir in participants with high baseline reservoir in response to ruxolitinib treatment over control was observed (weeks 0-12 p=0.0260, weeks 5-12 p=0.0185). Transient T cell demargination in the treatment group at week 5 did not significantly increase measured reservoir. **B**) Model of reservoir decay prediction based on exponential decay rate of total proviral DNA (IPDA) copies per million PBMC, from weeks 5-12, from raw (green circle) and mixed effects model (purple triangle). The reservoir decays sequentially based on decay rate (raw = 4.59% per week, mixed effects model = 4.33%) resulting in a near complete (99.99%) decay of the HIV-1 reservoir in 2.83-3.01 years when treated with ruxolitinib.

We performed Spearman rho correlations (a=0.05) with linear regression trendline generation between reservoir measurements obtained via IPDA (total proviral DNA) and Alu PCR (integrated DNA) within the CNT arm longitudinally across the study (**Supplemental Fig. 2**) (all timepoints, R<sup>2</sup>>0.57). We found a strong positive correlation at each study week, indicating that both methods are valid and comparable. We acknowledge a discrepancy in reservoir changes between the two methods. However, a general decay is visible in the high baseline reservoir participants on RUX and this finding is conserved between methods. Furthermore, IPDA is known to be a highly sensitive assay in comparison to Alu PCR and was examined in 10 replicates for this study as opposed to triplicates in Alu PCR quantification. For these reasons, we have identified a significant reduction in HIV-1 reservoir in participants with high baseline reservoir in response to ruxolitinib treatment and continue with total proviral DNA determined by IPDA as the main reservoir quantification in subsequent analyses.


Supplemental Figure 2 | Alu PCR and IPDA Correlation

Spearman rho correlations (a=0.05) with linear regression trendline generation were performed between reservoir quantification methods (IPDA and Alu PCR) within the control arm longitudinally across the study. The two methods strongly correlated at weeks 0 (n=8, p=0.0011), 5 (n=7, p=0.0484), and 12 (n=8, p=0.0216), indicating that the two methods are viable and comparable.

To create a prediction model of decay, the mean percent change per week was calculated (weeks 0-12 -1.8869%, weeks 5-12 -4.5934%). A participant's reservoir baseline at time of treatment would be equivalent to 100% of reservoir. As such, we sequentially subtracted the percent change per week of remaining reservoir over time until 99.99% reservoir decay was reached. According to the week 5-12 decay rate, ruxolitinib would result in near complete reservoir decay in 2.83 years (147 weeks) (**Fig. 1B**). Using the week 0-12 decay rate results in near complete reservoir decay in 6.96 years (362 weeks). This model is based on the decay in total proviral DNA copies (IPDA) observed in the study for participants receiving ruxolitinib who began the trial with a high baseline reservoir. We also plotted the exponential decay from the decay rate (week 5 to 12) estimated with the mixed effects model which predicts near complete reservoir decay in 3.01 years (156 weeks) (**Fig. 1B**).

#### Cellular Biomarker Modulation

The analysis framework in this study consisted of three rounds of pairwise comparisons to elucidate altered expression from ruxolitinib treatment and the predictive profile of participants who responded to treatment. All pairwise comparisons were calculated via GraphPad Prism v9.5.1 using an unmatched Mann Whitney U Test (a=0.05) to account for biological variation and a Benjamini-Hochberg test (15%) to limit

the false discovery rate. These analyses were overlapped to determine the specific correlates of HIV-1 reservoir decay altered by ruxolitinib treatment.

23 cellular markers were measured as applicable in monocytes, B cells, CD4+ and CD8+ T cellular subsets (naïve ( $T_N$ ), central memory ( $T_{CM}$ ), transitional memory ( $T_{TM}$ ), effector memory ( $T_{EM}$ ), and terminally differentiated ( $T_{TD}$ ).

Absolute change in each cellular marker was determined for each person from their own baseline at week 0 to weeks 5 and 12 of the study (**Supplemental Table 1**). Round 1 of analysis determined which markers were altered from baseline by RUX through comparing the change in marker expression within RUX at baseline and weeks 5 and 12 (**Fig. 2A, Supplemental Table 2**). Round 2 of analysis determined if altered expression in round 1 was significantly (p<0.05) or trending (0.05<p<0.1) toward differential from CNT via comparing expression change between RUX and CNT (**Fig. 2A, Supplemental Table 3**).

# Supplemental Table 1 | Calculated Absolute Change from Baseline (Week 0) in Reservoir and Cellular Markers

#### https://doi.org/10.15139/S3/8YADL0

Abbreviations: RUX (ruxolitinib arm (n=40)), CNT (control arm (n=20)), IPDA ++ (intact provirus only), IPDA +- (total provirus), IPDA -- (defective provirus only), N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated). High and Low reservoir stratification was based on raw week 0 Alu-LTR qPCR reservoir measurements, where the top tertile of each group was defined as high baseline reservoir and the bottom 2/3s were defined as low baseline reservoir. (Hosted by Dataverse v5.9 build750-fb24c87).



### Figure 2 | Framework for Analysis of A5336

A) In round 1 of analysis, absolute change (Abs D) in cellular marker expression from week 0 to weeks 5 and 12 were compared within the ruxolitinib-treated (RUX) group, both as a total group (n=28-30) and with the distinction of high (n=11) or low baseline reservoir (n=17-19), to determine significantly altered biomarkers from treatment. In round 2 of analysis, the absolute change at weeks 5 (RUX n=29, CNT n=15) and 12 (RUX n=28, CNT n=15) (from baseline) was compared between the RUX and control (CNT) groups to determine if altered biomarkers were significantly different from control. **B**) In round 3 of analysis, independent of study arm, the median absolute change in total proviral DNA was determined (n=14) and patients were classified as experiencing either growth or decay from the median. When compared, correlates of reservoir decay, independent of treatment, were determined. Through overlap of markers identified in all 3 rounds, a highly niche group of markers were elucidated that are correlates of decay and are also impacted by ruxolitinib treatment. These pairwise comparisons were calculated using GraphPad Prism v9.5.1 via non-parametric Mann Whitney U test (a=0.05) to account for biological variability and a Benjamini-Hochberg test (15%) to limit the rate of false discovery. Created with BioRender.

Cell Type	Subset	et Reservoir Classification Week		Biomarker	P-Value
cen Type   Subset				CD39	0.0026
			5	CD69	0.0066
		Total Group	5	LAG3	0.0132
				CD38	0.0274
			12	CD39	0.0003
R Co	11		5	CD38	0.0054
D Ce.	11	High Baseline Reservoir	12	CD39	0.0054
			12	TIGIT	0.0054
			5	CD69	0.0118
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD39	0.0268
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	CD39	0.0219
			12	CD38	0.0467
			5	HLA-DR	0.0274
			5	CD95	0.0274
				KI67	0.0001
				PD1	0.0007
		Total Group		CD69	0.0021
		Total Gloup	12	pSTAT5	0.0089
			12	CD39	0.0274
				SLAM	0.0359
				BCL-2	0.0438
Monoc	yte			CD127	0.0483
		High Baseline Reservoir		KI67	0.0054
			12	PD1	0.0054
				SLAM	0.0404
				KI67	0.0025
			12	CD69	0.0026
		Low Baseline Reservoir		pSTAT5	0.0058
		Low Daschile Reservoir		pSTAT3	0.0433
				TIGIT	0.0467
				PD1	0.0467
				TIGIT	0.0062
		Total Group	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0192
		Total Group	5	CD95	0.0274
				PD-L1	0.0407
				CD127	0.0054
	Ν		5	CD25	0.0095
		High Baseline Reservoir		TIGIT	0.0351
CD4 + T			12	pSTAT5	0.0351
CD4+ T Cell			12	SLAM	0.0404
		Low Resoling Pasaryoir	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0342
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	PD-L1	0.0479
				HLA-DR	0.0001
				CD127	0.0027
	CM	Total Group	5	CD25	0.0131
	CIVI	rotar Group		CD38	0.0274
				CD39	0.0494
			12	CD25	0.0001

# Supplemental Table 2 | Cellular Markers Significantly Altered by Ruxolitinib from Baseline

				CTLA-4	0.0081
				HLA-DR	0.0111
				KI67	0.0111
				TIGIT	0.0319
				CD39	0.0438
				CD127	0.0438
				CD28	0.0439
				PD1	0.0440
				CD25	0.0052
			5	BTLA	0.0054
		High Basalina Pasaryoir		pSTAT3	0.0095
		Tingii Dasenne Keservon		CD62L	0.0054
			12	CD39	0.0054
				CTLA-4	0.0404
			5	HLA-DR	0.0001
			3	CD127	0.0037
				CD25	0.0001
		Low Baseline Reservoir		KI67	0.0026
			12	CD95	0.0026
				PD1	0.0026
				HLA-DR	0.0214
		Total Group		CD69	0.0001
				HLA-DR	0.0001
			5	CD127	0.0001
				CD25	0.0066
				BCL-2/KI67	0.0201
				KI67	0.0274
				SLAM	0.0274
	au M		12	BTLA	0.0111
			12	CD127	0.0439
		High Baseline Reservoir		CD69	0.0002
	1 1/1		5	HLA-DR	0.0002
				CD39	0.0002
				CD25	0.0054
				CD127	0.0054
				pSTAT5	0.0164
				CD38	0.0054
			12	CD62L	0.0054
				TIGIT	0.0404
		Low Pasalina Pasaruair	5	CD127	0.0037
		Low Dasenne Reservoir	12	BTLA	0.0026
				CD127	0.0026
			5	CD25	0.0248
			5	CD69	0.0274
		Total Group		SLAM	0.0494
		-		LAG3	0.0225
	T.N./		12	CD127	0.0438
	EM			HLA-DR	0.0439
				CD69	0.0054
			5	CD39	0.0054
		High Baseline Reservoir		SLAM	0.0054
			12	CD39	0.0002
				CD62L	0.0054

			5	CD127	0.0037
		Low Pasalina Pasariain		CD39	0.0269
		Low Baseline Keservoir	12	KI67	0.0390
				TIGIT	0.0393
			E	PD1	0.0114
		Total Group	5	CD28	0.0221
	TD	-	12	CD127	0.0217
	ID	High Deceling December	5	PD1	0.0054
		High Baseline Reservoir	12	CD62L	0.0164
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	CD39	0.0048
				CD127	0.0009
			5	KI67	0.0220
		Total Group		SLAM	0.0362
		_	12	PD-L1	0.0219
			12	PD1	0.0219
				CD127	0.0054
	Ν		5	PD1	0.0054
		High Baseline Reservoir		PD-L1	0.0164
			12	PD-L1	0.0002
			12	PD1	0.0002
			5	SLAM	0.0479
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	CD38	0.0219
			12	BTLA	0.0219
		Total Group		CD127	0.0001
				HLA-DR	0.0012
			5	CD69	0.0132
				BCL-2/KI67	0.0407
				CD28	0.0489
				CD39	0.0111
				TIGIT	0.0194
CD8+ T			12	pSTAT3	0.0237
Cell	СМ			BCL-2	0.0438
				CD28	0.0438
		High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0054
			12	BCL-2	0.0054
				CD127	0.0003
			5		0.0037
		Low Baseline Reservoir			0.0121
					0.0224
			12		0.0017
				CD39	0.0213
				UD38	0.0004
					0.0000
			5		0.0003
			5	CD23	0.0131
	тм	Total Group		PD1	0.0274
	1 1 1 1			SI AM	0.0407
				CTLA-4	0.0051
			12	HLA-DR	0.0438
				CD38	0.0440
		High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD69	0.0054
				/	

				CD25	0.0054
				HLA-DR	0.0054
				pSTAT1	0.0095
			10	CTLA-4	0.0124
			12	PD-L1	0.0266
			_	CD38	0.0037
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD28	0.0136
				CD38	0.0001
				HLA-DR	0.0001
				CD127	0.0001
			5	CD69	0.0065
				PD1	0.0131
		Total Group		CD25	0.0431
				HLA-DR	0.0021
				CD38	0.0111
			12	CTLA-4	0.0374
				CD69	0.0438
	EM			HLA-DR	0.0002
		High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0002
			-	CD38	0.0043
			12	CD38	0.0054
				CTLA-4	0.0266
				BCL-2	0.0404
		Low Baseline Reservoir		CD38	0.0001
			5	CD69	0.0121
			-	CD127	0.0270
			10	HLA-DR	0.0219
			12	CD62L	0.0467
				CD127	0.0001
				CD38	0.0012
			5	HLA-DR	0.0065
			5	PD1	0.0248
		Total Group		CD28	0.0489
		Ĩ		CD38	0.0003
			10	HLA-DR	0.0021
			12	CD28	0.0021
				BTLA	0.0440
			_	HLA-DR	0.0054
	TD		5	CD127	0.0054
		High Baseline Reservoir		HLA-DR	0.0002
		6	12	CD28	0.0002
				BTLA	0.0054
				CD127	0.0037
				CD38	0.0121
			5	CD28	0.0270
		Low Baseline Reservoir		KI67	0.0479
			12	CD38	0.0025
				LAG3	0.0219

Complete list of cellular markers that were found to be significantly altered by ruxolitinib treatment from baseline (Round 1) using non-parametric Mann Whitney U tests (a=0.05) with a Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment for a 15% false discovery rate (GraphPad Prism v9.5.1). Subset abbreviations: N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated).

Cell Type	Subset	Reservoir	Week	Biomarker	P-Value
		Total Group	5	CD69	0.0286
B Cell		High Baseline Reservoir	12	PD1	0.0550*
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD69	0.0323
				CD69	0.0657*
			5	nSTAT5	0.0864*
		Total Group		CD69	0.0263
		F	12	CD28	0.0681*
				pSTAT5	0.0937*
Mono	ocvte		_	HLA-DR	0.0274
		High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD69	0.0609*
				CD127	0.0083
			10	CD69	0.0177
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	pSTAT5	0.0380
				pSTAT3	0.0656*
			r.	CD127	0.0285
	NT	Total Group	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0584*
	N	-	12	CTLA-4	0.0412
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0741*
		T + 1 C	5	CD127	0.0097
	СМ	Total Group	12	CTLA-4	0.0720
		Law Dagalina Dagamain	5	CD127	0.0247
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	CTLA-4	0.0832
		Total Group	5	CD127	0.0090
	TM			LAG3	0.0121
			12	CD95	0.0164
				PDL1	0.0949*
CD4+ 1		High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0229
Cell			12	TIGIT	0.0542*
		L. D. I'm D	5	CD127	0.0297
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	pSTAT5	0.0575*
			5	CD28	0.0684*
		Total Group	3	BCL-2/KI67	0.0718*
		Total Gloup	10	KI67	0.0672*
	FM		12	CD95	0.0864*
	LIVI	High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD28	0.0109
		Ingli Baseline Reservon	5	CD39	0.0130
		I ow Baseline Reservoir	12	TIGIT	0.0606*
		Low Dasenne Reservon	12	CD25	0.0772*
	TD	Total Group	5	CD38	0.0567*
		Total Group	5	SLAM	0.0419
	Ν		5	KI67	0.0889*
		High Baseline Reservoir	5	KI67	0.0565*
CD8+ T		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	SLAM	0.0512*
Cell		Total Group	12	pSTAT3	0.0911*
	СМ	High Deseling Deserved	12	CD38	0.0590*
		nigii daseline Keservoir		BCL-2	0.0797*
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	TIGIT	0.0629*

# Supplemental Table 3 | Pairwise Comparisons of Markers Between Arms

			5	CD39	0.0549*
		Total Group	5	CD25	0.0964*
	ТМ	_	12	CD38	0.0373
		High Deceling December	10	CTLA-4	0.0537*
		High Baseline Reservoir	12	CD38	0.0609*
				CD127	0.0085
		Total Group	5	HLA-DR	0.0365
	EM			CD25	0.0376
	EM	High Baseline Reservoir	5	HLA-DR	0.0237
		Less Beerline Decembrin	5	CD127	0.0514*
		Low baseline Reservoir	12	CD62L	0.0743*
			5	KI67	0.0088
				CD95	0.0246
		Total Group	5	CD127	0.0761*
		Total Gloup		CD25	0.0950*
	TD		10	CD127	0.0377
	ID		12	CD25	0.0973*
		Uich Deseline Deservoir	5	HLA-DR	0.0973*
		righ baseline Reservoir	12	HLA-DR	0.0774*
		Low Pasalina Pasarusir	5	KI67	0.0118
		Low Dasenne Keservoir	3	CD127	0.0830*

Complete list of significant (p<0.05) and trending (0.05<p<0.10) cellular biomarkers that were found to have a different expression phenotype from control (Round 2) using non-parametric Mann Whitney U tests (a=0.05) with a Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment for a 15% false discovery rate (GraphPad Prism v9.5.1). Subset abbreviations: N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated). \* denotes trending p-values.

Through overlap of rounds 1 AND 2, markers altered by ruxolitinib treatment compared to control were identified (**Table 1**). The expression profile of identified markers (weeks 5 and 12 markers pooled) was opposite from control when treated with ruxolitinib (**Supplemental Fig. 3**).

Cell Type	Subset	Reservoir Classification	Week	Biomarker	Round 1 P-Value	Round 2 P-Value	Change from CNT
DC	N-11	Total Group	5	CD69	0.0066	0.0286	Ļ
ВС	en	Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD69	0.0118	0.0323	$\downarrow$
		Total Crown	12	pSTAT5	0.0089	0.0937*	$\downarrow$
		Total Group	12	CD69	0.0021	0.0263	$\downarrow$
Mone	ocyte			pSTAT5	0.0058	0.0380	$\downarrow$
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	CD69	0.0026	0.0177	$\downarrow$
				pSTAT3	0.0433	0.0656*	$\downarrow$
	N	Total Group	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0192	0.0584*	$\downarrow$
	IN	Low Baseline Reservoir	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0342	0.0741*	$\downarrow$
		Total Crown	5	CD127	0.0027	0.0097	↑
CD4 T	СМ	Total Group	12	CTLA-4	0.0081	0.0720*	↑
CD4+1		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0037	0.0247	↑
Cell		Total Group	5	CD127	0.0001	0.0090	↑
	TM	High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0054	0.0229	↑
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0037	0.0297	$\uparrow$
	EM	High Baseline Reservoir	5	CD39	0.0054	0.0130	$\downarrow$
N		Total Group	5	KI67	0.0220	0.0889*	$\downarrow$
		Total Group	12	pSTAT3	0.0237	0.0911*	Ļ
	СМ	High Baseline Reservoir	12	BCL-2	0.0054	0.0797*	$\downarrow$
		Low Baseline Reservoir	12	TIGIT	0.0017	0.0629*	
	TM	Total Group	5	CD25	0.0131	0.0964*	$\downarrow$
	1 1/1	High Baseline Reservoir	12	CTLA-4	0.0124	0.0537*	↑
CD8+ T		Total Crown	-	HLA-DR	0.0001	0.0365	$\downarrow$
Cell	EM	Total Group	5	CD127	0.0001	0.0085	↑
	EW	High Baseline Reservoir	5	HLA-DR	0.0002	0.0237	$\downarrow$
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0270	0.0514*	$\uparrow$
		Total Group	5	CD127	0.0001	0.0761*	<b>↑</b>
	TD	High Pagalina Pagamusin	5	HLA-DR	0.0054	0.0973*	↓
		nigh basenne Keservolr	12	HLA-DR	0.0002	0.0774*	<u>↑</u>
		Low Baseline Reservoir	5	CD127	0.0037	0.0830*	1

Table 1 | Ruxolitinib-Altered Markers over Control

Identified biomarkers both altered by intervention and differential expression from control with associated p-value per round (Mann Whitney U tests, a=0.05, \*denotes 0.05<p<0.1). Abbreviations: CNT (control group), N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated).



CNT

110

# Supplemental Figure 3 | Ruxolitinib Reverses the Expression Phenotype of Cellular Biomarkers Compared to Control

A) The absolute change (Abs D) from baseline in cellular markers (median with interquartile range) arranged from most positive to most negative change (represented by blue bar at top) in the ruxolitinib-treated arm (blue, n=11-29). B) The absolute change from baseline in cellular markers arranged in the same order as A (represented by blue bar at top) in the control arm (red, n=15-16). All markers represented were significantly (p<0.05) altered by ruxolitinib (round 1 of analysis, Mann Whitney with 15% Benjamini-Hochberg) and significant or trending (0.05<p<0.1) towards differential expression from control (round 2 of analysis, Mann Whitney with 15% Benjamini-Hochberg). Abbreviations: week (W), naïve (N), central memory (CM), effector memory (EM), transitional memory (TM), terminally differentiated (TD), total ruxolitinib-treated group (TOT), high baseline reservoir group (HI), and low baseline reservoir group (LO).

Round 3 of analysis sought to determine cellular marker correlates of reservoir decay independent of treatment. The absolute change in total proviral DNA copies (IPDA) from week 0 to weeks 5/12 were calculated for each individual where matched total proviral DNA (IPDA) measurements were acquired (n=14) (**Supplemental Table 4**). Limited IPDA acquisition was not attributable to samples below the limit of detection but rather limited sample quantity to perform IPDA. Of these 14 participants, the median absolute change in total proviral copies was determined at weeks 5/12 and the group was stratified as positive (reservoir growth, n=7) or negative (reservoir decay, n=7) change from the median. Growth and decay groups were analyzed pairwise, and correlates of reservoir decay were determined (**Fig. 2B**, **Supplemental Table 2**). The expression profile was opposite between growth and decay groups (**Supplemental Fig. 4**).

#### Supplemental Table 4 | Cellular Markers Associated with Reservoir Decay

Cell Type	Subset	Week	Biomarker	P-Value
		5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0350
B Cell		5	CD38	0.0882*
		12	TIGIT	0.0768*
			CD28	0.0399
Mono		5	CD127	0.0678*
Monocyte		5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0723*
			CD62L	0.0838*

			pSTAT5	0.0388
		12	CD39	0.0523*
		12	pSTAT3	0.0699*
			CD28	0.0894*
		F	CD38	0.0123
	N	5	BCL-2/KI67	0.0981*
	IN	10	CD38	0.0153
		12	BCL-2	0.0523*
		5	CD38	0.0008
		3	BCL-2/KI67	0.0906*
	СМ		CD38	0.0080
		12	CD95	0.0114
			HLA-DR	0.0893*
			HLA-DR	0.0166
	ТМ	12	CD69	0.0220
CD4+ I Cell			CD38	0.0398
			CD62L	0.0457
	EM	F	CD38	0.0230
		5	CD25	0.0882*
		12	BCL-2/KI67	0.0127
		12	PD1	0.0868*
			CD39	0.0047
		12	CD28	0.0188
	TD		CD62L	0.0292
			pSTAT5	0.0400
			CD127	0.0441
		5	CD39	0.0115
	Ν	5	CD62L	0.0440
		12	CD38	0.0083
	CM	5	CD39	0.0787*
	CM	12	KI67	0.0474
CD8+ T Cell	TM	F	BCL-2	0.0101
	I IVI	5	CD25	0.0568*
		5	BCL-2	0.0072
	EM	10	CD39	0.0597*
		12	pSTAT5	0.0678*
	TD	5	CD127	0.0019

Complete list of significant (p<0.05) and trending (0.05 ) cellular biomarkers that were found to have a different expression phenotype between patients experiencing growth or decay from the median integrated proviral DNA (copies/10<sup>6</sup> PBMC) (Round 3) using non-parametric Mann Whitney U tests (a=0.05) with a Benjamini-Hochberg adjustment for a 15% false discovery rate (GraphPad Prism v9.5.1). Subset abbreviations: N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated). \* denotes trending p-values.



#### Supplemental Figure 4 | Cellular Marker Expression of Reservoir Decay is Opposite of Growth

A) The absolute change (Abs D) from baseline in cellular markers (median with interquartile range) arranged from most positive to most negative change (represented by purple bar at top) in participants experiencing reservoir decay (purple, n=13). B) The absolute change from baseline in cellular markers arranged in the same order as A (represented by purple bar at top) in participants experiencing reservoir growth (orange, n=11-13). All markers represented were significantly (p<0.05) and trending (0.05<p<0.1) towards differential expression between the decay and growth groups (round 3 analysis, Mann Whitney with 15% Benjamini-Hochberg). Abbreviations: week (W), naïve (N), central memory (CM), effector memory (EM), transitional memory (TM), and terminally differentiated (TD).

To determine niche biomarkers (ruxolitinib-altered marker expression and association with reservoir decay), we compared biomarkers from each round of analysis and noted overlap between rounds 1 AND 2 AND 3. When assessing significance of these biomarkers, all reported markers in round 1 were statistically significant (p<0.05) whereas rounds 2 and 3 accepted biomarkers that were statistically significant and trending (0.05<p<0.10). This resulted in a list of 5 niche biomarkers with an opposite expression profile between trial arms (**Table 2, Supplemental Fig. 5**). Longitudinally, ruxolitinib decreased expression of pSTAT3/5 in monocytes, BCL-2/KI67 in CD4+ T<sub>N</sub> cells, and CD25 in CD8+ T<sub>TM</sub> cells, and increased expression of CD127 in CD8+ T<sub>TD</sub> cells (**Fig. 3**). We examined these niche markers at baseline by reservoir growth or reservoir decay groups as described above. This informed us of the potential to use each marker as a screening tool based on differential baseline expression and we found that PWH having higher expression of pSTAT5 in monocytes and lower expression of BCL-2/KI67 in CD4+ T<sub>N</sub> cells were likely to experience reservoir decay (**Fig. 3**).

Cellular Subset and Biomarker	Round 1 p- Value	Round 2 p-Value	Round 3 p- Value
Monocyte pSTAT5+ (Low Baseline Reservoir Week 12)	0.0058	0.0380	0.0388
Monocyte pSTAT5+ (Total Week 12)	0.0089	0.0937*	0.0388
CD4+ T <sub>N</sub> Cell BCL-2+/KI67+ (Total Week 5)	0.0192	0.0584*	0.0981*
CD4+ T <sub>N</sub> Cell BCL-2+/KI67+ (Low Baseline Reservoir Week 5)	0.0342	0.0741*	0.0981*
CD8+ T <sub>TD</sub> Cell CD127+ (Total Week 5)	0.0001	0.0761*	0.0019
CD8+ T <sub>TM</sub> Cell CD25+ (Total Week 5)	0.0131	0.0964*	0.0568*
Monocyte pSTAT3+ (Low Baseline Reservoir Week 12)	0.0433	0.0656*	0.0699*

 Table 2 | Niche Ruxolitinib-Altered Markers Associated with Reservoir Decay

Identified niche biomarkers altered by intervention and associated with HIV-1 reservoir day with associated p-value per round (Mann Whitney U tests, a=0.05, \*denotes trending 0.05<p<0.1). Subset abbreviations: N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated).





# Supplemental Figure 5 | Niche Cellular Marker Expression is Reversed with Ruxolitinib Compared to Control

A) The absolute change (Abs D) from baseline in cellular markers (median with interquartile range) arranged from most positive to most negative change (represented by blue bar at top) in the ruxolitinib-treated arm (blue, n=16-29). **B**) The absolute change from baseline in cellular markers arranged in the same order as A (represented by blue bar at top) in the control arm (red, n=15-16). All markers represented were significantly (p<0.05) altered by ruxolitinib (round 1 of analysis, Mann Whitney with 15% Benjamini-Hochberg), significant or trending (0.05 ) towards differential expression from control (round 2 of analysis, Mann Whitney with 15% Benjamini-Hochberg), and significant or trending towards differential expression between participants experiencing reservoir decay vs growth (round 3 of analysis, Mann Whitney with 15% Benjamini-Hochberg). Abbreviations: week (W), naïve (N), central memory (CM), effector memory (EM), transitional memory (TM), terminally differentiated (TD), total ruxolitinib-treated group (TOT), high baseline reservoir group (HI), and low baseline reservoir group (LO).



#### Figure 3 | Niche Marker Longitudinal Expression and Predictive Association with Decay

Four niche biomarkers were identified that were altered by ruxolitinib (RUX), different from control (CNT), and associated with reservoir decay. Baseline cellular marker expression in reservoir growth (n=12) vs decay (n=12) groups determined by week of significant (p<0.05) or trending (0.05 < p<0.1) association as a potential predictor/screening tool for patients. Significance was determined via Mann-Whitney comparison between baseline expression in the growth and decay groups (a=0.05). A) pSTAT5 expression in monocytes is reduced by week 12 in both the total ruxolitinib-treated group (p=0.0937, RUX n=27-29, CNT n=16-17), and those with low baseline reservoir (p=0.0380, RUX n=16-18, CNT n=16-17). Participants likely to experience decay have a higher baseline expression of pSTAT5 in monocytes (p=0.0615). B) BCL-2/KI67 dual expression in naïve CD4+ T cells is reduced by week 5 in both the total ruxolitinib-treated group (p=0.0584, RUX n=28-30, CNT n=16-17) and the low baseline reservoir group (p=0.0741, RUX n=17-19, CNT n=16-17). Participants likely to experience decay have a significantly lower baseline expression of BCL-2/KI67 in CD4+  $T_N$  cells (p=0.0008). C) CD127 expression in terminally differentiated CD8+ T cells is increased by ruxolitinib intervention by week 5 (p=0.0761, RUX n=28-30, CNT n=16-17). CD127 expression in CD8+ T<sub>TD</sub> cells is not different at baseline (p=0.7985). **D**) CD25 expression in transitional memory CD8+ T cells is reduced with intervention by week 5 (p=0.0964, RUX n=28-30, CNT n=15-16). CD25 expression in CD8+ T<sub>TM</sub> cells is not different at baseline (p=0.1732). E) pSTAT3 expression in monocytes is reduced with intervention by week 12 (p=0.0656, RUX n=16-18, CNT n=16-17), but is not a predictor of decay at baseline (p=0.2938). Cellular subset abbreviations: N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated).

# Discussion

Current clinical trials focus on a plethora of strategies. Antibodies, vaccines, and tyrosine kinase inhibitors do not directly target the HIV reservoir. Gene therapy strategies both target HIV provirus (NCT05144386, NCT02390297), immune response (NCT04648046), and spread (NCT03666871). Systemic inflammation, immune activation, and elevated immune checkpoint expression all contribute to immune exhaustion.<sup>18</sup> Immune checkpoint inhibitors can potentially reverse HIV latency (NCT05330143, NCT05187429). BCL-2 agonists can directly target the viral reservoir via cell death (NCT05668026). Tyrosine kinase inhibitors can target homeostatic proliferation and reduce bystander infections via SAMHD1 phosphorylation blockade.<sup>19</sup> Finally, immunomodulators (such as Janus kinase (Jak) inhibitors as analyzed here) modify the immunological landscape which can have effects on the viral reservoir and immune-mediated clearance (NCT05598580, NCT05452564).<sup>6, 11, 12, 20</sup> Combination therapy is the most diverse area of cure efforts encompassing vaccine, antibody, immunotherapy (NCT05129189) and shock and kill methods (NCT02471430).

We estimate 99.99% total proviral HIV DNA (IPDA) reservoir clearance in 2.83-3.01 years with twice daily treatment of 10mg ruxolitinib in conjunction with peripherally suppressive ART for individuals with elevated levels at baseline. While the decay rate from week 0 to 12 predicts 99.99% decay in 6.96 years, it is also in context of the transient T cell demargination from Jak inhibitor treatment. For this reason, it is more likely that the decay rate from week 5 to 12 is a more accurate reflection of the effect of ruxolitinib post-T cell demargination. Transient T cell demargination into the periphery has been observed during Jak 1/2 inhibitor treatment (baricitinib). In a 12-week study, total lymphocytes increased by week 4 and returned to baseline by week 12.<sup>21</sup> We observed the same effect here, which could account for the transient, nonsignificant increase in total proviral DNA (IPDA) from week 0 to 5 that resolves by week 12 of therapy <sup>21-</sup> <sup>23</sup> as opposed to true expansion of the reservoir. Our decay estimate is based on the observed decay rate from week 5 to 12. The reservoir decay post-intervention indicates that ruxolitinib requires time to have an observable physiological effect, and that it may be a lasting effect. We acknowledge that this model cannot reflect changes occurring at time of treatment, but rather view the model as a prediction of long-term reservoir changes in response to ruxolitinib. Our estimate is subject to change based on treatment duration. A longer intervention would reveal potential stagnation or exponential decay effects. We observed a significant decrease in total proviral DNA in ruxolitinib-treated participants with a high baseline reservoir. We also observed trending reduction in intact and defective proviral DNA in those on RUX with a high baseline reservoir from weeks 5-12. When examining absolute change in integrated HIV DNA (Alu PCR), we qualitatively see a decrease from baseline maintained through week 12 in the RUX high baseline reservoir subset compared to control, but the difference is not significant (Supplemental Fig. 1), likely due to many more extreme measures from the median in the Alu PCR measures compared to IPDA due to a greater n (Alu PCR mean n=47, IPDA mean n=28). We observed a significant increase from baseline to week 12 in integrated HIV DNA (Alu PCR) of PWH possessing a low baseline reservoir. However, this was paired with a trending increase in defective proviral DNA (IPDA) in those with a low baseline reservoir on RUX, indicating that defective HIV copies are increasing in the RUX low baseline subset as Alu PCR measures both defective and intact HIV DNA copies. We previously demonstrated *in vitro* and *ex vivo* that Jak inhibitors reduced the frequency of cells with integrated HIV DNA, inhibited viral replication, and reduced activation and lifespan markers.<sup>11</sup> We believe the observed effect is not regression to the mean based on demonstrated non-significant differences of random change in the control group regardless of stratification (**Supplemental Fig. 6**). Further mechanistic studies are required to explore the process of changes in the immune microenvironment when reversing immune dysregulation.



# Supplemental Figure 6 | Random Change by Control Group Stratification

(Top) Integrated HIV-1 DNA measured by Alu PCR raw data (median with interquartile range) differs significantly between high (orange, n=5-6) and low (blue, n=12) baseline reservoir stratification in the control group, but there is no significant difference in absolute change over time between subgroups

(Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test, a=0.05, week 0 p=0.0005, 5 p=0.0094, 12 p=0.0167). (Bottom) There are no significant differences between subgroups of total integrated HIV-1 DNA measured by IPDA (high n=2-3, low n=5-6) concerning both raw data and absolute change over time.

Cellular markers that were significantly altered by ruxolitinib and different from control (**Table 1**) are all markers associated with immune activation, Jak STAT activation, proliferation, cell survival, homeostatic proliferation, and immune exhaustion. With a longer duration of treatment, it is possible that these markers may be measurably affected in multiple cellular subsets. Five niche markers were elucidated that likely contributed to reservoir decay.

First, we examined marker downmodulation in this study. Concerning niche markers associated with reservoir decay, pSTAT3/5 in monocytes indicates Jak STAT activation. pSTAT5 is associated with CD25 regulation, BCL-2 production, and T cell proliferation<sup>12, 24, 25</sup> while pSTAT3 is an associated downstream product of IFN-a and IL-6 production.<sup>26</sup> CD25 (IL-2R) expression in CD8+ T cells is indicative of cellular activation and proliferation<sup>27</sup> and depends on IL-2 signaling and pSTAT5.<sup>28</sup> CD25 is upregulated by IL-2 in conjunction with T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation and positively correlates with clinical severity.<sup>29, 30</sup> One study found that chronic inflammation driven by the Jak STAT pathway may be responsible for an increase in CD25+ CD8+ T cells.<sup>31</sup> Another study found that CD25+ CD8+ T cells inhibit CD4+ response to both monoclonal antibodies and antigen.<sup>32</sup> BCL-2/KI67 dual expression in CD4+ T cells is representative of long-lived proliferating cells. KI67 is a proliferative marker and BCL-2 is an anti-apoptotic marker, both upregulated in PWH.<sup>12, 33-36</sup>

In B cells, CD69 is engaged by antibodies resulting in cytokine production and cellular proliferation.<sup>37</sup> In monocytes, CD69 expression is considered a stimulant for lymphoid cell activation.<sup>38, 39</sup> In CD8+ T cells, Ki67 is representative of an activated and proliferating subset.<sup>40</sup> Inflamed tissues can upregulate Ki67 expression driven by inflammatory cytokines.<sup>40</sup> BCL-2 is downregulated on CD8+ T cells in PWH as a method of immune evasion through limiting the antigen-specific response via susceptibility to apoptosis.<sup>41</sup> In CD4+ T cells, CD39 positively correlates with HIV DNA.<sup>42</sup> CD39 subverts ATP-mediated

inflammatory effects by converting ATP to AMP, which is hydrolyzed to adenosine that induces cAMP signaling resulting in an immunosuppressive effect.<sup>42</sup> CD39 expression has been negatively correlated with CD4+ T cell count and positively with T cell activation and viral load.<sup>43</sup> HLA-DR stimulates expansion of CD8+ T cells, which becomes upregulated in PWH.<sup>44</sup> HLA-DR was positively correlated with HIV DNA in one study over 8 years of suppressive ART.<sup>45</sup> Here, HLA-DR expression decreased by week 5 with rebound expression by week 12.

Downmodulation of these markers observed in this analysis indicate an altered physiological environment in which inflammation-driven reservoir maintenance, immune activation, reservoir cell survival, and cellular proliferation are mitigated. These phenomena are all associated with HIV reservoir and tissue pathology as well as development of comorbidities such as immune exhaustion, immunosenesence, and inflammaging.<sup>12, 46</sup>

Next, we examined marker upregulation. CD8+ T cell expression of CD127 was identified as a niche, decay-associated marker. In both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, CD127 (IL-7R) expression is downregulated in PWH. IL-7 is upregulated in PWH and is a key driver of homeostatic proliferation, an important factor in HIV reservoir maintenance.<sup>16, 47</sup> High IL-7 and low CD127 expression is inversely correlated with CD4+ T cell counts, increased viral replication, and immune activation.<sup>47, 48</sup> CD127 is a receptor of IL-7 as a method of clearance, and increasing CD127 results in CD4+ and CD8+ T cell recovery.<sup>47, 49</sup> Specifically, in CD8+ T cells, downregulation of CD127 correlates with immune activation and safety endpoints, CD127 was also determined to be upregulated in participants receiving ruxolitinib.<sup>6</sup>

TIGIT expression in CD8+ T cells has historically been considered a marker for immune exhaustion and reservoir maintenance, especially when co-expressed with PD-1.<sup>50</sup> However, TIGIT alone on CD8+ T cells demonstrated impaired cytokine production and cytotoxicity in the absence of viral replication.<sup>51</sup> In PWH, CTLA-4 is typically upregulated in activated T cells and serves to reduce IL-2 production and arrest proliferation.<sup>52</sup> CTLA-4 binds CD80/86 ligands which are responsible for T cell

activation via CD28 resulting in IL-2 production, CD25 upregulation, proliferation, and BCL-XL upregulation.<sup>53-55</sup> CTLA-4+PD-1- memory CD4+ T cells are predictive of the SIV reservoir size during ART and are a significant contributor to SIV reservoir persistence.<sup>56</sup> CTLA-4 expression in CD4+ T cells has been shown to contribute to the HIV reservoir.<sup>50</sup> In COVID-19, another disease where Jak 1/2 inhibitors have proven effective, one group hypothesized that CD80/86 signaling is critical in cytokine storm leading to severe disease state.<sup>57</sup> In a CLL model, decreased CTLA-4 resulted in increased pSTAT1, KI67, and BCL2.<sup>58</sup> CTLA-4 is a negative regulator of T cell activation.<sup>59</sup> In CD8+ T cells, engagement of SLAM regulates proliferation and IFN-γ production.<sup>60</sup> Engagement by an antibody promotes CD8+ cytotoxicity and DC and macrophage production of anti-inflammatory molecules.<sup>61</sup> Increased CD62L expression indicates reduced viral load and activation.<sup>62</sup> Increased CD38 in CD8+ T cells contributes to chronic inflammation and activation but is likely a compensatory effect here as observed at week 12.<sup>63, 64</sup>

Upmodulation of CTLA-4 and TIGIT can be interpreted in two ways due to the singly expressed marker framework used here, a limitation of this study, and debate in the literature on the immunomodulatory impact of these markers in PWH. Thus, upregulation here could either indicate improved immune function (singly expressed) or may be a result of rebound to baseline post-treatment as upregulation was observed at week 12. Upregulated CD127 at week 5 is an indication that ruxolitinib limited homeostatic proliferation of the HIV reservoir.

We appraised the feasibility of clinical translation of ruxolitinib for PWH. PWH expressing low levels of BCL-2/KI67 and high levels of pSTAT5 at baseline were more likely to experience reservoir decay. These predictive markers could allow for rapid screening of future trial candidates; however, a longer treatment duration may reveal others.

In considering a standard of care therapy capable of targeting the HIV reservoir, it is important to account for the entire HIV reservoir. In this analysis, we only investigated the effect of ruxolitinib on the peripheral reservoir. Additional phase 2a human trials of second generation Jak 1/2 inhibitor baricitinib are underway (shared investigational new drug application NCT05849038 *Inflammation and Depression in* 

*People with HIV* (n=65; 2:1 baricitinib to placebo) and *Baricitinib for Reduction of HIV-CNS* (n=65; 1:1 baricitinib to placebo)) and will provide additional information about longer duration treatment (10 weeks) and the impact of this class of agents on myeloid reservoir decay and targeting of sanctuary sites. However, Jak 1/2 inhibitors have been demonstrated to inhibit HIV replication in macrophages *in vitro*<sup>10</sup>, as well as reduce activated p24+ macrophages and block PMA-induced viral reactivation in macrophages *in vivo* (murine).<sup>65</sup> These data have shown that Jak 1/2 inhibitors affect the myeloid reservoir.

Soluble cytokine data were not examined in this analysis but have been previously studied with Jak 1/2 inhibitors. The observed alteration of pSTAT5, BCL-2, and immune activation in this analysis are supported by historical findings of Jak inhibitor-mediated reduction of IL-6, IL-1a/b, TNFa<sup>6, 66-69</sup> and IL-2, IL-15, and IL-7-mediated pSTAT5 and BCL-2 production.<sup>11</sup> Jak inhibitors serve to reset the immunological milieu associated with chronic immune dysregulation and eventual Immunosenescence in PWH, allowing the immune system a clean slate in which to target the HIV reservoir.

A case study at the Pasteur Institute in France, presented at the 12<sup>th</sup> International AIDs Society Conference on HIV Science<sup>70</sup>, reported ongoing absence of viral rebound and undetectable viral RNA and DNA in multiple tissue compartments (2.16 years to date) in a PWH who received an allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplant, recently named as the "Geneva Patient". Historically, these wildtype transplants do not prevent viral rebound after analytic treatment interruption (ATI), but in this study ruxolitinib was administered as a treatment for graft-vs-host disease 8 months post-transplant, and was the sole immunomodulator maintained post-ATI. As ruxolitinib has been the sole agent maintained in this person during long-term viral remission, coupled with our data, it is conceivable that ruxolitinib is a potential factor contributing to the reported decrease in proviral HIV DNA and the absence of viral rebound in this person, consistent with our calculated decay prediction model.

Jak 1/2 inhibitors target the HIV-1 reservoir, reduce systemic inflammation driving reservoir maintenance and comorbidities, and reinvigorate the immune response from exhaustion to efficiently target the reservoir. Several Jak inhibitors are FDA approved for various indications, posing an accelerated route

to useable therapy. For these reasons, Jak 1/2 inhibitors provide a foundation for effective combination therapy towards HIV cure.

### Methods

#### **Trial Design and Exclusion Criteria**

The A5336 phase 2a multicenter randomized (2:1), open label, parallel-arm trial was sponsored by the AIDS Clinical Trials Group (ACTG) and conducted at 14 academic sites across the US. The two study arms were the intervention group who received ruxolitinib (RUX) and the control group that received no intervention (CNT). People with HIV were randomized 2:1 (n=60 total, n=40 in RUX, n=20 in CNT) via a centralized computer at the ACTG Data Management Center in an open-label fashion using permuted blocks stratified by efavirenz status at baseline. In the RUX group, 10 mg of ruxolitinib was administered orally twice-daily. No study drug was administered to CNT participants. All participants continued their previously prescribed ART throughout the study. The RUX group was treated with ruxolitinib for 5 weeks post-entry and followed off-treatment for 7 weeks thereafter, while the CNT group was followed for the entire 12 weeks of the study without study treatment (**Fig. 4**).





60 people with HIV (PWH), virally suppressed  $\geq 2$  years on antiretroviral therapy (ART) regimen excluding cobicistat, randomized into two trial arms: control (CNT), n=20, and ruxolitinib-treated (RUX), n=40. The CNT arm maintained their ART regimen for the full 12 weeks of the trial with no interventions. The RUX arm was administered ruxolitinib from study weeks 0-5 at 10 mg oral dose bid (twice daily) in addition to patients' ART regimen. Ruxolitinib was discontinued at week 5, ART regimen sustained, and patients were monitored through week 12. Peripheral blood samples were collected at weeks 0, 5, and 12. Created with BioRender.

Peripheral blood samples were obtained at pre-entry, entry (week 0), and weeks 4, 5, 10, and 12. In this analysis, we had access to samples from entry, week 5, and week 12. All participants were aged 18-74 years, virologically suppressed  $\geq$  2 years (plasma HIV-1 RNA below the limit of assay quantification), receiving an ART regimen  $\geq$  12 weeks pre-entry containing an NNRTI or INSTI without cobicistat to avoid potential drug interactions with ruxolitinib via CYP34A metabolism, had no significant comorbidities besides controlled hypertension or HIV, and had a CD4+ T cell count > 350 cells/ $\mu$ L (**Supplemental Table 5**). As previously reported for this clinical trial<sup>6</sup>, there was no difference in primary safety events between arms. The study was reviewed by an independent study monitoring committee at 6-month intervals and was registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT02475655).

Characteristic		CNT (n=20)	RUX (n=40)	Entire Population (n=60)
Age	Median (IQR)	43.5 (31-54)	49 (45-54)	49 (36.5-54)
C.	Male	16	32	48
Sex	Female	4	8	12
	White non-Hispanic	7	14	21
Race/	Black non-Hispanic	10	19	29
Ethnicity	Hispanic (any race)	2	4	6
	>1 race	2	1	1
Baseline Cell	CD4+ T Cell	737 (610-930)	798 (628-973)	791 (622-972)
Counts	CD8+ T Cell	629 (496-852)	704 (483-842)	644 (490-852)
(Median (IQR))	CD4/8 Ratio	1.3 (0.8-1.6)	1.3 (0.9-1.6)	1.3 (0.9-1.6)
	≤50	0	3	3
Nadir CD4	51-100	1	2	3
Count	101-200	3	7	10
(cells/mL)	201-500	10	21	31
	>500	5	5	10
HIV-1 RNA	<40	20	39	59
(copies/mL)	114	0	1	1
	TDF/FTC/EFV	6	14	20
	ABC/3TC/DTG	5	8	13
	TAF/FTC/RPV	4	3	7
	TAF/FTC+DTG	1	4	5
ART Regimen	TDF/FTC+RAL	1	4	5
	TAF/FTC+RAL	2	2	4
	TDF/FTC+DTG	0	3	3
	TDF/FTC/RPV	1	1	2
	ABC/3TC+DTG	0	1	1
W Drug Use	Never	19	33	52
TV Drug Use	Previously	1	7	8

Supplemental Table 5 | Patient Baseline Characteristics by Study Arm

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) regimen abbreviations: TDF (tenofovir disoproxil fumarate), FTC (emtricitabine), EFV (efavirenz), ABC (abacavir), 3TC (lamivudine), DTG (dolutegravir), TAF (tenofovir alafenamide), RPV (rilpivirine), RAL (raltegravir). Median with interquartile range (IQR) reported where indicated; all others are reported number of patients per characteristic. Abbreviations: CNT (control arm) and RUX (ruxolitinib arm).

## **Flow Cytometry**

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from peripheral blood by Ficoll density gradient centrifugation and labeled with fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies against cellular markers listed in **Supplemental Table 6**. Total events (100,000 targeted) were collected using an LSRII (Becton Dickinson) cytometer and analyzed via FlowJo v10.9 software by forward scatter (FSC) and side scatter (SSC), dual doublet discrimination (FSC-area v FSC-height, and SSC-area v SSC-height), and specific gating for cellular subtypes and cellular markers (**Supplemental Fig. 7**). Negative gates were defined by unstained control samples. Fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) controls were used to set compensation parameters using titrated antibodies. Gates were primarily drawn to examine mono expression with one case of dual expression.

Cellular Marker Panels								
Ligand	<b>Memory/Proliferation</b>	Phospho-	Negative	<b>Memory</b> /Activation	Differentiation			
	/Apoptosis	STAT	Regulator					
PD-L1	BCL-2	pSTAT1	TIGIT	CD69	CD28			
PD-L2	KI67	pSTAT3	LAG3	HLA-DR	CD127			
	BCL-2/KI67	pSTAT5	BTLA	CD38	CD39			
	CD95		CTLA-4	CD25	CD62L			
			SLAM					
			PD-1					

Supplemental Table 6 | Flow Cytometry Cellular Marker Panels



PD-L1	LAG3
BCL-2	BTLA
KI67	CTLA-4
CD95	SLAM
BCL-2/KI67	PD-1
pSTAT1	CD69
pSTAT3	HLA-DR
pSTAT5	CD38
TIGIT	CD25

#### **Supplemental Figure 7 | Gating Scheme for Flow Cytometry**

Gating was based on live/dead discrimination, dual-doublet discrimination, and lineage marker sub-gating. Single and double channel gates listed for each cell subpopulation.

### **Reservoir Quantification**

Genomic DNA was extracted from PBMC using the Gentra Puregene Cell kit (Qiagen) using RNase. Integrated HIV DNA (as copies per million PBMC) was quantified via a 2-amplicon system in nested Alu qPCR (Roche Light Cycler 480) in triplicate with an ACH-2 standard as previously described.<sup>11, 16, 71</sup> IPDA was used to detect the total, intact, and 3' and 5' defective proviral HIV-1 DNA (as copies per million PBMC) in 10 replicates as previously described via digital droplet PCR (ddPCR) (Bio-Rad QX200 Droplet Generator).<sup>72</sup>

#### **Statistical Analysis**

We began with a raw data set of integrated DNA, IPDA (total, intact, 3' defective, and 5' defective), and cellular marker expression for each person (**Supplemental Table 7, Supplemental Fig. 8**). We assessed the baseline reservoir for people on RUX using integrated HIV DNA (Alu PCR) and assigned a status of high (highest 1/3 measures) and low (lowest 2/3 measures) baseline reservoir. Although this classification was arbitrary, it assisted in determining the effect of ruxolitinib stratified by baseline reservoir size. Therefore, within RUX, three groups were analyzed (high baseline reservoir, low baseline reservoir, and total RUX group). Stratification of the control group into high and low baseline reservoir would result in underpowered analyses due to the limited number of participants. For these reasons, the entire control group was used in comparisons. Due to biological variability, absolute change for reservoir measurements and cellular marker expression from baseline to weeks 5 and 12 was determined for each participant to normalize the data. We performed Spearman rho correlations (a=0.05) with linear regression trendline generation between reservoir measurements obtained via IPDA (total proviral DNA) and Alu PCR (integrated DNA) within the CNT arm longitudinally across the study to confirm validity and cohesiveness between methods.

# Supplemental Table 7 | Raw HIV-1 Reservoir and Cellular Biomarker Longitudinal Data

# https://doi.org/10.15139/S3/8YADL0

Abbreviations: RUX (ruxolitinib arm (n=40)), CNT (control arm (n=20)), IPDA ++ (intact provirus only), IPDA +- (total provirus), IPDA -- (defective provirus only), N (naïve), CM (central memory), TM (transitional memory), EM (effector memory), and TD (terminally differentiated). High and Low reservoir stratification was based on week 0 Alu-LTR qPCR reservoir measurements, where the top tertile of each group was defined as high baseline reservoir and the bottom 2/3s were defined as low baseline reservoir. (Hosted on Dataverse v5.9 build750-fb24c87).



Supplemental Figure 8 | Range of Raw Reservoir Data

Range of raw reservoir data by Integrated HIV DNA (Alu PCR) in control (CNT, n=17-18), total PWH on ruxolitinib (RUX, n=37), and PWH with high (n=13) or low (n=24) baseline reservoir and by IPDA (total, intact, 3'/5' defective) in CNT (n=8-9), total PWH on RUX (n=23-27) and PWH with high (n=9-11) or low (n=14-16) baseline reservoir. Medians with interquartile range shown.

Viral reservoir longitudinal comparisons (IPDA and Alu PCR) between within groups (RUX and CNT) were made using a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn's multiple comparisons test via GraphPad Prism v9.5.1 (a=0.05). To analyze trends, we also used linear mixed effects models (lmerTest 3.1-3 with R version 4.2.2 in RStudio v. 2023.12.0.369). In this approach, we fit the full data set being

analyzed at the same time, accounting for repeated measurements within individual. Significant differences between the trends in the different groups were analyzed with an interaction term for the decay in time with ruxolitinib treatment. Significance was assessed at the alpha=0.05 level.

To create a prediction model of decay, the rate of decay from both week 0 to 12 and week 5 to 12 was calculated by percent change of raw total proviral copies (IPDA) per participant and divided by the 7 or 12-week period resulting in a mean percent change per week. We sequentially subtracted the mean percent change per week of remaining reservoir over time until 99.99% reservoir decay was reached. We also created an exponential decay model from the total proviral DNA (IPDA) rate of decay from week 5 to 12 estimated with the mixed effects model.

To assess cellular marker modulation and association with reservoir decay, three rounds of pairwise unmatched Mann-Whitney U tests (a=0.05, GraphPad Prism v9.5.1) with Benjamini-Hochberg tests (15%) to limit the false discovery rate were used. Total proviral HIV DNA (IPDA) was used due to a strong observance of reservoir decay with this measure. However, several participants were missing either week 5 or 12 total proviral DNA (IPDA) data which limited the use of a Wilcoxon matched ranks test for round one (assessment of marker modulation within study arms). For this reason, we decided to use an unmatched Mann-Whitney U Test instead in round one to conserve the number of participants. Cellular markers identified in each round of analysis were overlapped to determine a niche list of markers that were altered by ruxolitinib treatment and were associated with reservoir decay.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the study participants, clinical staff, and study team members at the participating sites for their contributions and especially AIDS Clinical Trials Group (ACTG), Statistical and Data Management Center, participating Clinical Research Sites, and specialty laboratories including the Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Case Western Reserve University, Emory University School of Medicine, and the Emory Center for AIDS Research (CFAR). The following reagent was obtained through the AIDS Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and

Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National Institutes of Health (NIH): Anti-Human  $\alpha$ 4- $\beta$ 7 integrin monoclonal (Act-1) (catalog number 11718) from Dr A. A. Ansari.

### References

- 1. Phanuphak N, Gulick RM. HIV treatment and prevention 2019: current standards of care. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2020;15(1):4-12. doi: 10.1097/COH.0000000000000588. PubMed PMID: 31658110.
- 2. The Path That Ends AIDS: 2023 UNAIDS Global AIDS Update. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, 2023.
- 3. Hong FF, Mellors JW. Changes in HIV reservoirs during long-term antiretroviral therapy. Current opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2015;10(1):43-8. doi: 10.1097/COH.000000000000119. PubMed PMID: 25402706; PMCID: PMC4567251.
- Massanella M, Ignacio RAB, Lama JR, Pagliuzza A, Dasgupta S, Alfaro R, Rios J, Ganoza C, Pinto-Santini D, Gilada T, Duerr A, Chomont N. Long-term effects of early antiretroviral initiation on HIV reservoir markers: a longitudinal analysis of the MERLIN clinical study. Lancet Microbe. 2021;2(5):e198-e209. Epub 20210323. doi: 10.1016/s2666-5247(21)00010-0. PubMed PMID: 34841369; PMCID: PMC8622834.
- Shelton EM, Reeves DB, Bender Ignacio RA. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy during Primary HIV Infection: Effects on the Latent HIV Reservoir, Including on Analytic Treatment Interruptions. AIDS Rev. 2020;23(1):28-39. doi: 10.24875/AIDSRev.20000001. PubMed PMID: 33105471; PMCID: PMC7987773.
- Marconi VC, Moser C, Gavegnano C, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Overton ET, Tsibris A, Hunt PW, Kantor A, Sekaly RP, Tressler R, Flexner C, Hurwitz SJ, Moisi D, Clagett B, Hardin WR, Del Rio C, Schinazi RF, Lennox JJ. Randomized Trial of Ruxolitinib in Antiretroviral-Treated Adults With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;74(1):95-104. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab212. PubMed PMID: 33693561; PMCID: PMC8752257.
- Hoenigl M, Chaillon A, Little SJ. CD4/CD8 Cell Ratio in Acute HIV Infection and the Impact of Early Antiretroviral Therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(3):425-6. Epub 20160503. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw293. PubMed PMID: 27143670; PMCID: PMC4946020.
- Tenorio AR, Zheng Y, Bosch RJ, Krishnan S, Rodriguez B, Hunt PW, Plants J, Seth A, Wilson CC, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Landay AL. Soluble markers of inflammation and coagulation but not T-cell activation predict non-AIDS-defining morbid events during suppressive antiretroviral treatment. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014;210(8):1248-59. Epub 20140501. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu254. PubMed PMID: 24795473; PMCID: PMC4192039.
- 9. Deeks SG, Verdin E, McCune JM. Immunosenescence and HIV. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(4):501-6. Epub 20120602. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012.05.004. PubMed PMID: 22658763.
- Gavegnano C, Detorio M, Montero C, Bosque A, Planelles V, Schinazi RF. Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib are potent and selective inhibitors of HIV-1 replication and virus reactivation in vitro. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2014;58(4):1977-86. Epub 20140113. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02496-13. PubMed PMID: 24419350; PMCID: PMC4023721.
- 11. Gavegnano C, Brehm JH, Dupuy FP, Talla A, Ribeiro SP, Kulpa DA, Cameron C, Santos S, Hurwitz SJ, Marconi VC, Routy JP, Sabbagh L, Schinazi RF, Sekaly RP. Novel mechanisms to inhibit HIV reservoir seeding using Jak inhibitors. PLoS pathogens. 2017;13(12):e1006740. Epub 20171221. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006740. PubMed PMID: 29267399; PMCID: PMC5739511.
- Reece MD, Song C, Hancock SC, Pereira Ribeiro S, Kulpa DA, Gavegnano C. Repurposing BCL-2 and Jak 1/2 inhibitors: Cure and treatment of HIV-1 and other viral infections. Frontiers in immunology. 2022;13:1033672. Epub 20221209. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1033672. PubMed PMID: 36569952; PMCID: PMC9782439.
- de Armas LR, Gavegnano C, Pallikkuth S, Rinaldi S, Pan L, Battivelli E, Verdin E, Younis RT, Pahwa R, Williams SL, Schinazi RF, Pahwa S. The Effect of JAK1/2 Inhibitors on HIV Reservoir Using Primary Lymphoid Cell Model of HIV Latency. Frontiers in immunology. 2021;12:720697. Epub 20210831. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.720697. PubMed PMID: 34531866; PMCID: PMC8438319.
- de Armas LR, Pallikkuth S, George V, Rinaldi S, Pahwa R, Arheart KL, Pahwa S. Reevaluation of immune activation in the era of cART and an aging HIV-infected population. JCI Insight. 2017;2(20). Epub 20171019. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.95726. PubMed PMID: 29046481; PMCID: PMC5846952.
- Innis EA, Levinger C, Szaniawski MA, Williams E, Alcami J, Bosque A, Schiffer JT, Coiras M, Spivak AM, Planelles V. Pharmacologic control of homeostatic and antigen-driven proliferation to target HIV-1 persistence. Biochem Pharmacol. 2021;194:114816. Epub 20211026. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114816. PubMed PMID: 34715067; PMCID: PMC8629953.
- 16. Chomont N, El-Far M, Ancuta P, Trautmann L, Procopio FA, Yassine-Diab B, Boucher G, Boulassel MR, Ghattas G, Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Hill BJ, Douek DC, Routy JP, Haddad EK, Sekaly RP. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. Nature medicine. 2009;15(8):893-900. Epub 20090621. doi: 10.1038/nm.1972. PubMed PMID: 19543283; PMCID: PMC2859814.
- Saylor D, Dickens AM, Sacktor N, Haughey N, Slusher B, Pletnikov M, Mankowski JL, Brown A, Volsky DJ, McArthur JC. HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder--pathogenesis and prospects for treatment. Nat Rev Neurol. 2016;12(4):234-48. Epub 20160311. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.27. PubMed PMID: 26965674; PMCID: PMC4937456.
- Gubser C, Chiu C, Lewin SR, Rasmussen TA. Immune checkpoint blockade in HIV. EBioMedicine. 2022;76:103840. Epub 20220202. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.103840. PubMed PMID: 35123267; PMCID: PMC8882999.
- Rodriguez-Mora S, Spivak AM, Szaniawski MA, Lopez-Huertas MR, Alcami J, Planelles V, Coiras M. Tyrosine Kinase Inhibition: a New Perspective in the Fight against HIV. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2019;16(5):414-22. doi: 10.1007/s11904-019-00462-5. PubMed PMID: 31506864; PMCID: PMC6814579.
- Ezeonwumelu IJ, Garcia-Vidal E, Ballana E. JAK-STAT Pathway: A Novel Target to Tackle Viral Infections. Viruses. 2021;13(12). Epub 20211127. doi: 10.3390/v13122379. PubMed PMID: 34960648; PMCID: PMC8704679.
- 21. Tanaka Y, McInnes IB, Taylor PC, Byers NL, Chen L, de Bono S, Issa M, Macias WL, Rogai V, Rooney TP, Schlichting DE, Zuckerman SH, Emery P. Characterization and Changes of Lymphocyte Subsets in Baricitinib-Treated Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis: An Integrated Analysis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2018;70(12):1923-32. Epub 20181022. doi: 10.1002/art.40680. PubMed PMID: 30058112; PMCID: PMC6587754.
- 22. Strober B, Buonanno M, Clark JD, Kawabata T, Tan H, Wolk R, Valdez H, Langley RG, Harness J, Menter A, Papp K. Effect of tofacitinib, a Janus kinase inhibitor, on haematological parameters during 12 weeks of psoriasis treatment. Br J Dermatol. 2013;169(5):992-9. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12517. PubMed PMID: 23855761.
- 23. Hodge JA, Kawabata TT, Krishnaswami S, Clark JD, Telliez JB, Dowty ME, Menon S, Lamba M, Zwillich S. The mechanism of action of tofacitinib an oral Janus kinase inhibitor for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Clinical and experimental rheumatology. 2016;34(2):318-28. Epub 20160310. PubMed PMID: 26966791.
- 24. Goropevsek A, Gorenjak M, Gradisnik S, Dai K, Holc I, Hojs R, Krajnc I, Pahor A, Avcin T. STAT5 phosphorylation in CD4 T cells from patients with SLE is related to changes in their subsets and follow-up disease severity. Journal of leukocyte biology. 2017;101(6):1405-18. Epub 20170302. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5A0416-194R. PubMed PMID: 28254841.
- Bitar M, Boldt A, Freitag MT, Gruhn B, Kohl U, Sack U. Evaluating STAT5 Phosphorylation as a Mean to Assess T Cell Proliferation. Frontiers in immunology. 2019;10:722. Epub 20190405. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00722. PubMed PMID: 31024554; PMCID: PMC6460883.
- 26. Bitar M, Boldt A, Binder S, Borte M, Kentouche K, Borte S, Sack U. Flow cytometric measurement of STAT1 and STAT3 phosphorylation in CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells-clinical applications in primary immunodeficiency diagnostics. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;140(5):1439-41 e9. Epub 20170607. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.05.017. PubMed PMID: 28601682.

- Bajnok A, Ivanova M, Rigo J, Jr., Toldi G. The Distribution of Activation Markers and Selectins on Peripheral T Lymphocytes in Preeclampsia. Mediators Inflamm. 2017;2017:8045161. Epub 20170507. doi: 10.1155/2017/8045161. PubMed PMID: 28555090; PMCID: PMC5438859.
- Hayes ET, Hagan CE, Khoryati L, Gavin MA, Campbell DJ. Regulatory T Cells Maintain Selective Access to IL-2 and Immune Homeostasis despite Substantially Reduced CD25 Function. Journal of immunology. 2020;205(10):2667-78. Epub 20201014. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1901520. PubMed PMID: 33055282; PMCID: PMC7657993.
- Cauda R, Tyring SK, Tamburrini E, Ventura G, Tambarello M, Ortona L. Diminished interferon gamma production may be the earliest indicator of infection with the human immunodeficiency virus. Viral Immunol. 1987;1(4):247-58. doi: 10.1089/vim.1987.1.247. PubMed PMID: 2978456.
- Boyman O, Sprent J. The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(3):180-90. Epub 20120217. doi: 10.1038/nri3156. PubMed PMID: 22343569.
- Naciute M, Maciunaite G, Mieliauskaite D, Rugiene R, Zinkeviciene A, Mauricas M, Murovska M, Girkontaite I. Increased Numbers of CD4(+)CD25(+) and CD8(+)CD25(+) T-Cells in Peripheral Blood of Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis with Parvovirus B19 Infection. In Vivo. 2017;31(2):181-5. doi: 10.21873/invivo.11043. PubMed PMID: 28358698; PMCID: PMC5411743.
- Bisikirska B, Colgan J, Luban J, Bluestone JA, Herold KC. TCR stimulation with modified anti-CD3 mAb expands CD8+ T cell population and induces CD8+CD25+ Tregs. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2005;115(10):2904-13. Epub 20050915. doi: 10.1172/JCI23961. PubMed PMID: 16167085; PMCID: PMC1201661.
- 33. Imaizumi K, Suzuki T, Kojima M, Shimomura M, Sakuyama N, Tsukada Y, Sasaki T, Nishizawa Y, Taketomi A, Ito M, Nakatsura T. Ki67 expression and localization of T cells after neoadjuvant therapies as reliable predictive markers in rectal cancer. Cancer Sci. 2020;111(1):23-35. Epub 20191218. doi: 10.1111/cas.14223. PubMed PMID: 31660687; PMCID: PMC6942445.
- Scholzen T, Gerdes J. The Ki-67 protein: from the known and the unknown. J Cell Physiol. 2000;182(3):311-22. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4652(200003)182:3<311::AID-JCP1>3.0.CO;2-9. PubMed PMID: 10653597.
- Boasso A, Shearer GM. Chronic innate immune activation as a cause of HIV-1 immunopathogenesis. Clinical immunology. 2008;126(3):235-42. Epub 20071003. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2007.08.015. PubMed PMID: 17916442; PMCID: PMC2275778.
- 36. Xia H, Jiang W, Zhang X, Qin L, Su B, Li Z, Sun J, Zhang Y, Zhang T, Lu X, Wu H. Elevated Level of CD4(+) T Cell Immune Activation in Acutely HIV-1-Infected Stage Associates With Increased IL-2 Production and Cycling Expression, and Subsequent CD4(+) T Cell Preservation. Frontiers in immunology. 2018;9:616. Epub 20180327. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00616. PubMed PMID: 29636753; PMCID: PMC5880913.
- Lauzurica P, Sancho D, Torres M, Albella B, Marazuela M, Merino T, Bueren JA, Martinez AC, Sanchez-Madrid F. Phenotypic and functional characteristics of hematopoietic cell lineages in CD69-deficient mice. Blood. 2000;95(7):2312-20. PubMed PMID: 10733501.
- Vilanova M, Tavares D, Ferreira P, Oliveira L, Nobrega A, Appelberg R, Arala-Chaves M. Role of monocytes in the up-regulation of the early activation marker CD69 on B and T murine lymphocytes induced by microbial mitogens. Scand J Immunol. 1996;43(2):155-63. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-25.x. PubMed PMID: 8633195.
- 39. De Maria R, Cifone MG, Trotta R, Rippo MR, Festuccia C, Santoni A, Testi R. Triggering of human monocyte activation through CD69, a member of the natural killer cell gene complex family of signal transducing receptors. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1994;180(5):1999-2004. doi: 10.1084/jem.180.5.1999. PubMed PMID: 7964477; PMCID: PMC2191715.
- 40. Blessin NC, Abu-Hashem R, Mandelkow T, Li W, Simon R, Hube-Magg C, Moller-Koop C, Witt M, Schmidt A, Buscheck F, Fraune C, Luebke AM, Moller K, Jacobsen F, Lutz F, Lennartz M, Steurer S, Sauter G, Hoflmayer D, Tsourlakis MC, Hinsch A, Burandt E, Wilczak W, Minner S,

Clauditz TS. Prevalence of proliferating CD8(+) cells in normal lymphatic tissues, inflammation and cancer. Aging (Albany NY). 2021;13(11):14590-603. Epub 20210603. doi: 10.18632/aging.203113. PubMed PMID: 34083496; PMCID: PMC8221353.

- Chandrasekar AP, Cummins NW, Badley AD. The Role of the BCL-2 Family of Proteins in HIV-1 Pathogenesis and Persistence. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2019;33(1). Epub 20191030. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00107-19. PubMed PMID: 31666279; PMCID: PMC6822993.
- 42. Song JW, Huang HH, Zhang C, Yang HG, Zhang JY, Xu RN, Jin L, Shi M, Wang FS, Jiao YM. Expression of CD39 Is Correlated With HIV DNA Levels in Naive Tregs in Chronically Infected ART Naive Patients. Frontiers in immunology. 2019;10:2465. Epub 20191017. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02465. PubMed PMID: 31681335; PMCID: PMC6811520.
- Chevalier MF, Weiss L. The split personality of regulatory T cells in HIV infection. Blood. 2013;121(1):29-37. Epub 20121004. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-07-409755. PubMed PMID: 23043072.
- 44. Imamichi H, Lempicki RA, Adelsberger JW, Hasley RB, Rosenberg A, Roby G, Rehm CA, Nelson A, Krishnan S, Pavlick M, Woods CJ, Baseler MW, Lane HC. The CD8+ HLA-DR+ T cells expanded in HIV-1 infection are qualitatively identical to those from healthy controls. Eur J Immunol. 2012;42(10):2608-20. Epub 20120806. doi: 10.1002/eji.201142046. PubMed PMID: 22777759; PMCID: PMC3818066.
- 45. Zhu T, Cao W, Li T. HIV DNA positively correlates with HLA-DR+CD8+ T lymphocytes over 8year suppressive antiretroviral therapy. Aids. 2023;37(8):1335-7. Epub 20230420. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000003587. PubMed PMID: 37115824; PMCID: PMC10242515.
- Sieg SF, Shive CL, Panigrahi S, Freeman ML. Probing the Interface of HIV and Inflammaging. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2021;18(3):198-210. Epub 20210311. doi: 10.1007/s11904-021-00547-0. PubMed PMID: 33709322.
- Hodge JN, Srinivasula S, Hu Z, Read SW, Porter BO, Kim I, Mican JM, Paik C, Degrange P, Di Mascio M, Sereti I. Decreases in IL-7 levels during antiretroviral treatment of HIV infection suggest a primary mechanism of receptor-mediated clearance. Blood. 2011;118(12):3244-53. Epub 20110721. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-323600. PubMed PMID: 21778338; PMCID: PMC3179394.
- Crawley AM, Angel JB. The influence of HIV on CD127 expression and its potential implications for IL-7 therapy. Semin Immunol. 2012;24(3):231-40. Epub 20120314. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2012.02.006. PubMed PMID: 22421574.
- 49. Camargo JF, Kulkarni H, Agan BK, Gaitan AA, Beachy LA, Srinivas S, He W, Anderson S, Marconi VC, Dolan MJ, Ahuja SK. Responsiveness of T cells to interleukin-7 is associated with higher CD4+ T cell counts in HIV-1-positive individuals with highly active antiretroviral therapyinduced viral load suppression. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2009;199(12):1872-82. doi: 10.1086/598858. PubMed PMID: 19432535; PMCID: PMC3777824.
- 50. Pino M, Pereira Ribeiro S, Pagliuzza A, Ghneim K, Khan A, Ryan E, Harper JL, King CT, Welbourn S, Micci L, Aldrete S, Delman KA, Stuart T, Lowe M, Brenchley JM, Derdeyn CA, Easley K, Sekaly RP, Chomont N, Paiardini M, Marconi VC. Increased homeostatic cytokines and stability of HIV-infected memory CD4 T-cells identify individuals with suboptimal CD4 T-cell recovery on-ART. PLoS pathogens. 2021;17(8):e1009825. Epub 20210827. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009825. PubMed PMID: 34449812; PMCID: PMC8397407.
- Blazkova J, Huiting ED, Boddapati AK, Shi V, Whitehead EJ, Justement JS, Nordstrom JL, Moir S, Lack J, Chun TW. Correlation Between TIGIT Expression on CD8+ T Cells and Higher Cytotoxic Capacity. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2021;224(9):1599-604. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiab155. PubMed PMID: 33744939; PMCID: PMC8599894.
- 52. Kaufmann DE, Kavanagh DG, Pereyra F, Zaunders JJ, Mackey EW, Miura T, Palmer S, Brockman M, Rathod A, Piechocka-Trocha A, Baker B, Zhu B, Le Gall S, Waring MT, Ahern R, Moss K, Kelleher AD, Coffin JM, Freeman GJ, Rosenberg ES, Walker BD. Upregulation of CTLA-4 by HIV-specific CD4+ T cells correlates with disease progression and defines a reversible immune

dysfunction. Nature immunology. 2007;8(11):1246-54. Epub 20070930. doi: 10.1038/ni1515. PubMed PMID: 17906628.

- Wang S, Chen L. Co-signaling molecules of the B7-CD28 family in positive and negative regulation of T lymphocyte responses. Microbes Infect. 2004;6(8):759-66. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2004.03.007. PubMed PMID: 15207823.
- 54. Alegre ML, Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB. T-cell regulation by CD28 and CTLA-4. Nat Rev Immunol. 2001;1(3):220-8. doi: 10.1038/35105024. PubMed PMID: 11905831.
- Fuse S, Obar JJ, Bellfy S, Leung EK, Zhang W, Usherwood EJ. CD80 and CD86 control antiviral CD8+ T-cell function and immune surveillance of murine gammaherpesvirus 68. Journal of virology. 2006;80(18):9159-70. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00422-06. PubMed PMID: 16940527; PMCID: PMC1563936.
- 56. McGary CS, Deleage C, Harper J, Micci L, Ribeiro SP, Paganini S, Kuri-Cervantes L, Benne C, Ryan ES, Balderas R, Jean S, Easley K, Marconi V, Silvestri G, Estes JD, Sekaly RP, Paiardini M. CTLA-4(+)PD-1(-) Memory CD4(+) T Cells Critically Contribute to Viral Persistence in Antiretroviral Therapy-Suppressed, SIV-Infected Rhesus Macaques. Immunity. 2017;47(4):776-88 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.09.018. PubMed PMID: 29045906; PMCID: PMC5679306.
- 57. Julia A, Bonafonte-Pardas I, Gomez A, Lopez-Lasanta M, Lopez-Corbeto M, Martinez-Mateu SH, Llados J, Rodriguez-Nunez I, Myers RM, Marsal S. Targeting of the CD80/86 proinflammatory axis as a therapeutic strategy to prevent severe COVID-19. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):11462. Epub 20210601. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-90797-0. PubMed PMID: 34075090; PMCID: PMC8169841.
- Mittal AK, Chaturvedi NK, Rohlfsen RA, Gupta P, Joshi AD, Hegde GV, Bociek RG, Joshi SS. Role of CTLA4 in the proliferation and survival of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. PloS one. 2013;8(8):e70352. Epub 20130801. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070352. PubMed PMID: 23936412; PMCID: PMC3731360.
- Vandenborre K, Van Gool SW, Kasran A, Ceuppens JL, Boogaerts MA, Vandenberghe P. Interaction of CTLA-4 (CD152) with CD80 or CD86 inhibits human T-cell activation. Immunology. 1999;98(3):413-21. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.1999.00888.x. PubMed PMID: 10583602; PMCID: PMC2326945.
- Meroni L, Fusi ML, Varchetta S, Biasin M, Rusconi S, Villa ML, De Vries JE, Aversa G, Galli M, Clerici M. Altered signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM) expression in HIV infection and redirection of HIV-specific responses via SLAM triggering. Clinical immunology. 1999;92(3):276-84. doi: 10.1006/clim.1999.4747. PubMed PMID: 10479532.
- Veillette A. SLAM-family receptors: immune regulators with or without SAP-family adaptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010;2(3):a002469. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a002469. PubMed PMID: 20300214; PMCID: PMC2829957.
- 62. Vassena L, Giuliani E, Buonomini AR, Malagnino V, Andreoni M, Doria M. Brief Report: L-Selectin (CD62L) Is Downregulated on CD4+ and CD8+ T Lymphocytes of HIV-1-Infected Individuals Naive for ART. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes. 2016;72(5):492-7. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000000999. PubMed PMID: 27003497.
- 63. Ho HN, Hultin LE, Mitsuyasu RT, Matud JL, Hausner MA, Bockstoce D, Chou CC, O'Rourke S, Taylor JM, Giorgi JV. Circulating HIV-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cells express CD38 and HLA-DR antigens. Journal of immunology. 1993;150(7):3070-9. PubMed PMID: 8454874.
- 64. Mathur P, Kottilil S, Pallikkuth S, Frasca D, Ghosh A. Persistent CD38 Expression on CD8 + T Lymphocytes Contributes to Altered Mitochondrial Function and Chronic Inflammation in People With HIV, Despite ART. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes. 2022;91(4):410-8. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000003080. PubMed PMID: 36000933; PMCID: PMC9613598.
- 65. Gavegnano C, Haile WB, Hurwitz S, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, Tyor WR. Baricitinib reverses HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders in a SCID mouse model and reservoir seeding in vitro. J Neuroinflammation. 2019;16(1):182. Epub 20190927. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1565-6. PubMed PMID: 31561750; PMCID: PMC6764124.

- 66. Verstovsek S, Mesa RA, Gotlib J, Levy RS, Gupta V, DiPersio JF, Catalano JV, Deininger M, Miller C, Silver RT, Talpaz M, Winton EF, Harvey JH, Jr., Arcasoy MO, Hexner E, Lyons RM, Paquette R, Raza A, Vaddi K, Erickson-Viitanen S, Koumenis IL, Sun W, Sandor V, Kantarjian HM. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of ruxolitinib for myelofibrosis. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(9):799-807. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1110557. PubMed PMID: 22375971; PMCID: PMC4822164.
- Chen X, Williams WV, Sandor V, Yeleswaram S. Population pharmacokinetic analysis of orallyadministered ruxolitinib (INCB018424 Phosphate) in patients with primary myelofibrosis (PMF), post-polycythemia vera myelofibrosis (PPV-MF) or post-essential thrombocythemia myelofibrosis (PET MF). Journal of clinical pharmacology. 2013;53(7):721-30. Epub 20130516. doi: 10.1002/jcph.102. PubMed PMID: 23677817.
- 68. Tanaka Y. [Tofacitinib for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis]. Nihon rinsho Japanese journal of clinical medicine. 2016;74(6):974-80. PubMed PMID: 27311188.
- 69. Song GG, Bae SC, Lee YH. Efficacy and safety of tofacitinib for active rheumatoid arthritis with an inadequate response to methotrexate or disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. The Korean journal of internal medicine. 2014;29(5):656-63. Epub 20140828. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2014.29.5.656. PubMed PMID: 25228842; PMCID: PMC4164730.
- 70. Saez-Cirion AM, A.-C.; Avettand-Fenoel, V.; Thoueille, P.; Nabergoj, M.; Hentzien, M.; Mereles Costa, E.; Salgado, M.; Nijhuis, M.; Melard, A.; Gardiennet, E.; Monceaux, V.; Passaes, C.; Chapel, A.; Perdomo-Celis, F.; Wensing, A.; Martinez-Picado, J.; Yerly, S.; Rougemont, M.; Calmy, A.; ICISTEM study group, editor. Absence of viral rebound for 18 months without antiretrovirals after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation with wild-type CCR5 donor cells to treat a biphenotypic sarcoma. 12th IAS Conference on HIV Science; 2023; Brisbane, Australia.
- Vandergeeten C, Fromentin R, DaFonseca S, Lawani MB, Sereti I, Lederman MM, Ramgopal M, Routy JP, Sekaly RP, Chomont N. Interleukin-7 promotes HIV persistence during antiretroviral therapy. Blood. 2013;121(21):4321-9. Epub 20130415. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-11-465625. PubMed PMID: 23589672; PMCID: PMC3663425.
- 72. Bruner KM, Wang Z, Simonetti FR, Bender AM, Kwon KJ, Sengupta S, Fray EJ, Beg SA, Antar AAR, Jenike KM, Bertagnolli LN, Capoferri AA, Kufera JT, Timmons A, Nobles C, Gregg J, Wada N, Ho YC, Zhang H, Margolick JB, Blankson JN, Deeks SG, Bushman FD, Siliciano JD, Laird GM, Siliciano RF. A quantitative approach for measuring the reservoir of latent HIV-1 proviruses. Nature. 2019;566(7742):120-5. Epub 20190130. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0898-8. PubMed PMID: 30700913; PMCID: PMC6447073.

# Chapter IV: Effect of Baricitinib on HIV-1 Reservoir Maintenance In Vitro

Monica D. Reece<sup>1</sup>, Lindsey Ramirez<sup>2</sup>, Baek Kim<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Christina Gavegnano<sup>1,5,6,7</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatrics, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
 <sup>3</sup> Center for Drug Discovery, Children's Healthcare of Atlanta and Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
 <sup>4</sup> Center for ViroScience and Cure, Children's Healthcare of Atlanta, Atlanta, GA, USA
 <sup>5</sup> Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA
 <sup>6</sup> Center for the Study of Human Health, Emory College, Atlanta, GA, USA
 <sup>7</sup> Harvard Medical School, Center for Bioethics, Boston, MA, USA

#### Introduction

The HIV reservoir is a major barrier to the cure for HIV-1 and persists despite peripheral viral suppression with direct acting antiretroviral therapy (ART). HIV-1 can establish a reservoir in CD4+ T cells and myeloid cells.<sup>1-4</sup> Elevated inflammation persists despite well-controlled peripheral viremia, and contributes to HIV-1 persistence, including in the central nervous system (CNS) compartment, and specifically the myeloid reservoir.<sup>5</sup> HIV-1 infected macrophages contribute to immune dysfunction that is associated with HIV-1 persistence in vivo, including induction of cytokines such as IL-1b, IL-6, IL-7, IL-10, and IL-15. Persistent inflammation and immune dysregulation in macrophages exacerbates comorbidities such as HIV-associated neurocognitive disorder (HAND) and CNS persistence.<sup>5-7</sup> The central nervous system CNS has been identified as a reservoir site.<sup>5, 8-10</sup> HIV can traverse the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and establish a reservoir in tissue resident macrophages in the CNS, and replication competent virus has been isolated from urethral macrophages and lymphoid tissues in macaques.<sup>9, 11</sup> When CD4+ T cells are depleted *in vivo*, viral replication was sustained by tissue resident macrophages suggesting an important role in HIV reservoir and viral persistence.<sup>9, 12</sup> Tissue resident macrophages were found to be a highly productive source of HIV during opportunistic co-infection in lymph nodes.<sup>13</sup> To date, there are no interventions specifically targeting the myeloid derived viral sanctuary, which is a critical unmet need that can be explored as an eventual add on to cure-based regimens or structured treatment interruptions, including CNS eradication strategies. We previously repurposed baricitinib, a novel repurposed immunomodulatory agent (rheumatoid arthritis), for the indication of COVID-19, and seek to do the same for HIV-1.14-16

Baricitinib is a second-generation, FDA-approved Jak 1/2 inhibitor with the indication for rheumatoid arthritis, COVID-19, and alopecia areata (Olumiant Package Insert). Baricitinib is given quaque die (qd; once daily) orally, is detectable in the cerebrospinal fluid of Rhesus Macaques up to 24 hours after dosing, and preliminary data from our group demonstrates that baricitinib accumulates in the CSF of humans (n=2) to sufficient concentrations to confer anti-HIV properties.<sup>17</sup> Baricitinib is 80% orally

bioavailable, renally cleared (reducing potential for drug-drug interactions with other hepatically cleared ART or other co-administered agents), reaches peak plasma concentrations within an hour of administration, has an elimination half-life of 12 hours, and is approved for chronic long-term use including in children as young as two years of age (Olumiant package insert). For these reasons, baricitinib represents a second-generation Jak 1/2 selective inhibitor with the most favorable safety and efficacy profile of all approved agents in the Jak inhibitor class and provides a robust foundation for additional studies towards the indication of HIV-1, which our group has extensively studied, including *in vitro, ex vivo*, and human studies.<sup>18-21</sup>

The Janus Kinase Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (Jak STAT) pathway is a key part of the inflammatory immune response and becomes dysregulated during chronic infection and immune activation such as in HIV-1 infection. Activation of Jak STAT drives establishment, maintenance, expansion, and reseeding of the HIV reservoir (**Figure 1**).<sup>20, 22-30</sup>



# Figure 1 | Jak-Mediated Inflammatory Cytokine Secretion Products

Activated Jak 1/2 signaling drives reservoir lifespan through IL-15 induced pSTAT expression leading to BCL-2 production, expansion through IL-7-mediated homeostatic proliferation, and reactivation and expansion through IL-15-mediated reactivation and expansion of latent HIV and reseeding. Dysregulated inflammatory markers produced via Jak STAT contribute to inflammatory-induced pathologies such as

HAND and CVD. Jak (1/2) STAT activation drives HIV-1 reservoir lifespan, expansion, and reactivation. Made with BioRender.

Our group demonstrated that ruxolitinib and tofacitinib individually and synergistically inhibit viral replication and reactivation in lymphocytes and macrophages, including in HIV-1 strains with polymerase substitutions.<sup>31</sup> Our team also demonstrated that baricitinib is BBB penetrant in a murine model of HIV in the CNS, effective in neuroinflammation reduction, reversal in HAND related behavioral abnormalities, and reduction of reservoir as measured by p24+ cells.<sup>21</sup> We have also shown that baricitinib blocks IL-15 induced activation. IL-15 production confers reactivation of latent HIV-1.<sup>3, 32-35</sup> We have previously shown that ruxolitinib inhibits reactivation of latent HIV-1, and observed that baricitinib demonstrated a similar mechanistic functionality.<sup>20, 31</sup> Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib treatment resulted in higher IL-7R expression suggesting a lack of receptor engagement resulting in less homeostatic proliferation and decreased integrated HIV DNA. We have also previously demonstrated that baricitinib can reduce the frequency of latent cells in a primary tonsillar T cell model, as well as reverse key markers of CNS persistence and directly reduce viral burden in a murine model.<sup>18, 21</sup> We hypothesized that baricitinib inhibition of Jak STAT activation, associated with HIV persistence, increased reservoir size and viral load, will result in a decreased peripheral and myeloid reservoir.

Pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by receptor engagement activate Jak 1/2, which phosphorylates STAT5 (pSTAT5). pSTAT5 is then translocated into the nucleus where it binds to the promoter region of the B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2) pro-survival gene (among other pro-reservoir factors) and promotes transcription. BCL-2 is an anti-apoptotic, pro-survival protein that has commonly been studied in cancer but also plays a role in HIV reservoir maintenance. BCL-2 sequesters host BH3 to prevent BH3 from binding to pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bak, Bax, Bim, and Bad. If these pro-apoptotic proteins are engaged, they will oligomerize in the mitochondrial outer membrane inducing mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) which releases several cell death factors including cytochrome C. Cytochrome C activates procaspase-9 which in turn initiates a caspase cascade that results in apoptosis.<sup>36</sup>.

<sup>37</sup> pSTAT5 expression has been linked to increased integrated HIV DNA levels *in vivo*, *in vitro*, and immune activation, reservoir size *in vivo*, and BCL-2 expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*.<sup>20, 38</sup> Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib reduced IFN-α stimulated STAT5 phosphorylation, IL-2, IL-7, and IL-15 induced pSTAT5 expression and consequently IL-2, IL-7, and IL-15 induced BCL-2 levels.<sup>20</sup> For the A5336 human Phase 2a trial with ruxolitinib, a significant reduction in CD4+/BCL-2+ cells was also observed, demonstrating that ruxolitinib can also confer decrease in this key reservoir lifespan marker in a human study.<sup>38</sup> STAT5 transcriptionally targets BCL-2 resulting in prolonged cell survival.<sup>20</sup> The Jak/STAT signaling pathway is linked to HIV latency through IL-7. IL-7 controls latency and signals through STAT5.

#### Assessment of Direct Acting Antiviral Activity

Baricitinib inhibits viral production, but it is unknown if this happens via direct-acting antiviral activity or through immunomodulation alone.<sup>20, 21, 31, 38, 39</sup> To test the antiviral activity of baricitinib, we first isolated primary human CD4+ T cells and macrophages. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from human leukapheresis via density gradient centrifugation. CD4+ T cells and CD14+ monocytes were isolated from PBMCs via magnetic bead selection (Miltenyi Biotec, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA). CD4+ T cells were activated via IL-2 (0.06 µg/mL or 50 IU/mL, Miltenyi Biotec, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA) and PHA (0.006 mg/mL, MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, California, USA) exposure for 72 hours, and maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium (RPMI) with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum US origin (FBS, MedSupply Partners, Atlanta, Georgia, USA) and 1x penicillin/streptomycin (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA). Monocytes were differentiated to macrophages using granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (10 ng/mL, Miltenyi Biotec, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA) for 72 hours and maintained in RPMI with 10% heat-inactivated FBS and 1x penicillin/streptomycin. A single-cycle HIV-GFP reporter strain (NL4-3 backbone with an eGFP Nef

insertion) was used to identify viral infection/replication (**Figure 2**) (received from Baek Kim Lab, Emory University).<sup>40, 41</sup>



## Figure 2 | HIV-GFP Reporter Strain

An eGFP gene was inserted into the Nef gene of a NL4-3 HIV-1 backbone. The strain is a single-cycle reporter which produces GFP upon replication.

CD4+ T cells and macrophages were transduced with the HIV-GFP reporter and incubated with baricitinib at various concentrations for 3 days (T cells) or 5 days (macrophages). Flow cytometry was performed to measure the percentage of GFP+ cells and the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI). The IC<sub>50</sub> was calculated from GFP MFI over various concentrations of baricitinib via GraphPad Prism (**Figure 3**). Data were normalized to HIV-GFP naïve cells. A one-way ANOVA was performed to compare treatment conditions to an HIV-GFP transduced untreated control (GraphPad Prism,  $\alpha$ =0.05). Emtricitabine at 1µM successfully reduced GFP expression in CD4+ T cells and macrophages. In comparison, Baricitinib was able to significantly reduce GFP expression (percent positive) and MFI in CD4+ T cells at 0.1µM. Baricitinib did not appear to reduce GFP expression or MFI in macrophages. The IC<sub>50</sub> of baricitinib was calculated to be 0.0209µM in CD4+ T cells and >100µM in macrophages. These preliminary data show that baricitinib has an antiviral effect within T cells but not macrophages. Previously, Gavegnano et al. reported that %p24+ macrophages were reduced by baricitinib at 50 mg/kg *in vivo* in a murine model. Lack of antiviral effect observed here does not directly relate to or contradict p24+ macrophage counts in mice as we assessed active viral replication in **Figure 3**.<sup>21</sup> HIV p24 can be produced without complete active replication.<sup>42</sup>



Figure 3 | HIV-GFP Indication of Antiviral Activity in Primary Human Cells

A) HIV-GFP (D3) transduced CD4+ T cells were treated with baricitinib (0-100 $\mu$ M) and emtricitabine (1 $\mu$ M). Flow cytometric analysis showed a significant decrease in the percentage of GFP+ cells and in GFP MFI with 0.1 $\mu$ M baricitinib compared to untreated. The IC<sub>50</sub> of baricitinib in CD4+ T cells was calculated to be 0.0209 $\mu$ M. **B**) HIV-GFP (D3) transduced macrophages were treated with baricitinib (0-100 $\mu$ M) and emtricitabine (1 $\mu$ M). Flow cytometric analysis showed no significant decrease in the percentage of GFP+ cells or GFP MFI compared to untreated. The IC<sub>50</sub> of baricitinib in macrophages was calculated to be >100 $\mu$ M.

To determine if baricitinib was able to directly alter replication and transcription, we measured the effect of baricitinib on DNA and mRNA copies of HIV-GFP via qPCR. Cultures were prepared as stated above. This experiment was done in collaboration with Lindsey Ramirez in the Kim Lab at Emory University. We found that the cycle threshold (Ct) value of baricitinib-treated cells was not significantly different compared to untreated HIV-GFP transduced CD4+ T cells and macrophages for both DNA and

mRNA copies (**Figure 4**). Baricitinib does not appear to affect viral replication or transcription. Further studies are required to assess if baricitinib has any impact on translation or post-translational modifications.



Figure 4 | Baricitinib Effect on HIV-GFP DNA and mRNA

DNA and mRNA copies were measured via qPCR for HIV-GFP transduced CD4+ T cells and macrophages treated with baricitinib (0-10 $\mu$ M). No statistically significant differences in cycle threshold (Ct) value were observed for DNA or mRNA copies compared to untreated HIV-GFP transduced cells in both CD4+ T cells and macrophages.

# **Baricitinib-Mediated Immunomodulation**

Given the lack of apparent direct-acting antiviral effects, we assessed several markers to elucidate the immunomodulation activity of baricitinib. We first examined the ability of baricitinib to block IL-15 mediated pSTAT5 production. IL-15 is produced through Jak1 activation and promotes increased reservoir lifespan and reservoir reactivation from latency. We have previously shown that baricitinib blocks IL-15 mediated reactivation, ruxolitinib and tofacitinib block IL-15 mediated pSTAT5 production, and that ruxolitinib reduces BCL-2 expression, but the impact of baricitinib on IL-15 mediated pSTAT5 expression has not been shown.<sup>3, 20, 32-35, 38</sup> CEMx174 cells (ATCC NIH AIDS Reagent Program, ARP-272, Manassas, Virginia, USA) were pre-treated with baricitinib (1µM, BioVision, Milpitas, CA, USA) or media only for 2 hours, and then IL-15 (10 ng/mL, Miltenyi Biotec, Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA) was added.

Emtricitabine (1 µM, TCI Chemicals, Tokyo, Japan) was used as a control. Cells were cultured for 72 hours and stained for pSTAT5 production via flow cytometry. We found that baricitinib (1µM) was able to significantly reduce IL-15 mediated pSTAT5 production to below that of the media only control (Figure 5). Ideally, IL-2 and IL-7 mediated pSTAT5 production should also be assessed.



Figure 5 | Baricitinib Reduced IL-15 Mediated pSTAT5 Production

CEMx174 cells were pre-treated with baricitinib ( $1\mu$ M) or media only for 2 hours and then IL-15 (10 ng/mL) was added. The cells were cultured for 3 days. Compared to unstained and media alone controls, IL-15 significantly increased pSTAT5 production. Baricitinib and media alone did not appear to have a major effect on pSTAT5 production. When baricitinib-treated cells were exposed to IL-15, pSTAT5 production was significantly abrogated to below that of the media alone control.

HIV-1 capsid (p24) and envelope (gp120) proteins were measured via flow cytometry in PHA/IL-

2-activated (72 hours pre-expsoure) CD4+ T cells exposed to emtricitabine (1 $\mu$ M) or baricitinib (0-1 $\mu$ M)

for 21 days in vitro. Frequencies of cells undergoing active replication (p24+gp120+) and latently infected

cells (p24+gp120-) were assessed (**Figure 6**). We found that baricitinib significantly (ordinary two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test and a single pooled variance, GraphPad Prism v10.0.3,  $\alpha$ =0.05) reduced active replication in CD4+ T cells by day 5 in a dose-dependent manner, and the impact was sustained through day 21. Baricitinib did not have an apparent effect on latently infected CD4+ T cells (not shown). Macrophages must be examined in this same way. Our preliminary macrophage studies did not show any significant reduction due to baricitinib, but the data were also variable, indicating a need for troubleshooting and repitition. These data indicate that short term immunomodulation severely impacts active viral infection whereas, given the effect we observed with ruxolitinib on reservoir reduction in the phase 2a A5336 study (chapter III), 3 weeks may be too short term to see an impact on latent infection.





Baricitinib ( $0.1\mu$ M) significantly reduced active viral infection (p24+gp120+) in CD4+ T cells from day 5 through 21 compared to an HIV-1 89.6+ untreated control (day 5 p=0.0113, day 7 p=0.0154, day 14 p=0.0010, day 21 p=0.0340). Baricitinib (1µM) significantly reduced active viral infection in CD4+ T cells from day 7 through 21 compared to an infected, untreated control (day 7 p<0.0001, day 14 p<0.0001, day 21 p<0.0001).

We then examined BCL-2 expression within active infection and latent infection CD4+ T cells. We found that baricitinib (0.01-1 $\mu$ M) significantly reduced BCL-2 expression in active infection CD4+ T cells compared to an HIV-1 89.6+ untreated control, and that BCL-2 expression was significantly reduced by 1 $\mu$ M baricitinib by day 21 in latently infected CD4+ T cells (**Figure 7**) (ordinary one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparisons test and a single pooled variance per week, GraphPad Prism v10.0.3,  $\alpha$ =0.05). We also found that baricitinib reduced BCL-2 expression compared with a standard antiretroviral therapy, emtricitabine (1 $\mu$ M). Once again, these data indicate that short term immunomodulation severely impacts active viral infection whereas 3 weeks may be too short-term to see an impact on the lifespan of latently infected CD4+ T cells.



Actively Infected (p24+gp120+) CD4+ T Cells

%BCL2+



Figure 7 | Baricitinib Reduced BCL-2 in Active and Latently Infected CD4+ T Cells

Baricitinib significantly reduced BCL-2 expression in active infection (p24+gp120+) CD4+ T cells in a dose-dependent manner from day 3 of infection. Baricitinib (1 $\mu$ M) was able to reduce BCL-2 expression in latent infection (p24+gp120-) CD4+ T cells by day 21 of infection. Compared to emtricitabine (1 $\mu$ M), a

Untreated

Emt

B0.1

B0.01

B0.001

B1

#### Latently Infected (p24+gp120-) CD4+ T Cells

common antiretroviral, baricitinib was more effective at reducing BCL-2 expression in both active and latent infected CD4+ T cells.

We have partially assessed down-stream effects of baricitinib on soluble cytokine levels to construct a profile of factors that drive reservoir decay in response to baricitinib. The complete panel of soluble cytokines identified for assessment were CD163, IFN- $\alpha$ , TGF- $\beta$ , IL-10, IL0-15, IL-18, IL-1 $\alpha/\beta$ , IL-2, IL-6, IL-7, TNF- $\alpha$ , D-dimer, and CRP. We used cryopreserved supernatant from 21-day cultures of CD4+ T cells and macrophages (separately) treated with baricitinib at various concentrations (0.001-1 µM). CD4+ T cells were activated for 72 hours prior to experiment with PHA and IL-2 as stated above. We performed a meso scale multiplex assay, a type of sandwich immunoassay, in which soluble cytokines are detected using a 10-spot U-PLEX plate coated with cytokine specific biotinylated capture reagents coupled to U-PLEX linkers that are specific to 1 of 10 spots on the plate and electro chemiluminescent labels. The plates were analyzed via an MSD Meso Sector S 600 instrument and emission intensity was measured (Emory Multiplexed Immunoassay Core). Baricitinib did not impact IFN- $\alpha$ 2a, IL-15, or IL-7 expression in CD4+ T cells. IL-15 expression is not reduced by baricitinib, so the ability of baricitinib to negate IL-15-mediated pSTAT5 expression is likely only due to Jak1 blockade. Baricitinib significantly reduced IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ expression over 21 days in a dose dependent manner within CD4+ T cells (Figure 8) (Mixed-effects model with Geisser-Greenhouse correction and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, GraphPad Prism v10.0.3,  $\alpha$ =0.05). All other cytokines must be analyzed, and experiments should be repeated with macrophages. Preliminary results in baricitinib-treated macrophages in vitro were variable (not shown).



Figure 8 | Baricitinib Reduced IL-6 and TNF-a in CD4+ T Cells

Baricitinib (1µM) consistently reduced IL-6 (day 3 p=0.0270, day 5 p=0.0130, day 7 p=0.0162, day 14 p=0.0099, day 21 p=0.0045) and TNF- $\alpha$  (day 3 p=0.0003, day 5 p=0.0085, day 7 p=0.0035, day 14 p=0.0068, day 21 p=0.0042) compared to an HIV-1 89.6+ untreated control. Baricitinib (0.1µM) reduced IL-6 (day 3 p=0.0372, day 5 p=0.0134, day 14 p=0.0153, day 21 p=0.0176) and TNF- $\alpha$  (day 3 p=0.0007, day 5 p=0.0025, day 14 p=0.0014) compared to an untreated control. Baricitinib (0.01µM) reduced IL-6 (day 5 p=0.0301, day 14 p=0.0170, day 21 p=0.0210) and TNF- $\alpha$  (day 7 p=0.0245, day 14 p=0.03) compared to an untreated control. Baricitinib (0.01µM) reduced IL-6 (day 5 p=0.0301, day 14 p=0.0170, day 21 p=0.0210) and TNF- $\alpha$  (day 7 p=0.0245, day 14 p=0.03) compared to an untreated control. Baricitinib (0.01µM) reduced TNF- $\alpha$  (day 7 p=0.0171, day 14 p=0.0396) compared to an untreated control.

### **Conclusions and Future Directions**

These data support a mainly immunomodulatory mechanism for baricitinib as opposed to direct acting antiviral activity. We observed that baricitinib seems to have a strong immediate effect on actively infected (p24+gp120+) CD4+ T cells and a lesser effect on latently infected cells. We hypothesize that a 21-day *in vitro* assay in primary may be too short to have a significant impact on the latent HIV reservoir. A stably infected cell line such as ACH-2 may be a viable *in vitro* alternative for long-term reservoir assays.

Likewise, an *in vivo* humanized murine or non-human primate model may be an appropriate option for long-term reservoir quantification. Reservoir quantification assays are planned to fully assess the impact on latently infected cells. Soluble cytokines IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  significantly decreased from baricitinib treatment. IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  are major pro-inflammatory cytokines that activate Jak STAT. We observed that baricitinib was able to block IL-15 mediated pSTAT5 production and that, downstream, BCL-2 expression was also reduced in actively and latently infected CD4+ T cells. Baricitinib-mediated BCL-2 reduction was also significantly more effective than emtricitabine. The size of the total reservoir (Alu-LTR qPCR), the size of the replication competent reservoir (integrated proviral DNA assay (IPDA)), and the lifespan of the transcriptionally silent and transcriptionally active reservoir should be measured over time in the presence of baricitinib (flow cytometry for BCL-2+/gp120+/-/p24+/- within primary CD4+ T cells and macrophages) to better assess the impact of baricitinib on the HIV reservoir.<sup>42</sup> Bystander assays should be performed to assess the effectiveness of baricitinib in blocking cell-to-cell transmission. Findings in the A5336 study (chapter III) suggest that Jak inhibitors reduce homeostatic proliferation, and so it would be noteworthy to assess the effect of baricitinib on IL-7 and CD127 expression in CD4+ T cells and macrophages. In total, these preliminary data provide a foundation for future studies that will support ongoing clinical trials with baricitinib for inflammatory diseases and in PWH in the Gavegnano Lab at Emory University (NCT05452564, NCT05849038, NCT05858515).

## References

- Schiff AE, Linder AH, Luhembo SN, Banning S, Deymier MJ, Diefenbach TJ, Dickey AK, Tsibris AM, Balazs AB, Cho JL, Medoff BD, Walzl G, Wilkinson RJ, Burgers WA, Corleis B, Kwon DS. T cell-tropic HIV efficiently infects alveolar macrophages through contact with infected CD4+ T cells. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):3890. Epub 20210216. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-82066-x. PubMed PMID: 33594125; PMCID: PMC7886866.
- Bosque A, Planelles V. Studies of HIV-1 latency in an ex vivo model that uses primary central memory T cells. Methods. 2011;53(1):54-61. Epub 20101021. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2010.10.002. PubMed PMID: 20970502; PMCID: PMC3031099.
- Chomont N, El-Far M, Ancuta P, Trautmann L, Procopio FA, Yassine-Diab B, Boucher G, Boulassel MR, Ghattas G, Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Hill BJ, Douek DC, Routy JP, Haddad EK, Sekaly RP. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. Nat Med. 2009;15(8):893-900. Epub 20090621. doi: 10.1038/nm.1972. PubMed PMID: 19543283; PMCID: PMC2859814.
- Ellery PJ, Tippett E, Chiu YL, Paukovics G, Cameron PU, Solomon A, Lewin SR, Gorry PR, Jaworowski A, Greene WC, Sonza S, Crowe SM. The CD16+ monocyte subset is more permissive to infection and preferentially harbors HIV-1 in vivo. J Immunol. 2007;178(10):6581-9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6581. PubMed PMID: 17475889.
- Reece MD, Taylor RR, Song C, Gavegnano C. Targeting Macrophage Dysregulation for Viral Infections: Novel Targets for Immunomodulators. Front Immunol. 2021;12:768695. Epub 20211101. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.768695. PubMed PMID: 34790202; PMCID: PMC8591232.
- Franceschi C, Salvioli S, Garagnani P, de Eguileor M, Monti D, Capri M. Immunobiography and the Heterogeneity of Immune Responses in the Elderly: A Focus on Inflammaging and Trained Immunity. Front Immunol. 2017;8:982. Epub 20170815. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00982. PubMed PMID: 28861086; PMCID: PMC5559470.
- 7. Marconi V, editor. Inflammaging: Discover the Fountain of Youth. CFAR HIV & Aging SWG Symposium; December 5, 2019; Miami, FL.
- 8. Hellmuth J, Valcour V, Spudich S. CNS reservoirs for HIV: implications for eradication. J Virus Erad. 2015;1(2):67-71. PubMed PMID: 26430703; PMCID: PMC4586130.
- Kruize Z, Kootstra NA. The Role of Macrophages in HIV-1 Persistence and Pathogenesis. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2828. Epub 20191205. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02828. PubMed PMID: 31866988; PMCID: PMC6906147.
- Veenstra M, Leon-Rivera R, Li M, Gama L, Clements JE, Berman JW. Mechanisms of CNS Viral Seeding by HIV(+) CD14(+) CD16(+) Monocytes: Establishment and Reseeding of Viral Reservoirs Contributing to HIV-Associated Neurocognitive Disorders. mBio. 2017;8(5). Epub 20171024. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01280-17. PubMed PMID: 29066542; PMCID: PMC5654927.
- 11. Veenhuis RT, Abreu CM, Shirk EN, Gama L, Clements JE. HIV replication and latency in monocytes and macrophages. Semin Immunol. 2021;51:101472. Epub 20210227. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2021.101472. PubMed PMID: 33648815; PMCID: PMC10171083.
- Igarashi T, Brown CR, Endo Y, Buckler-White A, Plishka R, Bischofberger N, Hirsch V, Martin MA. Macrophage are the principal reservoir and sustain high virus loads in rhesus macaques after the depletion of CD4+ T cells by a highly pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus/HIV type 1 chimera (SHIV): Implications for HIV-1 infections of humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(2):658-63. Epub 20010102. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.658. PubMed PMID: 11136236; PMCID: PMC14644.
- 13. Orenstein JM, Fox C, Wahl SM. Macrophages as a source of HIV during opportunistic infections. Science. 1997;276(5320):1857-61. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5320.1857. PubMed PMID: 9188531.
- 14. Marconi VC, Ramanan AV, de Bono S, Kartman CE, Krishnan V, Liao R, Piruzeli MLB, Goldman JD, Alatorre-Alexander J, de Cassia Pellegrini R, Estrada V, Som M, Cardoso A, Chakladar S, Crowe B, Reis P, Zhang X, Adams DH, Ely EW, Group C-BS. Efficacy and safety of baricitinib for the treatment of hospitalised adults with COVID-19 (COV-BARRIER): a randomised, double-blind, parallel-group,

placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2021;9(12):1407-18. Epub 20210901. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00331-3. PubMed PMID: 34480861; PMCID: PMC8409066.

- 15. Titanji BK, Farley MM, Mehta A, Connor-Schuler R, Moanna A, Cribbs SK, O'Shea J, DeSilva K, Chan B, Edwards A, Gavegnano C, Schinazi RF, Marconi VC. Use of Baricitinib in Patients With Moderate to Severe Coronavirus Disease 2019. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;72(7):1247-50. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa879. PubMed PMID: 32597466; PMCID: PMC7337637.
- 16. Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, Tomashek KM, Wolfe CR, Ghazaryan V, Marconi VC, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Hsieh L, Kline S, Tapson V, Iovine NM, Jain MK, Sweeney DA, El Sahly HM, Branche AR, Regalado Pineda J, Lye DC, Sandkovsky U, Luetkemeyer AF, Cohen SH, Finberg RW, Jackson PEH, Taiwo B, Paules CI, Arguinchona H, Erdmann N, Ahuja N, Frank M, Oh MD, Kim ES, Tan SY, Mularski RA, Nielsen H, Ponce PO, Taylor BS, Larson L, Rouphael NG, Saklawi Y, Cantos VD, Ko ER, Engemann JJ, Amin AN, Watanabe M, Billings J, Elie MC, Davey RT, Burgess TH, Ferreira J, Green M, Makowski M, Cardoso A, de Bono S, Bonnett T, Proschan M, Deye GA, Dempsey W, Nayak SU, Dodd LE, Beigel JH, Members A-SG. Baricitinib plus Remdesivir for Hospitalized Adults with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(9):795-807. Epub 20201211. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2031994. PubMed PMID: 33306283; PMCID: PMC7745180.
- 17. Hoang TN, Pino M, Boddapati AK, Viox EG, Starke CE, Upadhyay AA, Gumber S, Nekorchuk M, Busman-Sahay K, Strongin Z, Harper JL, Tharp GK, Pellegrini KL, Kirejczyk S, Zandi K, Tao S, Horton TR, Beagle EN, Mahar EA, Lee MYH, Cohen J, Jean SM, Wood JS, Connor-Stroud F, Stammen RL, Delmas OM, Wang S, Cooney KA, Sayegh MN, Wang L, Filev PD, Weiskopf D, Silvestri G, Waggoner J, Piantadosi A, Kasturi SP, Al-Shakhshir H, Ribeiro SP, Sekaly RP, Levit RD, Estes JD, Vanderford TH, Schinazi RF, Bosinger SE, Paiardini M. Baricitinib treatment resolves lower-airway macrophage inflammation and neutrophil recruitment in SARS-CoV-2-infected rhesus macaques. Cell. 2021;184(2):460-75 e21. Epub 20201110. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.11.007. PubMed PMID: 33278358; PMCID: PMC7654323.
- Haile WB, Gavegnano C, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, Tyor WR. The Janus kinase inhibitor ruxolitinib reduces HIV replication in human macrophages and ameliorates HIV encephalitis in a murine model. Neurobiol Dis. 2016;92(Pt B):137-43. Epub 20160203. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.02.007. PubMed PMID: 26851503; PMCID: PMC4907871.
- Norman H, Lee KT, Stearns V, Alcorn SR, Mangini NS. Incidence and Severity of Myelosuppression With Palbociclib After Palliative Bone Radiation in Advanced Breast Cancer: A Single Center Experience and Review of Literature. Clin Breast Cancer. 2022;22(1):e65-e73. Epub 20210727. doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2021.07.013. PubMed PMID: 34419350; PMCID: PMC8916093.
- Gavegnano C, Brehm JH, Dupuy FP, Talla A, Ribeiro SP, Kulpa DA, Cameron C, Santos S, Hurwitz SJ, Marconi VC, Routy JP, Sabbagh L, Schinazi RF, Sekaly RP. Novel mechanisms to inhibit HIV reservoir seeding using Jak inhibitors. PLoS Pathog. 2017;13(12):e1006740. Epub 20171221. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006740. PubMed PMID: 29267399; PMCID: PMC5739511.
- Gavegnano C, Haile WB, Hurwitz S, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, Tyor WR. Baricitinib reverses HIVassociated neurocognitive disorders in a SCID mouse model and reservoir seeding in vitro. J Neuroinflammation. 2019;16(1):182. Epub 20190927. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1565-6. PubMed PMID: 31561750; PMCID: PMC6764124.
- Manganaro L, Hong P, Hernandez MM, Argyle D, Mulder LCF, Potla U, Diaz-Griffero F, Lee B, Fernandez-Sesma A, Simon V. IL-15 regulates susceptibility of CD4(+) T cells to HIV infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115(41):E9659-E67. Epub 20180926. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1806695115. PubMed PMID: 30257946; PMCID: PMC6187195.
- Shenoy AR, Kirschnek S, Hacker G. IL-15 regulates Bcl-2 family members Bim and Mcl-1 through JAK/STAT and PI3K/AKT pathways in T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(8):2500-7. Epub 20140610. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344238. PubMed PMID: 24825007.
- 24. Senkevitch E, Li W, Hixon JA, Andrews C, Cramer SD, Pauly GT, Back T, Czarra K, Durum SK. Inhibiting Janus Kinase 1 and BCL-2 to treat T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia with IL7-Ralpha

mutations. Oncotarget. 2018;9(32):22605-17. Epub 20180427. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25194. PubMed PMID: 29854301; PMCID: PMC5978251.

- 25. Khaled AR, Durum SK. Death and Baxes: mechanisms of lymphotrophic cytokines. Immunol Rev. 2003;193:48-57. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065x.2003.00050.x. PubMed PMID: 12752670.
- 26. Ribeiro D, Melao A, van Boxtel R, Santos CI, Silva A, Silva MC, Cardoso BA, Coffer PJ, Barata JT. STAT5 is essential for IL-7-mediated viability, growth, and proliferation of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Blood Adv. 2018;2(17):2199-213. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018021063. PubMed PMID: 30185437; PMCID: PMC6134214.
- Faller E, Kakal J, Kumar R, Macpherson P. IL-7 and the HIV Tat protein act synergistically to downregulate CD127 expression on CD8 T cells. Int Immunol. 2009;21(3):203-16. Epub 20090115. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn140. PubMed PMID: 19147839.
- Vandergeeten C, Fromentin R, DaFonseca S, Lawani MB, Sereti I, Lederman MM, Ramgopal M, Routy JP, Sekaly RP, Chomont N. Interleukin-7 promotes HIV persistence during antiretroviral therapy. Blood. 2013;121(21):4321-9. Epub 20130415. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-11-465625. PubMed PMID: 23589672; PMCID: PMC3663425.
- 29. Chetoui N, Boisvert M, Gendron S, Aoudjit F. Interleukin-7 promotes the survival of human CD4+ effector/memory T cells by up-regulating Bcl-2 proteins and activating the JAK/STAT signalling pathway. Immunology. 2010;130(3):418-26. Epub 20100504. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03244.x. PubMed PMID: 20465565; PMCID: PMC2913221.
- 30. Camargo JF, Kulkarni H, Agan BK, Gaitan AA, Beachy LA, Srinivas S, He W, Anderson S, Marconi VC, Dolan MJ, Ahuja SK. Responsiveness of T cells to interleukin-7 is associated with higher CD4+ T cell counts in HIV-1-positive individuals with highly active antiretroviral therapy-induced viral load suppression. J Infect Dis. 2009;199(12):1872-82. doi: 10.1086/598858. PubMed PMID: 19432535; PMCID: PMC3777824.
- Gavegnano C, Detorio M, Montero C, Bosque A, Planelles V, Schinazi RF. Ruxolitinib and tofacitinib are potent and selective inhibitors of HIV-1 replication and virus reactivation in vitro. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58(4):1977-86. Epub 20140113. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02496-13. PubMed PMID: 24419350; PMCID: PMC4023721.
- Rochman Y, Spolski R, Leonard WJ. New insights into the regulation of T cells by gamma(c) family cytokines. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(7):480-90. doi: 10.1038/nri2580. PubMed PMID: 19543225; PMCID: PMC2814538.
- 33. Jones RB, Mueller S, O'Connor R, Rimpel K, Sloan DD, Karel D, Wong HC, Jeng EK, Thomas AS, Whitney JB, Lim SY, Kovacs C, Benko E, Karandish S, Huang SH, Buzon MJ, Lichterfeld M, Irrinki A, Murry JP, Tsai A, Yu H, Geleziunas R, Trocha A, Ostrowski MA, Irvine DJ, Walker BD. A Subset of Latency-Reversing Agents Expose HIV-Infected Resting CD4+ T-Cells to Recognition by Cytotoxic T-Lymphocytes. PLoS Pathog. 2016;12(4):e1005545. Epub 20160415. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005545. PubMed PMID: 27082643; PMCID: PMC4833318.
- Geginat J, Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. Cytokine-driven proliferation and differentiation of human naive, central memory and effector memory CD4+ T cells. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2003;51(2):64-6. doi: 10.1016/s0369-8114(03)00098-1. PubMed PMID: 12801802.
- Berger C, Berger M, Hackman RC, Gough M, Elliott C, Jensen MC, Riddell SR. Safety and immunologic effects of IL-15 administration in nonhuman primates. Blood. 2009;114(12):2417-26. Epub 20090715. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-189266. PubMed PMID: 19605850; PMCID: PMC2746471.
- Kang MH, Reynolds CP. Bcl-2 inhibitors: targeting mitochondrial apoptotic pathways in cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(4):1126-32. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0144. PubMed PMID: 19228717; PMCID: PMC3182268.
- 37. Yip KW, Reed JC. Bcl-2 family proteins and cancer. Oncogene. 2008;27(50):6398-406. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.307. PubMed PMID: 18955968.
- 38. Marconi VC, Moser C, Gavegnano C, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Overton ET, Tsibris A, Hunt PW, Kantor A, Sekaly RP, Tressler R, Flexner C, Hurwitz SJ, Moisi D, Clagett B, Hardin WR, Del Rio C,

Schinazi RF, Lennox JJ. Randomized Trial of Ruxolitinib in Antiretroviral-Treated Adults With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;74(1):95-104. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab212. PubMed PMID: 33693561; PMCID: PMC8752257.

- 39. de Armas LR, Gavegnano C, Pallikkuth S, Rinaldi S, Pan L, Battivelli E, Verdin E, Younis RT, Pahwa R, Williams SL, Schinazi RF, Pahwa S. The Effect of JAK1/2 Inhibitors on HIV Reservoir Using Primary Lymphoid Cell Model of HIV Latency. Front Immunol. 2021;12:720697. Epub 20210831. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.720697. PubMed PMID: 34531866; PMCID: PMC8438319.
- Diamond TL, Roshal M, Jamburuthugoda VK, Reynolds HM, Merriam AR, Lee KY, Balakrishnan M, Bambara RA, Planelles V, Dewhurst S, Kim B. Macrophage tropism of HIV-1 depends on efficient cellular dNTP utilization by reverse transcriptase. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(49):51545-53. Epub 20040926. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408573200. PubMed PMID: 15452123; PMCID: PMC1351161.
- Kim B, Nguyen LA, Daddacha W, Hollenbaugh JA. Tight interplay among SAMHD1 protein level, cellular dNTP levels, and HIV-1 proviral DNA synthesis kinetics in human primary monocyte-derived macrophages. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(26):21570-4. Epub 20120514. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C112.374843. PubMed PMID: 22589553; PMCID: PMC3381122.
- 42. Richter E BT, Buning A, Korencak M, Crowell TA, Jessen H, Rockstroh JK, Esser S, Boesecke C, Streeck H, editor. Ultra-Low Level HIV p24 Production as a Drive of Immune Activation in Individuals Treated with ART. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections (CROI); 2024; Denver, CO, USA.
- 43. Bruner KM, Wang Z, Simonetti FR, Bender AM, Kwon KJ, Sengupta S, Fray EJ, Beg SA, Antar AAR, Jenike KM, Bertagnolli LN, Capoferri AA, Kufera JT, Timmons A, Nobles C, Gregg J, Wada N, Ho YC, Zhang H, Margolick JB, Blankson JN, Deeks SG, Bushman FD, Siliciano JD, Laird GM, Siliciano RF. A quantitative approach for measuring the reservoir of latent HIV-1 proviruses. Nature. 2019;566(7742):120-5. Epub 20190130. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0898-8. PubMed PMID: 30700913; PMCID: PMC6447073.

#### **Chapter V: Discussion**

Persistent inflammation from chronic viral infection results in ongoing immune activation and eventual immune dysregulation. Chronic immune activation, of which Jak STAT is a key driver, induces expression of cellular markers and production of cytokines that 1) maintain and expand the HIV-1 reservoir and 2) exacerbate and contribute to inflammatory co-morbidities such as heart disease and neurocognitive dysfunction.<sup>1-11</sup>

There are no approved therapies at present that target the HIV-1 reservoir. When designing cure strategies for HIV-1, it is paramount to consider the entirety of the HIV-1 reservoir, ability of therapies to penetrate sanctuary sites, and feasibility in clinical translation in terms of cost, adherence, and access to PWH.

BCL-2, an anti-apoptotic protein expressed on HIV-1 reservoir cells, is a key factor in enhancing the lifespan of the HIV-1 reservoir. We proposed that treatment with Jak inhibitors would reduce BCL-2 expression and result in reservoir decay because BCL-2 expression is promoted by pSTAT5, a product of Jak STAT.

Our goal in analyzing the phase 2a trial (A5336) was to assess the potential of Jak inhibitors to decay the HIV-1 reservoir. Previous work *in vitro* and *in vivo* showed that Jak inhibitors reduce immune activation but had not addressed the quantifiable effect on HIV provirus.<sup>4, 5, 7, 12</sup> From a wider scope, this analysis was also to determine the suitability of continued assessment of Jak inhibitors for HIV cure in human clinical trials.

We observed a significant decrease in total proviral HIV DNA (IPDA) (p=0.0344) from weeks 5-12 in a subset of PWH with a high baseline reservoir. Using the reservoir decay rate from weeks 5-12, we estimate 99.99% reservoir reduction in 2.83 years of ruxolitinib treatment. Ruxolitinib decreased BCL-2+Ki-67+ CD4+  $T_N$ , pSTAT5+ monocytes, pSTAT3+ monocytes, and CD25+ CD8+  $T_{TM}$  and increased CD127+ CD8+  $T_{TD}$ , all of which were associated with HIV-1 reservoir decay. From these identified

markers, we propose that Jak inhibitor ruxolitinib reduced the HIV-1 reservoir via reduction of reservoir lifespan, homeostatic proliferation, and reseeding capabilities.

In assessing the viral reservoir and neurocognitive scores of PWH, our goal was to determine if HIV DNA in the CSF correlated with global or domains of neurocognitive function. Previous work showed HIV DNA detection in the CSF and associated it with lower cognition; however, the specific domains of cognition were not explored.<sup>13</sup> Total, 3' and 5' defective HIV proviral DNA (IPDA) were significantly higher in the CSF vs PBMC. Higher total and 3' HIV DNA (IPDA) in the CSF correlated with worse executive function (both p=0.044). We examined a trend of higher total and 3' defective HIV DNA (IPDA) in CSF correlated with worse learning scores (both p=0.0562). We also observed a trend of higher total HIV DNA (IPDA) correlated with worse learning and memory scores in PBMC (both p=0.0595). This highlights a potential link between HIV in the periphery and CNS.

This study provided supporting evidence of the HIV reservoir in the CNS and novel insights on HIV reservoir correlations to specific neurocognitive domain performance. As CSF is a relatively noninvasive procedure compared to previously used cadaver brains, this study also serves as a proof of concept for CSF as a clinical tool in neurotherapeutics for PWH.

HIV-1 and subsequent inflammatory effect on cognition may depend on level of exposure to foreign bodies and cytokines and cellular composition in the different brain regions. In PWH, while ART blocks active replication, inflammatory cytokines and viral proteins transcribed from both defective and intact proviruses disrupt blood-brain-barrier (BBB) integrity and pass into the CNS compartment.<sup>14-17</sup> This would also allow quiescent intact reservoir cells to be increasingly trafficked to the CNS, ultimately resulting in microglial and astrocyte activation and dendritic synaptic shortening (**Figure 1**).<sup>18-21</sup> Passive trafficking of reservoir cells with intact virus from the periphery to the CNS would only increase inflammation as the reservoir cells would reactivate and produce replication-competent virus to spread infection and neuroinflammation. Microglial percentage in different parts of the brain may play a role in

how severely HIV is able to affect associated cognitive functioning, but further research is required to investigate this possibility.



Figure 1 | Potential Route of HIV-Driven Neuroinflammation and Map of Cognitive Function

An in-progress project in the Gavegnano lab is the characterization of baricitinib's ability to decay the HIV-1 reservoir *in vitro*. Preliminary data was collected in the context of ruxolitinib's function *in vivo*, to assess if baricitinib may have the same effect. Baricitinib is a second-generation Jak inhibitor with a more favorable safety profile, renal clearance, and once daily dosing compared to first-generation ruxolitinib. In terms of potential drug interactions and adherence, baricitinib is a better candidate for future studies.

We found that baricitinib (1 $\mu$ M) reduced IL-15 mediated pSTAT5 production in CEMx174 cells. Baricitinib had an IC50 of 0.0209 $\mu$ M in CD4+ T cells. Baricitinib (0.1 and 1 $\mu$ M) significantly reduced the percent of HIV-GFP transduced CD4+ T cells compared to untreated cells. Baricitinib (0.1-100 $\mu$ M) significantly reduced the MFI of HIV-GFP transduced CD4+ T cells compared to untreated cells. Baricitinib did not affect late RT copy number of HIV-GFP DNA or mRNA in CD4+ T cells or macrophages. Baricitinib (0.1 and 1 $\mu$ M) significantly decreases active viral replication (p24+ gp120+) in CD4+ T cells, and furthermore, significantly decreases BCL-2 expression within this subset in a dose dependent manner from 0.01-1 $\mu$ M.-Model is based on decay rate occurring post-treatment in A5336. There are limitations to our model of reservoir decay. The model only accounts for the peripheral reservoir. The overall decay rate (weeks 0-12) estimated 99.99% decay in 6.96 years. While this is markedly improved over previous decay estimates (44 months in resting CD4+ T cells; 73.4 years for eradication only considering the CD4+ T cell reservoir), it may reflect T cell demargination and so the estimate may be skewed. (PMID: 10229227, 12754504) A longer duration of treatment and data from the gut and CNS reservoirs are required to know the true reservoir decay rate of ruxolitinib.

In July 2023, Drs Asier Sáez-Cirión and Alexandra Calmy from the Pasteur Institute (Paris, France) presented a case study at the International Conference on HIV in Brisbane Australia (IAS2023) highlighting an anonymous PWH that received a wild-type allogenic stem cell transplant and was 20-months in remission following analytical treatment interruption (ATI).<sup>22</sup> Sáez-Cirión et al. describe a PWH living with HIV since 1990 who received a wild-type allogenic stem cell transplant. Within 1 month, the person developed Graft Versus Host Disease (GVHD) and was administered an immunosuppressant cocktail including methotrexate, cyclosporine, and ruxolitinib (10 mg, twice daily). After 1 month, only ruxolitinib was administered and maintained for 1.6 years, at which point it was removed. Upon removal, the person experienced an increase in immune activation markers, prompting the continuation of ruxolitinib about 1.5 months after. This continuation resulted in a reversal of immune activation markers. 1 month later, antiretroviral therapy (ART) was withdrawn but ruxolitinib administration remained consistent. As of June 2024, the person is 2.75 years in remission (ongoing) with no viral rebound or detectable viral RNA or DNA.

This patient was dubbed the 'Geneva Patient' and tentatively joined a small cohort of HIV cure patients worldwide including Timothy Ray Brown (the Berlin Patient), Adam Castillejo (the London Patient), Paul Edmonds (the City of Hope Patient), the Dusseldorf Patient, and the New York Patient. The existing cure patients all received a CCR5 $\Delta$ 32 allogenic stem cell or haplo-cord transplant to treat various forms of leukemia and lymphoma.<sup>23-27</sup> This is critical as HIV-1 depends on engagement with a co-receptor (CCR5/CXCR4) to expose gp41 and trigger membrane fusion for entry into the cell.<sup>28, 29</sup> Historically, PWH who have received wild type allogenic stem cells transplants experience viral rebound upon ATI.<sup>30</sup> Given our findings that ruxolitinib reduced the HIV-1 reservoir within 12 weeks of treatment (10mg, twice daily), it is likely that ruxolitinib administered for GVHD in the Geneva Patient is a major factor in their ongoing viral remission post-ATI.

In A5336, PWH on an ART regimen containing cobicistat were excluded. Cobicistat and other protease inhibitors are metabolized via CYP3A4 in the liver, which is also responsible for clearance of ruxolitinib. PWH on an ART regimen containing efavirenz were stratified between groups. Efavirenz is an inducer of CYP3A4. Post-conclusion of A5336, it was determined that co-administration with efavirenz resulted in accelerated metabolism of ruxolitinib.<sup>31</sup> For these reasons, it is not recommended that ruxolitinib be co-administered with an ART regimen containing protease inhibitors or efavirenz. However, baricitinib does not have these limitations as it is cleared renally and avoids interaction with CYP3A4, which makes it a more favorable candidate moving forward with Jak inhibitor studies.

Baricitinib treatment can result in an increased risk of infection and should not be given to patients with active tuberculosis. The baricitinib package insert states that the following risks were found with a different Jak inhibitor: higher rates of all-cause mortality, lymphomas and lung cancers, cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, stroke, pulmonary embolism, and venous and arterial thrombosis in rheumatoid arthritis patients (Olumiant package insert, reference ID: 4981738). Ruxolitinib treatment may result in thrombocytopenia, anemia, neutropenia, and higher risk of infection (Jakafi package insert, reference ID: 4860976). To offset the risk of infection, patients should be monitored for signs of opportunistic infection and treated promptly. Changes in lymphocyte, neutrophil, and hemoglobin counts should be monitored and treatment should be adjusted, interrupted, or an infusion should be administered to correct for effects of thrombocytopenia, anemia, and neutropenia. Overall, the direct potential side effects of baricitinib can be identified by medical professionals through patient observation and would likely be treatable.

Our findings suggest that a relatively short-term treatment plan with Jak 1/2 inhibitors may be enough to substantially decay the HIV-1 reservoir and reverse inflammation and immune activation in PWH. Ruxolitinib is approved for chronic long-term use but is only recommended to maintain treatment in patients for whom the benefits outweigh potential risk. Baricitinib is also approved for chronic long-term use with no secondary recommendations. Caution should be exercised when prescribing Jak 1/2 inhibitors to patients with renal or hepatic impairment. Baricitinib interacts with strong organic anion transporter 3 (OAT3) inhibitors including HIV integrase inhibitor cabotegravir.<sup>32</sup> Ruxolitinib interacts with fluconazole and strong CYP3A4 inhibitors including antibiotics clarithromycin, erythromycin, and isoniazid, cancer treatments tamoxifen and irinotecan, several hypertension medications, and HIV-1 therapies ritonavir and delavirdine.<sup>33</sup> These interactions should be considered in potential patients with therapy cocktails. Jak inhibitor therapy has been historically well -maintained in a long-term setting without development of opportunistic infections.

Further studies are required to assess the impact of Jak inhibitors on inflammation-driven comorbidities and immunosenescence and inflammaging in PWH. Given findings in the literature and presented here, it is likely that Jak inhibitors would have a positive effect on the incidence rate of inflammatory comorbidities such as CVD and neurocognitive dysfunction as well as accelerated aging and immune dysfunction due to chronic immune activation.

The ultimate impact of this work in the field is the identification of cellular markers that are associated with HIV-1 reservoir decay which progress the overarching goal to develop treatment strategies that lead to elimination of HIV. More focused questions can be pursued concerning these markers in the context of HIV cure and drug development against these identified targets. These data provide a foundation for the analyses of ongoing jak inhibitor trials against HIV in humans (NCT05452564, NCT05849038). Viral reservoir decay, either complete amelioration or severe depletion, would have significant positive impacts on eradication and control of the HIV epidemic. Chronic immune activation and subsequent inflammation, sans contributing factors, would be significantly reduced. In the case of minimal remaining

reservoir, improved cytotoxic function from reduced inflammation may clear remaining infected cells in the event of ART interruption.

Additionally, our findings of BCL-2, pSTAT5, and pSTAT3 reduction *in vitro* and *in vivo* have promising implications for cancer therapy to reduce tumorigenic cells expressing BCL-2 and also for use in combination therapy with senolytics to reduce immune senescence.<sup>34-41</sup> In the landscape of viral infections, BCL-2 is upregulated by gamma herpes virus, adenovirus, Zaire ebolavirus, human papillomavirus-induced squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix, picornavirus, and poxvirus, and presents a potential target for Jak inhibitor therapy.

HIV-1 infection does not exist in a vacuum, and so co-infections must be considered in potential therapeutic regimens. There are several common co-infections in PWH: hepatitis C virus (HCV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), human T-lymphocytic virus 1 (HTLV-1), human herpes virus 8 (HHV-8, Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus), human papillomavirus (HPV), *Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Cryptococcus neoformans, Plasmodium falciparum*, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV, human herpesvirus 4), cytomegalovirus (CMV, human herpesvirus 5), and emerging long COVID-19.<sup>42-45</sup> It is expected that these individuals would be able to tolerate Jak inhibitor therapy, but the multifaceting impact of Jak inhibitors on the pathogenesis of other infections should also be considered.

In immunocompromised individuals, like PWH, latent EBV and CMV are likely to reactivate.<sup>46, 47</sup> One study of ruxolitinib in PWH examined effect on CMV co-infection and found that while ruxolitinib did not reduce CMV DNA levels, CMV was positively correlated with inflammation.<sup>48</sup> Co-infection with HTLV-1 can result in the development of adult T-cell leukemia (ATLL).<sup>49</sup> It's been determined that PWH were more likely to be seropositive for HHV-8, which was reactivated by inflammatory cytokine production by HIV-1-infected T cells.<sup>50, 51</sup> One study found that HPV is more likely to reactivate in women with HIV, while Georgescu et al. purported that chronic inflammation from HPV can induce oxidative stress, promoting carcinogenesis.<sup>52, 53</sup> *P. falciparum* can induce a strong inflammatory response in the host, and in vivo observations of people with related *P. vivax* have shown *Plasmodium*-induced immune modulation resulting in activated and exhausted T cells. In the setting of co-infection, with a basally inflammation environment, the proinflammatory response to *P. falciparum* may be exaggerated and lead to severe malaria.<sup>54</sup>

Many co-infections can contribute to systemic inflammation and exacerbate pathogenesis of both pathogens. In inflammation-driven co-infections, Jak inhibitors would likely have a bleed over therapeutic effect. However, there are some co-infection pathogens that would be aided by Jak inhibition. During *M. tuberculosis* infection, bacteria are internalized by alveolar macrophages which causes an inflammatory response. In late infection, *M. tuberculosis* can alter the immune response to a more anti-inflammatory response which allows for sustained infection.<sup>55</sup> In PWH and *M. tuberculosis*, Jak inhibitors would likely enhance *M. tuberculosis* infection.

Many co-infection pathogens can cause neuroinflammation, which not only promotes the HIV CNS reservoir, but can also lead to neurologic deficits. EBV is neurotropic and has been found to infect glial and blood-brain barrier endothelial cells.<sup>56</sup> Tiwari et al. report on a hypothesis that EBV-induced oxidative cellular stress and cell cycle malfunctioning result in Alzheimer's disease neurodegeneration.<sup>56,58</sup> ART serves to suppress HIV replication but exacerbates CMV, and CMV contributes to immunosenescence, which can support HIV reservoir maintenance.<sup>59</sup> CMV can cause neurological disease in PWH, commonly manifesting as retinitis, encephalitis, polyradiculopathy, and multifocal neuropathy.<sup>60</sup> HTLV-1 viral protein Tax affects the function of astrocytes and neuronal cells, resulting in HTLV-1-associated myelopathy.<sup>49</sup> *C. neoformans* can be internalized by microglia and cause neuroinflammation which may result in cryptococcal meningitis that causes neurologic deficits.<sup>61</sup> Much is still cryptic about the phenomenon of long COVID-19. It is hypothesized that prolonged inflammation from COVID-19 infections (CROI 2024) one study by Horberg et al. revealed that the incidence rate of long COVID-19 in 19% higher in PWH, and another study by Yang X et al. showed that long COVID-19 presents heavily as circulatory disease and mental and behavioral deficits in PWH.<sup>43, 62</sup> Disruption of the blood-brain barrier in conjunction with

systemic inflammation has been implicated in long COVID-19-associated cognitive impairment.<sup>63</sup> Jak inhibitors may play a protective role for neurologic function in many co-infections of PWH. Overall, Jak inhibitor therapy in PWH with co-infections may have more numerous positive impacts beyond HIV decay and reduced systemic inflammation described herein.

It is not likely that Jak inhibitors would be used for prevention of viral transmission. The utility of Jak inhibitors lies in immune modulation which can mitigate disease severity, reset the immunologic milieu, and in the case of HIV, reduce the viral reservoir. Transmission hindrance would still be reliant on preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP), treatment as prevention (TasP), condoms, safe needle practices and disposal, and post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP).

The future of this work is multivariate and can extend to many cross disciplinary domains. It would be informative to examine combination therapy using Jak inhibitors and BH3 mimetics to elucidate potential synergistic effects on BCL-2 reduction. Especially considering the prevalence of BCL-2 inhibitors and their success in HIV cure studies at present.<sup>64-70</sup> Within future human trials of Jak inhibitors in PWH with a longer treatment duration, reservoir reduction should be observed and the rate compared to what we have proposed herein. It would be enlightening to longitudinally observe PWH with concurrent inflammatory disorders prescribed Jak inhibitors such as PWH with primary myelofibrosis, post-polycythemia vera myelofibrosis, and post-essential thrombocythemia myelofibrosis taking ruxolitinib, as well as PWH with severe COVID-19, alopecia areata, rheumatoid arthritis taking baricitinib.

There are several clinical trials that are recruiting or completed awaiting reporting that will better inform the nuances and direction of the work presented here (Table 1). These trials will reveal information on the CNS HIV reservoir in children and young adults with HIV and the effect baricitinib may have on the CNS HIV reservoir, which will be critical in understanding how Jak inhibitors may alter the CNS HIV reservoir and the impact it may have on neurocognition. Identifying how baricitinib affects inflammation and depression in PWH will likely reveal important data that will shape our understanding of how neurocognitive dysfunction may be targeted in PWH. We identified BCL-2 reduction as a driver of HIV reservoir reduction, and a trial examining if Venetoclax will reduce the HIV reservoir will be insightful into how prominent BCL-2 reduction is in HIV reservoir reduction.

Beyond direct treatment for HIV, there are many trials examining Jak inhibitors for other viral infections like COVID-19 and long COVID-19 as well as inflammatory-driven or exacerbated diseases such as community-acquired pneumonia, Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders, premalignant breast disease, and T and natural killer (NK) cell lymphoma. Inflammatory-driven comorbidities are common in PWH, even those who are virally suppressed, due to basal chronic inflammation from the HIV reservoir. Not only will these studies uncover the impact of blocking Jak STAT on these diseases but will also provide further insight into how the quality of life may be improved for PWH.

ClinicalTrials.gov ID	Phase	Indication	Therapy
NCT05452564*	II	CNS HIV Reservoir Reduction	Baricitinib
NCT05849038*	II	Inflammation and Depression in PWH	Baricitinib
NCT05668026	I/II	HIV Reservoir Reduction in PWH on ART	Venetoclax
NCT02735707	III	Community-Acquired Pneumonia	Baricitinib
NCT05189106	I/II	Alzheimer's Disease and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis	Baricitinib
NCT05074420	III	Children with COVID-19	Baricitinib
NCT05792462	I/II	Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders	Baricitinib
NCT02928978	II	Premalignant Breast Disease	Ruxolitinib
NCT02974647	II	Relapsed or Refractory T or NK Cell Lymphoma	Ruxolitinib
NCT03416790	Observational	Evaluation of CNS HIV Reservoir in Perinatally-Infected Youth and Young Adults	NA
NCT05858515*	III	Long COVID-19	Baricitinib

 Table 1 | Current Relevant Clinical Trials for Advancement of HIV Reservoir Reduction and

 Other Applications for Jak Inhibitors in Viral Infections

\* Denotes clinical trials that will be conducted by, or in collaboration with, the Gavegnano Lab at Emory University. CNS = central nervous system, HIV = human immunodeficiency virus, PWH = people with HIV, ART = antiretroviral therapy, NK = natural killer, NA = not applicable.

The exploration of baricitinib to treat severe pneumonia, first related to severe COVID-19 has evolved to a study of severe influenza pneumonia conducted by Dutch researchers at the University Medical Center Utrecht through the IMPRINT study (immune modulation platform for influenza treatment) funded by ZonMw, an independent government body partnership between ZorgOnderzoek Nederland (care research Netherlands) and the medical sciences domain of the Dutch research council.<sup>71</sup> Pathogenesis of many viral infections is tangled with inflammation, and Jak inhibitors may be an emerging therapeutic to target disease severity if not the viruses directly.

Repurposing FDA approved therapies to target the HIV-1 reservoir is a valid approach to curebased therapy. We have provided empirical evidence that rufinamide and Jak inhibitors baricitinib and ruxolitinib affect factors maintaining the HIV-1 reservoir in macrophages and T cells, including reservoir lifespan, immune activation, homeostatic proliferation, and immunosenescence.
#### References

- Titanji B, Gavegnano C, Hsue P, Schinazi R, Marconi VC. Targeting Inflammation to Reduce Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Risk in People With HIV Infection. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9(3):e014873. Epub 20200124. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014873. PubMed PMID: 31973607; PMCID: PMC7033865.
- Zhang Z, Reece MD, Roa S, Tyor W, Franklin DR, Letendre SL, Marconi VC, Anderson AM, Gavegnano C. The identification of intact HIV proviral DNA from human cerebrospinal fluid. Neurotherapeutics. 2024:e00373. Epub 20240514. doi: 10.1016/j.neurot.2024.e00373. PubMed PMID: 38749843.
- Hudson JA, Ferrand RA, Gitau SN, Mureithi MW, Maffia P, Alam SR, Shah ASV. HIV-Associated Cardiovascular Disease Pathogenesis: An Emerging Understanding Through Imaging and Immunology. Circ Res. 2024;134(11):1546-65. Epub 20240523. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.124.323890. PubMed PMID: 38781300.
- Marconi VC, Moser C, Gavegnano C, Deeks SG, Lederman MM, Overton ET, Tsibris A, Hunt PW, Kantor A, Sekaly RP, Tressler R, Flexner C, Hurwitz SJ, Moisi D, Clagett B, Hardin WR, Del Rio C, Schinazi RF, Lennox JJ. Randomized Trial of Ruxolitinib in Antiretroviral-Treated Adults With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clin Infect Dis. 2022;74(1):95-104. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab212. PubMed PMID: 33693561; PMCID: PMC8752257.
- Gavegnano C, Brehm JH, Dupuy FP, Talla A, Ribeiro SP, Kulpa DA, Cameron C, Santos S, Hurwitz SJ, Marconi VC, Routy JP, Sabbagh L, Schinazi RF, Sekaly RP. Novel mechanisms to inhibit HIV reservoir seeding using Jak inhibitors. PLoS Pathog. 2017;13(12):e1006740. Epub 20171221. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006740. PubMed PMID: 29267399; PMCID: PMC5739511.
- 6. Grosso TM, Alcami J, Arribas JR, Martin M, Sereti I, Tarr P, Cahn P, Clotet B, Sued O, Negredo E. HIV and aging, biological mechanisms, and therapies: What do we know? AIDS Rev. 2022;25(2):79-86. doi: 10.24875/AIDSRev.21000085. PubMed PMID: 35901108.
- Gavegnano C, Haile WB, Hurwitz S, Tao S, Jiang Y, Schinazi RF, Tyor WR. Baricitinib reverses HIVassociated neurocognitive disorders in a SCID mouse model and reservoir seeding in vitro. J Neuroinflammation. 2019;16(1):182. Epub 20190927. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1565-6. PubMed PMID: 31561750; PMCID: PMC6764124.
- McArthur JC, Johnson TP. Chronic inflammation mediates brain injury in HIV infection: relevance for cure strategies. Curr Opin Neurol. 2020;33(3):397-404. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000000807. PubMed PMID: 32209807; PMCID: PMC7331798.
- Reece MD, Taylor RR, Song C, Gavegnano C. Targeting Macrophage Dysregulation for Viral Infections: Novel Targets for Immunomodulators. Front Immunol. 2021;12:768695. Epub 20211101. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.768695. PubMed PMID: 34790202; PMCID: PMC8591232.
- Joseph J, Daley W, Lawrence D, Lorenzo E, Perrin P, Rao VR, Tsai SY, Varthakavi V. Role of macrophages in HIV pathogenesis and cure: NIH perspectives. J Leukoc Biol. 2022;112(5):1233-43. Epub 20220908. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4MR0722-619R. PubMed PMID: 36073341.
- 11. Byrnes SJ, Busman-Sahay K, Angelovich TA, Younger S, Taylor-Brill S, Nekorchuk M, Bondoc S, Dannay R, Terry M, Cochrane CR, Jenkins TA, Roche M, Deleage C, Bosinger SE, Paiardini M, Brew BJ, Estes JD, Churchill MJ. Chronic immune activation and gut barrier dysfunction is associated with neuroinflammation in ART-suppressed SIV+ rhesus macaques. PLoS Pathog. 2023;19(3):e1011290. Epub 20230329. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1011290. PubMed PMID: 36989320; PMCID: PMC10085024.
- de Armas LR, Gavegnano C, Pallikkuth S, Rinaldi S, Pan L, Battivelli E, Verdin E, Younis RT, Pahwa R, Williams SL, Schinazi RF, Pahwa S. The Effect of JAK1/2 Inhibitors on HIV Reservoir Using Primary Lymphoid Cell Model of HIV Latency. Front Immunol. 2021;12:720697. Epub 20210831. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.720697. PubMed PMID: 34531866; PMCID: PMC8438319.
- Gold JA, Grill M, Peterson J, Pilcher C, Lee E, Hecht FM, Fuchs D, Yiannoutsos CT, Price RW, Robertson K, Spudich S. Longitudinal characterization of depression and mood states beginning in primary HIV infection. AIDS Behav. 2014;18(6):1124-32. doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0688-5. PubMed PMID: 24385231.

- Sun Y, Cai M, Liang Y, Zhang Y. Disruption of blood-brain barrier: effects of HIV Tat on brain microvascular endothelial cells and tight junction proteins. J Neurovirol. 2023;29(6):658-68. Epub 20231029. doi: 10.1007/s13365-023-01179-3. PubMed PMID: 37899420.
- 15. Rani A, Ergun S, Karnati S, Jha HC. Understanding the link between neurotropic viruses, BBB permeability, and MS pathogenesis. J Neurovirol. 2024;30(1):22-38. Epub 20240108. doi: 10.1007/s13365-023-01190-8. PubMed PMID: 38189894.
- 16. Xing Y, Shepherd N, Lan J, Li W, Rane S, Gupta SK, Zhang S, Dong J, Yu Q. MMPs/TIMPs imbalances in the peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid are associated with the pathogenesis of HIV-1-associated neurocognitive disorders. Brain Behav Immun. 2017;65:161-72. Epub 20170506. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.04.024. PubMed PMID: 28487203; PMCID: PMC5793222.
- Megra BW, Eugenin EA, Berman JW. Inflammatory mediators reduce surface PrP(c) on human BMVEC resulting in decreased barrier integrity. Lab Invest. 2018;98(10):1347-59. Epub 20180629. doi: 10.1038/s41374-018-0090-z. PubMed PMID: 29959417; PMCID: PMC6163073.
- Bellizzi MJ, Lu SM, Masliah E, Gelbard HA. Synaptic activity becomes excitotoxic in neurons exposed to elevated levels of platelet-activating factor. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(11):3185-92. doi: 10.1172/JCI25444. PubMed PMID: 16276420; PMCID: PMC1265873.
- Kong W, Frouard J, Xie G, Corley MJ, Helmy E, Zhang G, Schwarzer R, Montano M, Sohn P, Roan NR, Ndhlovu LC, Gan L, Greene WC. Neuroinflammation generated by HIV-infected microglia promotes dysfunction and death of neurons in human brain organoids. PNAS Nexus. 2024;3(5):pgae179. Epub 20240429. doi: 10.1093/pnasnexus/pgae179. PubMed PMID: 38737767; PMCID: PMC11086946.
- Centonze D, Muzio L, Rossi S, Cavasinni F, De Chiara V, Bergami A, Musella A, D'Amelio M, Cavallucci V, Martorana A, Bergamaschi A, Cencioni MT, Diamantini A, Butti E, Comi G, Bernardi G, Cecconi F, Battistini L, Furlan R, Martino G. Inflammation triggers synaptic alteration and degeneration in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci. 2009;29(11):3442-52. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5804-08.2009. PubMed PMID: 19295150; PMCID: PMC6665268.
- Centonze D, Muzio L, Rossi S, Furlan R, Bernardi G, Martino G. The link between inflammation, synaptic transmission and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. Cell Death Differ. 2010;17(7):1083-91. Epub 20091120. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2009.179. PubMed PMID: 19927157.
- 22. Saez-Cirion AM, AC. Avettand-Fenoel, V. Thoueille, P. Nabergoj, M. Hentzien, M. Mereles Costa, E. Salgado, M. Nijhuis, M. Melard, A. Gardiennet, E. Monceaux, V. Passaes, C. Chapel, A. Perdomo-Celis, F. Wensing, A. Martinez-Picado, J. Yerly, S. Rougemont, M. Calmy, A. ICISTEM study group, editor. Absence of viral rebound for 18 months without antiretrovirals after allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation with wild-type CCR5 donor cells to treat a biphenotypic sarcoma. IAS Conference on HIV Science; July 23-26 2023; Brisbane, Australia.
- 23. Gupta RK, Peppa D, Hill AL, Galvez C, Salgado M, Pace M, McCoy LE, Griffith SA, Thornhill J, Alrubayyi A, Huyveneers LEP, Nastouli E, Grant P, Edwards SG, Innes AJ, Frater J, Nijhuis M, Wensing AMJ, Martinez-Picado J, Olavarria E. Evidence for HIV-1 cure after CCR5Delta32/Delta32 allogeneic haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation 30 months post analytical treatment interruption: a case report. Lancet HIV. 2020;7(5):e340-e7. Epub 20200310. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(20)30069-2. PubMed PMID: 32169158; PMCID: PMC7606918.
- 24. Jensen BO, Knops E, Cords L, Lubke N, Salgado M, Busman-Sahay K, Estes JD, Huyveneers LEP, Perdomo-Celis F, Wittner M, Galvez C, Mummert C, Passaes C, Eberhard JM, Munk C, Hauber I, Hauber J, Heger E, De Clercq J, Vandekerckhove L, Bergmann S, Dunay GA, Klein F, Haussinger D, Fischer JC, Nachtkamp K, Timm J, Kaiser R, Harrer T, Luedde T, Nijhuis M, Saez-Cirion A, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Wensing AMJ, Martinez-Picado J, Kobbe G. In-depth virological and immunological characterization of HIV-1 cure after CCR5Delta32/Delta32 allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Nat Med. 2023;29(3):583-7. Epub 20230220. doi: 10.1038/s41591-023-02213-x. PubMed PMID: 36807684; PMCID: PMC10033413.
- 25. Hutter G, Nowak D, Mossner M, Ganepola S, Mussig A, Allers K, Schneider T, Hofmann J, Kucherer C, Blau O, Blau IW, Hofmann WK, Thiel E. Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stem-cell

transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(7):692-8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0802905. PubMed PMID: 19213682.

- 26. Hsu JVB, K. Glesby, MJ. Coletti, A. Pahwa, SG. Warshaw, M. Golner, A. Bone, F. Tobin, N. Riches, M. Mellors, JW. Browning, R. Persaud, D. Bryson, Y., editor. HIV-1 remission with CCR5delta32delta32 haplo-cord transplant in a US woman: IMPAACT P1107. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; February 12-16 2022; Virtual.
- 27. Dickter JW, S. Cardoso, A. Li, S. Gendzekhadze, K. Feng, Y. Dadwal, S. Taplitz, R. Ross, J. Aribi, A. Stan, R. Kidambi, T. Lai, L. Chang, S. Chaillon, S. Chaillon, A. Al Malki, M. Alvarnas, J. Forman, S. Zaia, J., editor. The "City of Hope" Patient: prolonged HIV-1 remission without antiretrovirals (ART) after allogenic hematopoeitic stem cell transplantation (aHCT) of CCR5-delta32/delta32 donor cells for acute myelogenous leukemia (AML). International AIDS Conference; July 29 August 2 2022; Montreal, Canada.
- 28. Chen B. Molecular Mechanism of HIV-1 Entry. Trends Microbiol. 2019;27(10):878-91. Epub 20190628. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2019.06.002. PubMed PMID: 31262533; PMCID: PMC6744290.
- Shaik MM, Peng H, Lu J, Rits-Volloch S, Xu C, Liao M, Chen B. Structural basis of coreceptor recognition by HIV-1 envelope spike. Nature. 2019;565(7739):318-23. Epub 20181212. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0804-9. PubMed PMID: 30542158; PMCID: PMC6391877.
- Henrich TJ, Hanhauser E, Marty FM, Sirignano MN, Keating S, Lee TH, Robles YP, Davis BT, Li JZ, Heisey A, Hill AL, Busch MP, Armand P, Soiffer RJ, Altfeld M, Kuritzkes DR. Antiretroviral-free HIV-1 remission and viral rebound after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: report of 2 cases. Ann Intern Med. 2014;161(5):319-27. doi: 10.7326/M14-1027. PubMed PMID: 25047577; PMCID: PMC4236912.
- 31. Hurwitz SJ, Tao S, Gavegnano C, Jiang Y, Tressler RL, Tsibris A, Del Rio C, Overton ET, Lederman MM, Kantor A, Moser C, Kohler JJ, Lennox J, Marconi VC, Flexner CW, Schinazi RF. Pharmacokinetics of Ruxolitinib in HIV Suppressed Individuals on Antiretroviral Agent Therapy from the ACTG A5336 Study. J Clin Pharmacol. 2021;61(12):1555-66. Epub 20210723. doi: 10.1002/jcph.1930. PubMed PMID: 34169526; PMCID: PMC8599628.
- Reese MJ, Bowers GD, Humphreys JE, Gould EP, Ford SL, Webster LO, Polli JW. Drug interaction profile of the HIV integrase inhibitor cabotegravir: assessment from in vitro studies and a clinical investigation with midazolam. Xenobiotica. 2016;46(5):445-56. Epub 20150904. doi: 10.3109/00498254.2015.1081993. PubMed PMID: 26340566.
- 33. Zhou S, Yung Chan S, Cher Goh B, Chan E, Duan W, Huang M, McLeod HL. Mechanism-based inhibition of cytochrome P450 3A4 by therapeutic drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2005;44(3):279-304. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200544030-00005. PubMed PMID: 15762770.
- 34. Szaniawski MA, Spivak AM. Senotherapeutics for HIV and aging. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2020;15(2):83-93. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000609. PubMed PMID: 31833962; PMCID: PMC7325840.
- 35. Wang Y, Huang B, Liang T, Jiang L, Wu M, Liu X, Zhu M, Song X, Zhao N, Wei H, Zheng C, Ni F. Venetoclax acts as an immunometabolic modulator to potentiate adoptive NK cell immunotherapy against leukemia. Cell Rep Med. 2024:101580. Epub 20240516. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2024.101580. PubMed PMID: 38776913.
- 36. Kater AP, Arslan O, Demirkan F, Herishanu Y, Ferhanoglu B, Diaz MG, Leber B, Montillo M, Panayiotidis P, Rossi D, Skarbnik A, Tempescul A, Turgut M, Mellink CH, van der Kevie-Kersemaekers AF, Lanham S, Sale B, Del Rio L, Popovic R, Chyla BJ, Busman T, Komlosi V, Wang X, Sail K, Pena GE, Vizkelety T, Forconi F. Activity of venetoclax in patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: analysis of the VENICE-1 multicentre, open-label, single-arm, phase 3b trial. Lancet Oncol. 2024;25(4):463-73. Epub 20240308. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(24)00070-6. PubMed PMID: 38467131.
- Griffioen MS, de Leeuw DC, Janssen J, Smit L. Targeting Acute Myeloid Leukemia with Venetoclax; Biomarkers for Sensitivity and Rationale for Venetoclax-Based Combination Therapies. Cancers (Basel). 2022;14(14). Epub 20220715. doi: 10.3390/cancers14143456. PubMed PMID: 35884517; PMCID: PMC9318140.
- 38. Teh CE, Peng H, Luo MX, Tan T, Trussart M, Howson LJ, Chua CC, Muttiah C, Brown F, Ritchie ME, Wei AH, Roberts AW, Bryant VL, Anderson MA, Lindeman GJ, Huang DCS, Thijssen R, Gray DHD.

Venetoclax treatment in patients with cancer has limited impact on circulating T and NK cells. Blood Adv. 2023;7(12):2733-45. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2022008221. PubMed PMID: 36521105; PMCID: PMC10275705.

- Montano M, Oursler KK, Xu K, Sun YV, Marconi VC. Biological ageing with HIV infection: evaluating the geroscience hypothesis. Lancet Healthy Longev. 2022;3(3):e194-e205. Epub 20220223. doi: 10.1016/s2666-7568(21)00278-6. PubMed PMID: 36092375; PMCID: PMC9454292.
- 40. Malayaperumal S, Marotta F, Kumar MM, Somasundaram I, Ayala A, Pinto MM, Banerjee A, Pathak S. The Emerging Role of Senotherapy in Cancer: A Comprehensive Review. Clin Pract. 2023;13(4):838-52. Epub 20230722. doi: 10.3390/clinpract13040076. PubMed PMID: 37489425; PMCID: PMC10366900.
- 41. Lelarge V, Capelle R, Oger F, Mathieu T, Le Calve B. Senolytics: from pharmacological inhibitors to immunotherapies, a promising future for patients' treatment. NPJ Aging. 2024;10(1):12. Epub 20240206. doi: 10.1038/s41514-024-00138-4. PubMed PMID: 38321020; PMCID: PMC10847408.
- 42. Degli Antoni M, Maifredi G, Storti S, Tiecco G, Di Gregorio M, Rossi B, Gasparotti C, Foca E, Castelli F, Quiros-Roldan E. Long-term symptoms after SARS-CoV-2 infection in a cohort of people living with HIV. Infection. 2024. Epub 20240503. doi: 10.1007/s15010-024-02288-9. PubMed PMID: 38700658.
- 43. Horberg MJ, CR. Watson, ES. Fathi, LF. Kim, SS. Gebo, KA. Hogan, B. Humes, E. Althoff, KN., editor. Effects of HIV status on incidence of post-COVID conditions in patients with SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19). Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; March 3-6 2024; Denver, Colorado.
- 44. Di Gennaro F, Vergori A, Bavaro DF. HIV and Co-Infections: Updates and Insights. Viruses. 2023;15(5). Epub 20230429. doi: 10.3390/v15051097. PubMed PMID: 37243183; PMCID: PMC10222884.
- Chang CC, Crane M, Zhou J, Mina M, Post JJ, Cameron BA, Lloyd AR, Jaworowski A, French MA, Lewin SR. HIV and co-infections. Immunol Rev. 2013;254(1):114-42. doi: 10.1111/imr.12063. PubMed PMID: 23772618; PMCID: PMC3697435.
- 46. Fellner MD, Durand K, Correa RM, Redini L, Yampolsky C, Colobraro A, Sevlever G, Teyssie AR, Benetucci J, Picconi MA. Circulating Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) in HIV-infected patients and its relation with primary brain lymphoma. Int J Infect Dis. 2007;11(2):172-8. Epub 20060823. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2006.04.001. PubMed PMID: 16931088.
- 47. Bowen EF. Cytomegalovirus reactivation in patients infected with HIV: the use of polymerase chain reaction in prediction and management. Drugs. 1999;57(5):735-41. doi: 10.2165/00003495-199957050-00006. PubMed PMID: 10353298.
- Hastie E, Moser C, Sun X, Lennox J, Hsue PY, Bosch RJ, Deeks S, Meneses MV, Lederman MM, Hunt P, Henrich TJ, Marconi VC, Gianella S. Effect of Immune-Modulatory Interventions on Asymptomatic Cytomegalovirus Shedding During Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. J Infect Dis. 2023;228(1):64-9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiad060. PubMed PMID: 36881933; PMCID: PMC10490531.
- Kalinichenko S, Komkov D, Mazurov D. HIV-1 and HTLV-1 Transmission Modes: Mechanisms and Importance for Virus Spread. Viruses. 2022;14(1). Epub 20220114. doi: 10.3390/v14010152. PubMed PMID: 35062355; PMCID: PMC8779814.
- Mercader M, Taddeo B, Panella JR, Chandran B, Nickoloff BJ, Foreman KE. Induction of HHV-8 lytic cycle replication by inflammatory cytokines produced by HIV-1-infected T cells. Am J Pathol. 2000;156(6):1961-71. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65069-9. PubMed PMID: 10854219; PMCID: PMC1850066.
- Rohner E, Wyss N, Heg Z, Faralli Z, Mbulaiteye SM, Novak U, Zwahlen M, Egger M, Bohlius J. HIV and human herpesvirus 8 co-infection across the globe: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2016;138(1):45-54. Epub 20150728. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29687. PubMed PMID: 26175054; PMCID: PMC4607648.
- 52. Georgescu SR, Mitran CI, Mitran MI, Caruntu C, Sarbu MI, Matei C, Nicolae I, Tocut SM, Popa MI, Tampa M. New Insights in the Pathogenesis of HPV Infection and the Associated Carcinogenic Processes: The Role of Chronic Inflammation and Oxidative Stress. J Immunol Res. 2018;2018:5315816. Epub 20180827. doi: 10.1155/2018/5315816. PubMed PMID: 30225270; PMCID: PMC6129847.
- 53. Theiler RN, Farr SL, Karon JM, Paramsothy P, Viscidi R, Duerr A, Cu-Uvin S, Sobel J, Shah K, Klein RS, Jamieson DJ. High-risk human papillomavirus reactivation in human immunodeficiency virus-infected

women: risk factors for cervical viral shedding. Obstet Gynecol. 2010;115(6):1150-8. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181e00927. PubMed PMID: 20502284.

- 54. Popa GL, Popa MI. Recent Advances in Understanding the Inflammatory Response in Malaria: A Review of the Dual Role of Cytokines. J Immunol Res. 2021;2021:7785180. Epub 20211108. doi: 10.1155/2021/7785180. PubMed PMID: 34790829; PMCID: PMC8592744.
- 55. Sasindran SJ, Torrelles JB. Mycobacterium Tuberculosis Infection and Inflammation: what is Beneficial for the Host and for the Bacterium? Front Microbiol. 2011;2:2. Epub 20110126. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00002. PubMed PMID: 21687401; PMCID: PMC3109289.
- 56. Tiwari D, Mittal N, Jha HC. Unraveling the links between neurodegeneration and Epstein-Barr virusmediated cell cycle dysregulation. Curr Res Neurobiol. 2022;3:100046. Epub 20220630. doi: 10.1016/j.crneur.2022.100046. PubMed PMID: 36685766; PMCID: PMC9846474.
- 57. Bonda DJ, Evans TA, Santocanale C, Llosa JC, Vina J, Bajic V, Castellani RJ, Siedlak SL, Perry G, Smith MA, Lee HG. Evidence for the progression through S-phase in the ectopic cell cycle re-entry of neurons in Alzheimer disease. Aging (Albany NY). 2009;1(4):382-8. doi: 10.18632/aging.100044. PubMed PMID: 19946466; PMCID: PMC2783633.
- 58. Zhu X, Lee HG, Perry G, Smith MA. Alzheimer disease, the two-hit hypothesis: an update. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1772(4):494-502. Epub 20061027. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2006.10.014. PubMed PMID: 17142016.
- 59. Effros RB. The silent war of CMV in aging and HIV infection. Mech Ageing Dev. 2016;158:46-52. Epub 20150925. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2015.09.003. PubMed PMID: 26404009; PMCID: PMC4808485.
- 60. Anders HJ, Goebel FD. Neurological manifestations of cytomegalovirus infection in the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Int J STD AIDS. 1999;10(3):151-9; quiz 60-1. doi: 10.1258/0956462991913817. PubMed PMID: 10340195.
- 61. Chen Y, Shi ZW, Strickland AB, Shi M. Cryptococcus neoformans Infection in the Central Nervous System: The Battle between Host and Pathogen. J Fungi (Basel). 2022;8(10). Epub 20221012. doi: 10.3390/jof8101069. PubMed PMID: 36294634; PMCID: PMC9605252.
- 62. Yang XL, Z. Zhang, J. Olatosi, B. Weissman, S. Li, X., editor. Long COVID between people with and without HIV: A statewide cohort analysis. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; March 3-6 2024; Denver, Colorado.
- 63. Greene C, Connolly R, Brennan D, Laffan A, O'Keeffe E, Zaporojan L, O'Callaghan J, Thomson B, Connolly E, Argue R, Meaney JFM, Martin-Loeches I, Long A, Cheallaigh CN, Conlon N, Doherty CP, Campbell M. Blood-brain barrier disruption and sustained systemic inflammation in individuals with long COVID-associated cognitive impairment. Nat Neurosci. 2024;27(3):421-32. Epub 20240222. doi: 10.1038/s41593-024-01576-9. PubMed PMID: 38388736; PMCID: PMC10917679.
- 64. Cummins NW, Sainski AM, Dai H, Natesampillai S, Pang YP, Bren GD, de Araujo Correia MCM, Sampath R, Rizza SA, O'Brien D, Yao JD, Kaufmann SH, Badley AD. Prime, Shock, and Kill: Priming CD4 T Cells from HIV Patients with a BCL-2 Antagonist before HIV Reactivation Reduces HIV Reservoir Size. J Virol. 2016;90(8):4032-48. Epub 20160328. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03179-15. PubMed PMID: 26842479; PMCID: PMC4810548.
- 65. Cummins NW, Sainski-Nguyen AM, Natesampillai S, Aboulnasr F, Kaufmann S, Badley AD. Maintenance of the HIV Reservoir Is Antagonized by Selective BCL2 Inhibition. J Virol. 2017;91(11). Epub 20170512. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00012-17. PubMed PMID: 28331083; PMCID: PMC5432861.
- 66. Ren Y, Huang SH, Patel S, Alberto WDC, Magat D, Ahimovic D, Macedo AB, Durga R, Chan D, Zale E, Mota TM, Truong R, Rohwetter T, McCann CD, Kovacs CM, Benko E, Wimpelberg A, Cannon C, Hardy WD, Bosque A, Bollard CM, Jones RB. BCL-2 antagonism sensitizes cytotoxic T cell-resistant HIV reservoirs to elimination ex vivo. J Clin Invest. 2020;130(5):2542-59. doi: 10.1172/JCI132374. PubMed PMID: 32027622; PMCID: PMC7191002.
- 67. Chandrasekar AP, Cummins NW, Natesampillai S, Misra A, Alto A, Laird G, Badley AD. The BCL-2 Inhibitor Venetoclax Augments Immune Effector Function Mediated by Fas Ligand, TRAIL, and Perforin/Granzyme B, Resulting in Reduced Plasma Viremia and Decreased HIV Reservoir Size during

Acute HIV Infection in a Humanized Mouse Model. J Virol. 2022;96(24):e0173022. Epub 20221130. doi: 10.1128/jvi.01730-22. PubMed PMID: 36448802; PMCID: PMC9769373.

- 68. Arandjelovic P, Kim Y, Cooney JP, Preston SP, Doerflinger M, McMahon JH, Garner SE, Zerbato JM, Roche M, Tumpach C, Ong J, Sheerin D, Smyth GK, Anderson JL, Allison CC, Lewin SR, Pellegrini M. Venetoclax, alone and in combination with the BH3 mimetic S63845, depletes HIV-1 latently infected cells and delays rebound in humanized mice. Cell Rep Med. 2023;4(9):101178. Epub 20230830. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2023.101178. PubMed PMID: 37652018; PMCID: PMC10518630.
- 69. Gramatica AD, A. Kahn, F. Miller, I. Weiler, J. Copertino, D. Ward, A. Mota, T. Leyre, L. Chukwukere, U. Jones, B., editor. The EZH2 inhibitor Tazemetostat increases MHC-I antigen presentation *in vitro* and *in vivo*, enhancing antiviral activities of HIV-specific CTLs. International Conference on HIV Science; July 23-26 2023; Brisbane, Australia.
- 70. Kadiyala GT, S. Wedrychowski, A. Janssens, J. Kim, SJ. Kim, P. Deeks, S. Wong, J. Yukl, S., editor. Differential susceptibility of cells infected with defective and intact proviruses to HIV-selective cell killing by small molecule therapies. International Conference on HIV; July 23-26 2023; Brisbane, Australia.
- Tanaka Y. A review of Janus kinase inhibitors for the treatment of Covid-19 pneumonia. Inflamm Regen. 2023;43(1):3. Epub 20230109. doi: 10.1186/s41232-022-00253-3. PubMed PMID: 36617565; PMCID: PMC9826760.

Appendices

# Appendix I: *Ex Vivo* Differentiation of Resting CD4+ T Lymphocytes Enhances Detection of Replication Competent HIV-1 in Viral Outgrowth Assays

Elizabeth R. Wonderlich<sup>1</sup>, Monica D. Reece<sup>2</sup>, Deanna A. Kulpa<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Southern Research, Frederick, MD, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, and Yerkes National Primate Research Center, Atlanta, GA, USA

<sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, and Yerkes National Primate Research Center, Atlanta, GA, USA deanna.kulpa@emory.edu

### Abstract

Quantifying the number of cells harboring inducible and replication competent HIV-1 provirus is critical to evaluating HIV-1 cure interventions, but precise quantification of the latent reservoir has proven to be technically challenging. Existing protocols to quantify the frequency of replication-competent HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells from long-term ART treated individuals have helped to investigate the dynamics of reservoir stability, however these approaches have significant barriers to the induction of HIV-1 expression required to effectively evaluate the intact reservoir. Differentiation of CD4+ T cells to an effector memory phenotype is a successful strategy for promoting latency reversal in vitro, and significantly enhances the performance and sensitivity of viral outgrowth assays.

Published in Methods in Molecular Biology Humana, New York, NY, USA Vol 2407 | Pages 315-331 First Online: January 5, 2022 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-0716-1871-4\_21

# Appendix II: A Rationale and Approach to the Development of Specific Treatments for HIV Associated Neurocognitive Impairment

Aaron Scanlan<sup>1,2</sup>, Zhan Zhang<sup>1,2</sup>, Rajeth Koneru<sup>1</sup>, <u>Monica Reece</u><sup>3,4</sup>, Christina Gavegnano<sup>3,4</sup>, Albert M. Anderson<sup>5</sup>, William Tyor<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Atlanta Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Decatur, GA 30033, USA

<sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

<sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology, Division of Experimental Pathology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

<sup>4</sup> Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

<sup>5</sup> Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

#### Abstract

Neurocognitive impairment (NCI) associated with HIV infection of the brain impacts a large proportion of people with HIV (PWH) regardless of antiretroviral therapy (ART). While the number of PWH and severe NCI has dropped considerably with the introduction of ART, the sole use of ART is not sufficient to prevent or arrest NCI in many PWH. As the HIV field continues to investigate cure strategies, adjunctive therapies are greatly needed. HIV imaging, cerebrospinal fluid, and pathological studies point to the presence of continual inflammation, and the presence of HIV RNA, DNA, and proteins in the brain despite ART. Clinical trials exploring potential adjunctive therapeutics for the treatment of HIV NCI over the last few decades have had limited success. Ideally, future research and development of novel compounds need to address both the HIV replication and neuroinflammation associated with HIV infection in the brain. Brain mononuclear phagocytes (MPs) are the primary instigators of inflammation and HIV protein expression; therefore, adjunctive treatments that act on MPs, such as immunomodulating agents, look promising. In this review, we will highlight recent developments of innovative therapies and discuss future approaches for HIV NCI treatment.

Published in Microorganisms Vol 10 | Issue 11 Published: November 12, 2022 DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms10112244

# Appendix III: Honokiol Hexafluoro Confers Reversal of Neuropathological Markers of HIV Infection in a Murine SCID Model

Zhan Zhang<sup>1-3</sup>, Aaron Scanlan<sup>1,2</sup>, Rajeth Koneru<sup>1,2</sup>, Chelsea Richardson Morrell<sup>1,2</sup>, <u>Monica D. Reece</u><sup>3</sup>, Emily Edwards<sup>3</sup>, Sebastian Roa<sup>3</sup>, Christina Gavegnano<sup>3-6</sup>, Heather Bimonte-Nelson<sup>7</sup>, Jack Arbiser<sup>8,9</sup>, William Tyor<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

<sup>2</sup> Atlanta VA Medical Center, Decatur, GA, USA

<sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

<sup>4</sup> Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

<sup>5</sup> Center for the Study of Human Health, Emory College, Atlanta, GA, USA

6 Harvard Medical School, Center for Bioethics, Boston, MA, USA

<sup>7</sup> Department of Psychology, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA

<sup>8</sup> Department of Dermatology, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

<sup>9</sup> Metroderm/United Derm Partners, Atlanta, GA, USA

#### Abstract

Cognitive impairment remains a persistent challenge in people living with HIV (PWLH) despite antiretroviral therapy (ART) due to ART's inability to eliminate brain HIV. HIV-induced cognitive dysfunction results from immune dysregulation, ongoing neuroinflammation, and the continuous virus presence, collectively contributing to cognitive deficits. Therefore, adjunctive therapies are needed to reduce cerebral HIV reservoirs, mitigate neuroinflammation, and impede cognitive dysfunction progression. Our study focused on Honokiol, known for its anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties, in an experimental mouse model simulating HIV-induced cognitive dysfunction. Using Honokiol Hexafluoro (HH), a synthetic analogue, we comprehensively evaluated its potential to ameliorate cognitive dysfunction and cerebral pathology in HIV-associated cognitive dysfunction. Our findings showed that HH treatment effectively reversed HIV-induced cognitive dysfunction, concurrently suppressing astrocyte activation, restoring neuronal dendritic arborization, and reducing microglial activation. Furthermore, HH remodeled the metabolic profile of HIV-infected human monocyte-derived macrophages, resulting in decreased activation and the promotion of a quiescent state *in vitro*.

Published in Neurotherapeutics Vol 21 | Issue 2 Published: February 22, 2024 DOI: 10.1016/j.neurot.2024.e00329